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INTRODUCTION
Macroeconomic background

The main phenomenon during 2010 was, without doubt, the turmoil over the sovereign debts of the
weakest economies in the European Union. The first wave came in late Spring, after the real level of
Greece's public deficit had been revealed. Then, at the end of November, there was a second shock
as a result of the Irish government's decision to step in to assist the national banking system,
overburdened by large amounts of debts of doubtful quality.
However, under the circumstances the intervention of the European Union, culminating in the setting
up of, inter alia, the European Financial Stability Facility (EFSF) with funds of €440bn, turned out to
be muddled and not very timely, partly as a result of disagreements between the partners. This
affected the credibility of the single currency and led to its sharp depreciation. In fact for the whole of
2010 the currencies of the principal emerging economies showed signs of recovery and the dollar
fell, partly as a result of the unconventional monetary policy implemented by the FED.

In the meantime the recession that had been feared did not materialise. The global economy reacted
well and international trade began to increase at rates exceeding 10%. It is thought that global gross
domestic product may have been close to 5% in 2010.
The most sizeable contribution to growth was made by the emerging economies. In the January
update of its World Economic Outlook the International Monetary Fund estimated that China's GDP
may have risen by 10.3%. The United States’ economy performed less well (+2.8%) whilst Japan
would seem to show a robust upturn (+3.9%). The Eurozone as a whole is reckoned to have grown by
1.8%, led by Germany, which grew 3.6% thanks to demand from the Emerging Countries. Italy was
near the bottom of the list with its increase in GDP a modest 1.3%.

The central banks of the countries with advanced economies kept interest rates at an all-time low.
However a difference of opinions emerged between the ECB, which since the beginning of the
Summer had begun to drain liquidity, and the FED, which, on the other hand, launched a massive
new quantitative easing initiative ($600bn) just in the last few months of 2010. According to various
observers the liquidity thus generated by the central US bank was largely responsible for the influx of
capital into the Emerging Countries and for the increase in prices of raw materials and commodities.
In 2010 the price of oil was almost back down to a hundred dollars per barrel. Eurostat announced
that average inflation in the European Union rose to 2.2% in December 2010 and was likely to rise
still further in 2011.

The tensions over the public debt of the weakest countries in the Eurozone persuaded the Italian
Government to keep a firm hand on the tiller of the public accounts. Istat estimated the budget
deficit to be 4.6% of GDP in 2010. In these circumstances Italian public borrowing was reckoned to
be 119% of GDP.
Employment remained one of the most critical variables of the moment. Istat announced that the
number of people in work in December 2010 was unchanged compared with twelve months earlier,
whilst the youth unemployment rate was almost 29%. The INPS (Istituto Nazionale Previdenza
Sociale – National Institute for Social Welfare) authorised more than 1.2 billion hours to be paid out
of the cassa integrazione wages guarantee fund in 2010, though the amount actually used in the first
ten months was no more than half of the number of hours authorised.

A further reason for apprehension was the balance of trade. Istat calculated that Italian exports rose
by 15.7% in 2010 compared with the previous year whilst imports rocketed 22.6%. The result was a
trade deficit of €27.3bn compared with €5.9bn in the same period of 2009. Moreover this occurred
against a background in which domestic demand, especially consumer demand, remained largely
stagnant because of both the difficulties in the jobs market and the drop in individuals’ disposable
incomes.



Financial markets

The second half of 2010 closed with a generally positive balance on the international stock markets,
the main help for the growth of which was the acceleration in the global economy.

To be specific, the US economy grew almost 3% year on year, but the improvement in the economy in
general was not sufficient to persuade the Federal Reserve to modify its expansionary monetary
policy of keeping interest rates very low both in the short and in the medium to long term, the latter
objective being pursued by the acquisition on the secondary market of government bonds issued by
the US Treasury (quantitative easing). This situation enabled Standard & Poor’s 500 index to rise 22%
in the second half of 2010, which brought the balance for the year to growth of 12.8%.
The GDP of the emerging economies continued to grow much faster than that of the so-called
developed countries. This led to the Chinese central bank being very apprehensive about the possible
inflationary implications of excessive economic growth. Therefore at the end of 2010 the People’s Bank
of China further tightened the restrictive monetary policies introduced during the year, and this was the
main reason why the stock markets of the emerging markets, though positive, performed much worse
than the United States over the final quarter (+5% on the MSCI Emerging Markets index).

There was also a spurt in economic growth in the Eurozone as a whole, especially at the centre as
opposed to the edge, which continued to suffer from the crisis of the sovereign debts issued by the
countries in this area, including, in the fourth quarter, even Belgium and Italy. Therefore the yield
differentials between German government bonds and the corresponding securities issued by other
EMU countries continued to widen in the final quarter of 2010.
All of these factors meant that the performances of the stock markets in the Eurozone as a whole
remained some of the worst on the whole international scene, with the half-yearly increase of 8.53%
being nowhere near enough to return the balance at the beginning of the year (-5.81%) into the black.

The rise in share prices had a positive effect on the corporate bond market: the iTraxx index,
representing the average spread at which companies belonging to the financial sector that have a
high credit rating issue bonds, went from 128.74 basis points at the beginning of June to 105.03 by
the end of the year.

Individual savings

The financial wealth of individuals is reckoned to have remained the same as it was at the end of
2009, mainly because of the fall in the prices of public debt securities. However, new saving fell
during 2010 because of the drop in individuals’ disposable incomes, disposable income also being a
factor in the increase in the propensity to consume. Last year the indebtedness of Italian households
rose by more than two percentage points to 65% of disposable income. The reason for this can be
found in the upturn in the demand for mortgage loans.
The sovereign-debt crisis had a profound effect on savers’ behaviour, leading to a substantial
increase in the amount of their liquid assets, to 30.5% of the total. The situation meant that interest
once again focused on managed savings. On the demand side uncertainty and volatility in the
financial markets coupled with the search for higher yields induced individuals to consult
professional investment advisers, who were better able to grasp investment opportunities in such a
tumultuous situation. On the supply side the search for profitability meant that banks pointed their
customers towards instruments such as investment funds and Life policies in particular. As a result,
at the end of 2010 the amount of total financial wealth accounted for by unit trusts increased by 0.2%
to 5.4% whilst technical insurance provisions amounted to 18.6%, an increase on 2009 of almost one
percentage point. The latest Banca d’Italia figures for the net income of managed funds showed that
it was positive to the tune of more than €3.7bn for the period January – September 2010, even
though there was an outflow of funds of approximately €3.5bn in the third quarter.
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Insurance business

The period that started with the sovereign-debt crisis contained further problems for insurers. 
The increase in the perception of risk linked to the public securities of the weakest economies in the
Eurozone led to a fall in their value, which was reflected in companies’ securities portfolios,
traditionally well stocked with these financial instruments.
The effects of the recession on sales growth were such that insurance companies were faced with a
reduction in insurable volumes and therefore with stagnant premiums. In core business there was
an increase in the number of claims, some associated with customer fraud.

Against this difficult background insurers did their utmost to rebalance the income statement of the
principal Non-Life class, MV Third-Party Liability, not only by introducing more selective
underwriting policies but also by simultaneously adjusting tariffs, after years in which competition
had pushed the average premium for this type of business down. The first indications are that this
class grew by more than 4% compared with 2009. The situation with Land vehicles – Own damage or
loss was different. The disappointing trend in the motor-vehicle market in 2010 (-9.5% compared
with 2009) affected income in this class, as did the sale of cut-price cover by car dealers. Land
vehicles – Own damage or loss is likely to record a fall in premiums of around 1.2%, similar to the
performance for the third quarter (-3.9%).

The corporate segment of Non-Life non-MV insurance business is largely dependent on the state of
the economy. The modest progress made during 2010 was only partially reflected in insurers’
turnover. In individual business, given the insecurity linked to the jobs situation and the drop in
individuals’ disposable incomes, Italians’ already low propensity to take out insurance made it
difficult to expand the insurance base. At the same time businesses with commitments on other
fronts restricted the amount of resources allocated to financing supplementary health funds. The
phenomena described above crystallised into the underinsurance situation typical of Italy.

The situation with Life income was very different: it performed even better in 2010 than during the
exceptional year of 2009 owing to savers looking for investments that were low risk but produced
higher yields than government bonds. However, the uncertainty in the financial markets, the
problems involved in offering guaranteed yields on a lot of traditional Life products and the imminent
coming into force of Solvency II led to more prudent underwriting policies. In fact as from August
new individual Life policy business began to fall off systematically compared with the same months
of the previous year as a result of the gradual disengagement of the sales networks. Despite the
slowdown in the second half of the year it is reckoned that total premiums will have grown by more
than 11% year on year, excluding cross-border activity. Leading this growth are Class III products
(+58.3% according to ANIA’s preliminary figures), in particular unit-linked policies. Premiums from
Class I products rose by 4.8%, more than making up for a fall in the second half of the year, partly
owing to prudent underwriting policies, which took account of the commitment required to maintain
guaranteed yields against a background of rising interest rates. Direct flows into Class VI (+9%)
indicate that growth was below the average for Life business. From what can be deduced from the
performance of new business, 2010 saw an upturn in the traditional channels and good service by
the Bank branches and post office, whilst financial advisers had already begun to restrict the types of
product they sold and thus performed worse, including year on year.

Banking and assets under management

In the Summer of 2010 stress tests were carried out on the main European banks. The excellent
results of these tests were hardly confirmed a few months later when the Irish government had to
intervene, for the umpteenth time, to shore up the national lending system, which was weighed down
by a significant volume of impaired loans. According to a study carried out by the Boston Consulting
Group the European banks needed to increase their capital by a total of approximately €275bn in
order to comply with the capital requirements of the new Basel 3 legislation.
In the January issue of its Economic Bulletin the Banca d’Italia indicated that in August the increase
in bank lending to the non-financial private sector had risen slightly over the previous twelve months,
to 1.8%. It continued to be a good time to lend to individuals for house purchase, whilst the rate of



increase in lending to non-financial companies remained positive, though only just. This was
because of the level of industrial output. A glimpse at the behaviour of banks according to size
reveals that the reduction in lending by the five leading Italian groups was more than offset by the
increase in lending by the smaller banks.

The cost of fixed-rate loans was largely stable (4.4%), whilst the cost of floating-rate loans was
slightly up at approximately 2.4%. Rates on short-term lending to businesses were down (3.5% in
August, two tenths of a point less than in May). In the second quarter of 2010 the flow of new
adjusted defaults as a proportion of loans (1.7%), though down compared with the first quarter (2%),
continued to be high in comparison with the average figure for the two-year period 2007-2008 (1.1%).
Banca d’Italia also revealed that banks’ exposure to debtors in default for the first time rose in the
two months July-August compared with the same period of 2009. The deterioration in the quality of
loans applied to all types of client: finance companies, individuals and businesses in the service
sector. In the case of lending to non-financial undertakings, other types of deteriorated loan
(substandard, restructured and lapsed loans or those over the limit) also occurred widely (7.8% of
loans granted in August), which suggests that doubtful bank lending may continue to increase in the
subsequent months. In August Italian banks’ total premiums were substantially the same as twelve
months earlier (+0.1%). In contrast to the fall in bond issues (-1%) the increase in deposits made by
residents of Italy merely slowed down (2.1%). In particular, though still sustained by the low level of
rates on alternative assets, growth in current accounts was significantly down, from 7.7% in May to
4.7% in August. Following the trend in market rates, yields on banking bonds rose between May and
August by approximately half a percentage point, to 2.9% and 2.3% for fixed-rate and floating-rate
issues respectively. The consolidated reports of the five leading Italian banking groups reveal that
profitability was down again in the first six months of 2010. The return on capital and reserves (ROE)
dropped to 4% year on year, approximately one percentage point down on the previous year. The ABI
(Italian Banking Association) estimates that the entire Italian banking segment suffered a 3.4% drop
in net interest income in 2010. The expected increase in other net revenues will not be enough to
offset this drop, with the result that, according to the ABI, gross operating income will have fallen
0.3% compared with 2009. The reduction in operating costs (-0.9%) will give rise to a slight increase
in the gross operating profit (+0.6%). The increase in adjustments to take account of the deterioration
of debts (+2.8%) will have little effect on net profit (-0.3%). The ROE for the Italian banking system as
a whole is expected to be 2.4%, the same as in 2009.

Pension funds market

The market for the various types of supplementary pension scheme – occupational funds, open-
ended funds and Individual Pension Plans – almost came to a standstill in 2010. The number of
members of all types of supplementary pension scheme grew by scarcely 270,000, a rise of 5.4%
since December 2009. More than 60% of this increase was ascribable to Individual Pension Plans. 
At the level of individual funds there was a slight drop in the number of members of occupational
funds during the year (-1.4%), mainly owing to the negative repercussions on jobs of the slowdown in
the economy, modest growth in the number of members of open-ended funds (+3.4%) and a
substantial increase in the number of members of Individual Pension Plans (+29.8%).
The various parties involved are now even more convinced that the number of members of
supplementary pension schemes will not rise unless there is new legislation or unless one of the
aspects on which the current system hinges, the fact that membership is voluntary, is changed to
make it compulsory, with only employers making contributions, albeit at a reduced level.
Despite this lull, the total assets of the supplementary pension schemes (including the preexisting
funds) recorded a significant increase. In fact assets under management reached approximately
€82bn at the end of 2010 (+12.3% compared with 2009), more than €22bn of it in occupational funds
(+19.2%), approximately €7.5bn in open-ended funds (+19.3%), more than €5bn in Individual Pension
Plans (+48%) and more than €40bn in pre-existing funds (+3.9%).
The weighted average yield of pension funds in 2010 was substantially in line with market
performance. In particular the yield of occupational pension funds was 3% whilst the weighted
average yield of open-ended pension funds was 4.2%.
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The guaranteed sectors of occupational pension funds performed less well than other classes, partly
because of the portfolios having less share exposure but mainly because of the tension over public
debt securities in the Eurozone.

Principal new legislation

In its ruling 17221 of 12 March 2010 CONSOB approved the Regulation covering provisions relating to
transactions with related parties. The Regulation, issued after a long period of consultation, enforces
three distinct duties contained in the Italian Civil Code (Article 2391-bis) and in the Consolidated
Finance Act (Articles 114 and 154-ter). 
This legislation lays down the procedure and degree of transparency to which Italian companies with
shares that are listed or freely available to the public must adhere when carrying out transactions
with related parties. On 23 June 2010 CONSOB issued Ruling 17389, which made some limited formal
amendments to the Regulation that postponed the deadlines for implementing the scheme: the
procedures for carrying out transactions with related parties had to be adopted by 1 December 2010 and
the transparency of operations deemed to be of major relevance had to be guaranteed as from the same
date. However, issuers had until 1 January 2011 to apply the procedures and to implement the scheme
for the transparency of transactions that exceed the relevance threshold only if taken all together.

Legislative Decree 78/2010, covering financial stabilisation and economic competitiveness (converted
from Law 122 of 30/7/2010, which came into force on 30/7/2010), amended Article 111 of Presidential
Decree 917/1986 (Corporation Tax Consolidation Act) to make insurance companies operating in Life
business liable to IRES.
In particular, under the new legislation the full amount of the variation in compulsory Life technical
provisions no longer forms part of taxable income. The part of the variation that is not taken into
consideration is the amount of revenue that is exempt or excluded from taxation, such as dividends
or gains on long-term investments as a percentage of total revenues. However, this percentage must
not exceed the maximum deductible amount, which is 98.5%, and must not be less than the
minimum, which is 95%. The Ministry of Finance may issue a Decree after 31 December 2013
revising the minimum and maximum amounts of the variation in compulsory Life technical
provisions that may be deducted.

Article 17-terdecies of the ‘Milleproroghe’ (the annual decree extending the life of various
government measures), approved by Law 10 of 26 February 2011 (Official Gazette 47 of 26/2/2011),
affects insurance business by amending Article 15 of Decree Law 185/2008 (the Anticrisis Decree) to
introduce, inter alia, a temporary optional exception to the rules on the prudent supervision of
insurance groups that allows any capital losses accumulated on bonds issued or guaranteed by EU
States intended to remain in the undertaking’s equity in the long term to be ignored for solvency
purposes (para. 15-bis). The businesses that make use of this facility must ensure that the Group
continues to have financial resources equal to the difference in value after application of para. 15-
bis.  ISVAP is required to regulate the procedures for applying it.
On 15 March 2011 ISVAP issued Regulation 37 relating to the implementation of the provisions for
calculating solvency introduced by Law 10/2011, which in brief provides for:
- a limit of 20% on the elements making up the solvency margin or, if lower, on the total of the

solvency margins that insurance undertakings are required to use when calculating solvency.  
The differences in value of the short-term portfolio resulting from application of Article 8 of ISVAP
Ruling 28 of 17 February 2009 also form part of this limit;

- the independent auditors engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements to check the
differences in value;

- the undertaking making use of the facility to monitor the difference in value;
- the executive body of the undertaking in question to ratify the use of the facility;
- the administrative bodies of all the Italian insurance companies in the Group that hold the

securities in question to be involved, so that in voting on the distribution of dividends they ensure
that resources at least equal to those used as the element making up the solvency margin remain
permanently within the company;

- the undertakings that make use of this facility to be obliged to publish the effects it has.
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UGF 
ASSICURAZIONI
Bologna

100% 32,26%

UGF 
MERCHANT
Bologna

86,18%

UNIPOL SGR
Bologna

100%

67,74%
UGF BANCA
Bologna

98,53%

LINEAR 
ASSICURAZIONI
Bologna

100%

BNL VITA
Milan

51%

NAVALE 
ASSICURAZIONI *
S. Donato Mil. (MI)

99,83%

NAVALE 
VITA **
Rome 100%

AMBRA 
PROPERTY
Bologna

100%

UNIPOL FONDI
Irlanda

100%

UGF LEASING
Bologna

100%

UGF PRIVATE 
EQUITY SGR 
Bologna

100%

NETTUNO 
FIDUCIARIA
Bologna

100%

UNICARD
Milan

53,39%

16,97%

39,78%

SMALLPART
Bologna

100%

UNIFIMM
Bologna

100%

MIDI
Bologna

100%

INSURANCE
COMPANIES

PROPERTY
AND OTHERS

FINANCIAL SERVICES 
AND BANKSHOLDING

ARCA VITA
Verona

60% (1)

ARCA 
ASSICURAZIONI
Verona

96,99%

ISI 
INSURANCE
Verona

50%

ARCA VITA 
INTERNATIONAL
Ireland

100%

ARCA DIRECT 
ASSICURAZIONI
Verona

100%

ARCA INLINEA
Verona

60,22%

ARCA SISTEMI
Verona

82,03%

UNISALUTE
Bologna

1%

(1) Including treasury shares in the portfolio held by Arca Vita Spa the percentage is 61.17%.

* The contribution of the insurance company Navale Assicurazioni Spa in favour of UGF Assicurazioni Spa and the merger following the contribution, 
into UGF Spa took effect for legal, accounting and tax purposes as from 1 January 2011.

** With effect from 1 January 2011 Navale Vita Spa changed its name to Linear Life Spa and moved its registered office from Rome to Bologna.

AT 31 DECEMBER 2010 

LINE-BY-LINE METHOD

CONSOLIDATION SCOPE 
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GROUP
HIGHLIGHTS 31/12/2010 31/12/2009

Non-Life direct insurance premiums 4,243 4,260
% variation -0.4 -2.2

Life direct insurance premiums 4,734 5,240
% variation -9.7 48.9

of which Life investment products 78 19
% variation 302.3 -3.4

Total direct insurance premiums 8,976 9,501
% variation -5.5 20.6

Banking business - direct customer deposits 9,298 9,540
% variation -2.5 9.3

Annual Premium Equivalent (APE) Life business - Group share 358 374
% variation -4.4 37.1

Loss ratio - Non-Life business - direct business 80% 86%
Expense ratio- Non-Life - direct business 22.1% 22%
Combined ratio - Non-Life - direct business 102.1% 108% 

Net gains on financial instruments
(excl. assets/liabilities at fair value) 1,138 147
% variation 676.2 -77.5

Consolidated profit/(loss) for the year 71 -769

Investment and cash and cash equivalents (1) 34,654 40,531
% variation -14.5 11.7

Technical provisions (1) 22,246 28,286
% variation -21.4 11.8

Financial liabilities (1) 12,653 12,1988
% variation 3.7 12.0

Equity attributable to the owners of the Parent 3,648 3,585
% variation 1.8 4.4

No. staff 7,529 7,157

Amounts in €m

(1) the variations compared with the
previous year are affected negatively
by the reclassification, under IFRS 5,
of the assets and liabilities of BNL
Vita, the subsidiary held for sale,
under items 6.1 of the consolidated
assets and 6.1 of the consolidated
liabilities respectively, and positively
by the consolidation of Arca Vita and
its subsidiaries (the ‘Arca Group’).
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ALTERNATIVE 
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
These indicators (APE, loss ratio, expense ratio and combined ratio) are not laid down in the
accounting standards but are calculated in accordance with economic and financial procedure.

Annual Premium Equivalent - APE

The new Life business expressed in APE is a measurement of the volume of business relating to new
policies and corresponds to the sum of periodic premiums of new business and one tenth of single
premiums. This type of indicator is used to assess business jointly with the Life in-force value and
the new business value of the Group.

dec-10 sep-10 jun-10 mar-10 dec-09

Recurring annual premiums (pro quota) 49 25 18 9 29
Single premiums (pro quota) 3,089 2,241 1,545 788 3,457

Total new business - Life (pro quota) 3,138 2,267 1,563 797 3,486 

pro quota APE 358 249 173 87 374

Loss ratio - Non-Life (direct business and gross of reinsurance)

This is the principal indicator of the profitability of an insurance company’s operations in the Non-
Life sector. It is the ratio between the cost of direct claims for the period and direct premiums for the
period.

dec-10 sep-10 jun-10 mar-10 dec-09

Direct premiums (gross of reinsurance) 4,257 3,150 2,071 1,014 4,294
Direct claims (gross of reinsurance) 3,407 2,563 1,687 841 3,703

Loss ratio 80% 81.4% 81.5% 83% 86%

Expense ratio - Non-Life (direct business and gross of reinsurance) 

Percentage indicator for the ratio between operating expenses (excluding commissions from indirect
insurance business) and direct premiums.

dec-10 sep-10 jun-10 mar-10 dec-09

Direct premiums (gross of reinsurance) 4,243 2,967 2,068 984 4,260
Direct operating expenses 
(gross of reinsurance) 937 651 456 216 935

Expense ratio 22.1% 21.9% 22% 22% 22%

APE

amounts in €m

LOSS RATIO

amounts in €m

EXPENSE RATIO

amounts in €m
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Combined ratio - Non-Life (direct business and gross of reinsurance)

This indicator measures the balance of the Non-Life technical account and is made up of the sum of
the loss ratio and the expense ratio.

dec-10 sep-10 jun-10 mar-10 dec-09

Loss ratio 80.0% 81.4% 81.5% 83.0% 86.0%
Expense ratio 22.1% 21.9% 22.0% 22.0% 22.0%

Combined ratio 102.1% 103.3% 103.5% 105% 108%

COMBINED RATIO 

amounts in €m
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MANAGEMENT REPORT
The financial year just ended was characterised by a lot of major innovations, already communicated
to the markets, described in the interim management reports and summarised below:
• the Group’s Business Plan for the three-year period 2010-2012 was drawn up and UGF’s new Chief

Executive Officer submitted it to the Board of Directors for approval on 13 May 2010. In defining the
Group’s mission as sustainable long-term growth accompanied by an appropriate level of
profitability achieved through an equal relationship with all stakeholders – shareholders,
customers, agents, employees and suppliers – the Business Plan specified profitability, reference
markets, operational efficiency and financial strength as the guidelines for how the Group had
been and would continue to be managed;

• on 22 June, having obtained the permits from the relevant Supervisory Authorities, the Parent
UGF, acquired control of Arca Vita and entered into a ten-year agreement with the vendors to
develop a strategic partnership covering Life and Non-Life bancassurance business.  The
operation establishes the new platform for the UGF Group's bancassurance business in view of the
expected departure from the Group of BNL Vita when the current partnership with BNP Paribas
expires in 2011;

• in July the Parent UGF increased its share capital by a total of €500m (€400m in shares and
€100m in 2010-2013 warrants) in order to maintain a firm equity structure and a high degree of
financial flexibility. Despite the unfavourable phase in the financial markets the operation
concluded with the market subscribing to all the ordinary and preference shares without the
underwriting syndicate needing to intervene. The success of the operation showed that
shareholders continued to have confidence in the Group’s prospects for growth;

• the process of integrating Navale Assicurazioni’s assets with those of UGF Assicurazioni was
recently concluded. ISVAP having authorised the Merger Project, the deeds under which Navale’s
insurance business was contributed to UGF Assicurazioni and Navale Assicurazioni was merged
into the holding company, UGF S.p.A., were signed on 21 December 2010. The contribution and
merger took effect for legal, accounting and tax purposes as from 1 January 2011. Therefore since
the beginning of 2011 Navale has been part of UGF Assicurazioni, becoming its third operating
Division after Unipol and Aurora, in line with the 2010-2012 Business Plan, one of the aims of
which was to consolidate the insurance business carried out through agencies into a single major
company, in the pursuit of the financial benefits of rationalising the range of products offered and
operating more efficiently.

In Group insurance business consolidated direct premiums fell to €8.976m in 2010 (-5.5% compared
with 2009).
In Non-Life business the very selective underwriting policy led to the expected decrease in the UGF
Assicurazioni and Navale Assicurazioni policy portfolios, with direct premiums falling to €4,243m (-
0.4% compared with 2009), €2,553m in MV classes (+1.1%) and €1,690m in non-MV classes (-2.6%).
On the same basis of consolidation, that is without taking into account the Arca Group’s contribution
of €107m, which was consolidated as from 1 July 2010, premiums amounted to €4,136m (-2.9%
compared with 2009).
However, as expected, Unisalute (€177m, +14.1%) and Linear (€171m, +6.6%), which specialise in
Health and direct MV insurance (telephone/Internet) respectively, continued to grow.
Analysis of the trend in the claims rate shows that during 2010 the Group’s Non-Life business felt the
positive effects of the various measures taken to counteract the erosion of the margin for this type of
business that had occurred in the previous few years when the climate in the sector had been very
negative. The improvement in MV business was also linked to the effects of the reform of the portfolio,
which had begun during 2009 and had a major impact in terms of both increased and restructured
premiums in the portfolio. Work on restructuring/derecognising badly performing contracts also
continued, particularly in the company vehicles segment. These measures led to a complete reversal of
the trend in claims reported which, on the same basis of consolidation, recorded a fall of 14% and a
significant decrease in frequency in the MV TPL class.
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In non-MV classes the combined benefits of the divestment of poorly performing contracts and of the
selective underwriting policy in some areas of business led to fewer claims than in the previous year for
weather damage and natural disasters and for individual claims for large amounts.
The Group recorded an overall loss ratio for direct business of 80% compared with 86% at the end of
2009, thus showing a net improvement. Despite lower premiums the expense ratio for direct business
remained at 22.1%, in line with the previous year (22%), thanks to the continuous attention paid to and
rationalisation of general costs. Therefore,  at the end of 2010,  the Group had a combined ratio (direct
business) of 102.1%, in line with the objectives of the three-year business plan, compared with 108% at
the end of 2009.

In Life business,  direct insurance premiums were €4,734m, down 9.7% on 2009. The drop was
mainly in bancassurance business, where BNL Vita’s income of €2,475m had fallen, albeit as
expected (-18.9%), though this was partially offset by the excellent results achieved by Arca Vita and
Arca Vita International which, in the twelve months of 2010, had Life premiums of €888m (+86%),
€350m of them in the second half of the year and therefore consolidated by the UGF Group.
Although UGF Assicurazioni’s Life premiums were down 12.8%,  this was partly due to the fact that
the 2009 figures included a huge contract (€204m) which did not recur in 2010. Net of this contract
the fall was much less (-4%) and was due to the overhaul of the product portfolio and the consequent
emphasis on quality rather than quantity, as shown by the increase in the proportion of annual and
recurring premiums.
As a result, the UGF Group’s new business in terms of APE (Annual Premium Equivalent), which
amounted to €358m, was 1% up compared with 2009 (€354m) excluding the effects of approximately
€20m in terms of APE of the non-recurring contract mentioned above.

The asset management markets were affected during 2010 by the growing tensions over the
indebtedness of the countries on the edge of the Eurozone. The result, especially towards the end of
the year, was a widening of the spreads on the debt securities of these countries, including Italy, and
in general of the loan spreads compared with the Euribor. The share markets in the Eurozone also
performed badly owing to the fragility of the economic upturn. Against this background the Group’s
investment policies continued to be prudent, the aim being to maintain an appropriate balance
between risk and yield and between assets and liabilities to policyholders. Activity in bonds focused
on Italian government bonds and thus exposure to the share risk fell. The gross return through profit
or loss on asset management as a whole was more than 4%, despite €81m of impairment losses on
shares.

The increase in banking business was mainly in retail and small and medium enterprises, both
segments being characterised by a risk/profitability profile in line with credit policy and the
guidelines for strategic growth. The UGF Banca Group recorded customer deposits, net of
securitisation schemes of €8,680m, in line with the figures for 2009 but including growth of more
than 7% in third-party customer deposits (€7,100m). In turn lending, also net of securitisation
schemes, amounted to approximately €7,817m compared with €6,891m in 2009, an increase of
€926m, more than 80% of it to retail customers (mainly mortgage loans) and small businesses.

1 The percentage variation included
the contribution of the Arca Group,
which was consolidated on 1 July
2010.



Despite the climate in the sector still being difficult because of the financial crisis and the low rates
of interest that penalised net interest income, UGF Banca achieved a net profit of €6.5m and the
Banking Group as a whole returned to profit (€6.1m).
Work on consolidating and rationalising the network of branches continued and by the end of the
year there were 303.

Overall 2010 ended with a consolidated profit of €71m, in line with the first year of the Business Plan.
Although affected in the last part of 2010 by impairment losses on sovereign debt securities in the
bond portfolio, the consolidated solvency ratio was 1.3 times the regulatory requirements.
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SALIENT ASPECTS 
OF BUSINESS OPERATIONS

The consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2010 closed with a profit of €71m (loss of
€769m in 2009, mainly owing to impairment losses on equity securities).
In view of the sale of UGF’s entire investment in BNL Vita (51%) scheduled to take place during 2011,
the consolidated figures in this document are set out in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 5.  In
particular, on the consolidated statement of financial position the assets of the company to be sold
are reclassified under a single item known as ‘Non-current assets held for sale or disposal groups’
(item 6.1 of the Assets) whilst the corresponding liabilities are similarly reclassified under a single
item known as ‘Liabilities associated with disposal groups’ (item 6.1 of the Liabilities). Both items
are net of operations within the group.
As the sale of BNL Vita did not come under ‘discontinued operations’, since the UGF Group
continued to operate in bancassurance with the companies in the Arca Group, the income statement
items are set out in accordance with the normal rules of consolidation on a line-by-line basis.

Moreover,  the acquisition of the Arca Group took place at the end of the first half of 2010 and,
therefore, the figures for the Arca Group shown in the consolidated income statement are for only
the second half of the year.

All comparisons are with the corresponding figures for the previous year, and the variations in the
major items are also set out on the same basis of consolidation, without taking into account the Arca
Group's figures at 31 December 2010 but including BNL Vita’s assets and liabilities as recorded 
at 31 December 2010, i.e. before they were reclassified.

Amongst the most important aspects that characterised Group performance the following are worthy
of note:

• direct insurance premiums, gross of ceded premiums, were €8,976m (€9,501m in 2009, -5.5%),
€78m of which related to Life investment products (€19m in 2009). Non-Life direct premiums
amounted to €4,243m (-0.4%) and Life direct premiums €4,734m (-9.7%). On the same basis of
consolidation the variation in direct premiums was -10.3%, -2.9% of it in Non-Life business and -
16.3% in Life business;

• premiums, net of ceded premiums, amounted to €8,798m (-6.6%), €4,158m of which was from
Non-Life business (€4,213m in 2009, -1.3%) and €4,640m from Life business (€5,207m in 2009, -
10.9%). The overall variation on the same basis of consolidation was -10.7%; 

• bank direct customer deposits amounted to €9,298m (-2.5%);

• net charges relating to claims, net of outwards reinsurance, amounted to €8,418m, €3,379m of
which was from Non-Life business (€3,671m in 2009) and €5,038m from Life business (€5,502m in
2009), and included €55m of net gains on financial assets and liabilities at fair value (€301m in
2009).  Net charges relating to claims amounted to €8,086m on the same basis of consolidation; 
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• the loss ratio in Non-Life business was 80% (86% in 2009);

• operating expenses, net of commissions received from reinsurers, amounted to €1,364m
(€1,366m in 2009); in Non-Life business they amounted to €926m (€932m in 2009), in Life
business they were €153m (€127m in 2009) and amounted to €908m and €141m respectively on
the same basis of consolidation;

• investments and cash and cash equivalents amounted to €34,654m (€40,531m in 2009), €42,169m
on the same basis of consolidation (+4%);

• technical provisions and financial liabilities amounted to €34,899m. The corresponding values at
31 December 2009 were €40,485m. The item amounted to €42,140m on the same basis of
consolidation (+4.1%);

• net gains on investments and financial income from financial assets and liabilities (excluding net
income from financial assets and liabilities at fair value) amounted to €1,138m (€147m in 2009,
net of €798m of impairment losses on equity securities classified as available-for-sale financial
assets). The item amounted to €1,088m on the same basis of consolidation.  Impairment losses on
equity securities were €81m at 31 December 2010, €3m of this amount relating to the Arca
Group;ammontano a euro 81 milioni, di cui 3 milioni relativi al Gruppo Arca;

• pre-tax profit amounted to €170m (loss of €973m in 2009). Net of tax for the year of €99m and of
the profit attributable to non-controlling interests of €39m, the profit for the year attributable to
the owners of the parent was €32m at 31 December 2010 (-€772m in 2009, particularly as a result
of write-downs on available-for-sale financial assets);

• the consolidated profit for the fourth quarter of 2010 alone amounted to €26m (the fourth quarter
of 2009 having closed with a loss of €799m, mainly owing to impairment losses on equity
securities);

• the comprehensive loss for the year was €212m (€218m profit in 2009) because of the decrease in
the provision for Gains or losses on available-for-sale financial assets, which was affected by the
fall in value of government bonds, particularly in the final quarter of the year.

Below is the condensed consolidated income statement for 2010 broken down by business segment:
insurance (Non-Life and Life), banking and holding and services compared with 2009 figures.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED 
INCOME STATEMENT BROKEN 
DOWN BY BUSINESS SEGMENT Dec-10 Dec-09 var.% Dec-10 Dec-09 var.%

Net premiums 4,158 4,213 -1.3 4,640 5,207 -10.9

Net commissions 0 0 8 1

Financial income/expense 
(excl. assets/liabilities at fair value) 197 175 12.9 868 646 34.5

Net interest income/(expense) 149 145 660 550
Other income 36 21 33 14
Realised gains and losses 32 27 188 76
Unrealised gains and losses 
(excluding impairment losses on AFS shares) -21 -19 -13 6

Impairment losses on AFS equities -26 -540 -52 -247

Net charges relating to claims -3,379 -3,671 -7.9 -5,038 -5,502 -8.4

Operating expenses -926 -932 -0.7 -153 -127 20.5
Commissions and other acquisition costs -786 -803 -2.2 -90 -77 17.1
Other expenses -140 -129 8.8 -63 -50 25.7

Other income/expense -44 -60 -26.7 -45 -29 53.6

Pre-tax profit/(loss) -21 -815 228 -51

Income tax

Total consolidated comprehensive income/(expense)
Attributable to owners of the Parent
Attributable to non-controlling interests

Non-life 
business

Life 
business

Amounts in €m

Impairment on AFS securities
included impairment losses on both
equity securities and bonds
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Dec-10 Dec-09 var.% Dec-10 Dec-09 var.% Dec-10 Dec-09 var.% Dec-10 Dec-09 Dec-10 Dec-09 var.%

8,798 9,420 -6.6 0 0 8,798 9,420 -6.6

8 1 119 101 17.6 -31 -23 97 79 21.8

1,065 820 29.9 169 161 5.3 132 3 -148 -20 1,219 964 26.4
810 696 209 226 -21 -13 0 0 997 909

69 35 1 1 137 14 -148 -20 60 30
221 103 13 22 17 4 0 0 250 128

-34 -13 -54 -88 0 -2 0 0 -88 -103

-78 -787 -3 -10 0 -21 -81 -818

-8,418 -9,173 -8.2 0 0 -8,418 -9,173 -8.2

-1,079 -1,059 1.9 -266 -269 -1.2 -83 -118 -29.8 64 80 -1,364 -1,366 -0.2
-876 -880 -0.5 10 6 -866 -874 -0.9
-203 -179 13.5 -266 -269 -1.2 -83 -118 -29.8 54 74 -498 -492 1.1

-89 -90 -0.5 1 1 0.8 35 60 -41.1 -28 -52 -81 -81 0.7

208 -867 21 -16 85 -76 -143 -15 170 -973

-99 205

71 -769
32 -772
39 3

Insurance
business 

Banking
business

Holding and Services 
business  

Intersegment 
eliminations

CONSOLIDATED 
TOTAL
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INSURANCE BUSINESS
PREMIUMS AND INVESTMENT PRODUCTS

Total premiums (direct and indirect and investment products) at 31 December 2010 amounted to
€9,004m, a decrease of 5.5% compared with 31 December 2009 (-10.3% on the same basis of
consolidation). Life business recorded a decrease of 9.7% (-16.3% on the same basis of
consolidation), while Non-Life business also fell by 0.4% (-2.9% on the same basis of consolidation). 

Premiums at 31 December 2010 may be broken down as follows:
• Non-Life premiums 47.4% (45% in 2009)
• Life premiums 51.7% (54.8% in 2009)
• Life investment products 0.9% (0.2% in 2009)

In compliance with the requirements of IFRS 4 (presence of a significant insurance risk),  all the
Non-Life premiums of the companies in the Group was classified as insurance premiums.

As regards Life business, investment products at 31 December 2010 worth €78m related to Class III
(unit- and index-linked policies) and Class VI (pension funds).

31/12/2010 comp.% 31/12/2009 comp.% var.%

Non-Life direct premiums 4,243 4,260 -0.4
Non-Life indirect business 24 25 -2.6

Total Non-Life premiums 4,267 47.4 4,285 45.0 -0.4

Life direct premiums 4,655 5,221 -10.8
Life indirect business 3 4 -15.2

Total Life premiums 4,658 51.7 5,225 54.8 -10.8

Total Life investment products 78 0.9 19 0.2 302.3

Total Life business premiums 4,737 52.6 5,244 55.0 -9.7

Total premiums 9,004 100.0 9,529 100.0 -5.5

Almost all the policies issued were signed in Italy.

Premiums for the final quarter alone were worth €2,589m (€2,462m in the final quarter of 2009,
+5.2%). On the same basis of consolidation,  premiums amounted to €2,133m (-13.4%, of which -
6.3% was Non-Life and -20.7% was Life).
Direct premiums amounted to €8,976m (-5.5% compared with 2009), €8,898m of which was
premiums (€9,481m in 2009) and €78m investment products (€19m in 2009, +302.3%). On the same
basis of consolidation, direct premuims amounted to €8,520m (-10.3%), €8,502m of which was
premiums and €18m investment products.

Premium breakdown per class of business, with the breakdown indices and the variation compared
with the previous year, is set out in the following table:

CONSOLIDATED 
PREMIUMS

Amounts in €m
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31/12/2010 comp.% 31/12/2009 comp.% var.%

DIRECT ITALIAN BUSINESS 
Non-Life business premiums
Accident and Health (classes 1 and 2) 694 16.4 694 16.3 0.0
Motor vehicles - TPL (class 10) 2,207 52.0 2,167 50.9 1.8
Motor vehicles - Property damage (class 3) 343 8.1 355 8.3 -3.2
Marine, Aviation and Transport 
(classes 4, 5, 6, 7, 11 and 12) 23 0.5 29 0.7 -21.0
Fire and miscellaneous damages (classes 8 and 9) 438 10.3 445 10.4 -1.4
General TPL (class 13) 350 8.2 393 9.2 -11.0
Credit and Bond (classes 14 and 15) 38 0.9 35 0.8 7.8
Pecuniary losses (class 16) 66 1.6 59 1.4 11.1
Legal protection (class 17) 31 0.7 31 0.7 -0.1
Support and Assistance (class 18) 53 1.3 52 1.2 1.5

Total Non-Life business 4,243 100.0 4,260 100.0 -0.4

Life business premiums
I - Whole and term life insurance 3,454 74.2 3,943 75.5 -12.4

III - Unit-linked/index-linked policies 379 8.1 365 7.0 3.8
V - Capitalisation insurance 423 9.1 523 10.0 -19.1

VI - Pension funds 399 8.6 390 7.5 2.4

Total Life business 4,655 100.0 5,221 100.0 -10.8

Total Life and Non-Life business direct premiums 8,898 9,481 -6.2

Life investment products
III - Unit-linked/index-linked policies 65 83.2 5 27.8 n.s.
V - Capitalisation insurance 0 0.0 1 6.2 n.s.

VI - Pension funds 13 16.8 13 66.0 2.2

Total Life investment products 78 100.0 19 100.0 302.3

Life business direct premiums
I - Whole and term life insurance 3,454 73.0 3,943 75.2 -12.4

III - Unit-linked/index-linked policies 444 9.4 370 7.1 19.9
V - Capitalisation insurance 423 8.9 524 10.0 -19.3

VI - Pension funds 413 8.7 403 7.7 2.4

Total Life business direct premiums 4,734 100.0 5,240 100.0 -9.7

Total direct premiums 8,976 9,501 -5.5

INDIRECT BUSINESS
Non-Life business premiums 24 88.7 25 87.2 -2.6
Life business premiums 3 11.3 4 12.8 -15.2

Total indirect premiums 28 100.0 29 100.0 -4.2

Total premiums 9,004 9,529 -5.5

Life business

Life business premiums at 31 December 2010 totalled €4,737m, down 9.7% compared with 
31 December 2009 (-16.3% on the same basis of consolidation). 

Direct business premiums amounted to €4,734m (-9.7% in 2009, or -16.3% on the same basis of
consolidation). There was growth in Class III – index- and unit-linked policies (+19.9%, +3.6% on the
same basis of consolidation) and Class VI – pension funds (+2.4%), while Class I – traditional policies
(-12.4%, -19.2% on the same basis of consolidation) and Class V - capitalisation insurance (-19.3%, -
23.3% on the same basis of consolidation) were down.
Life direct premiums amounted to €4,655m at 31 December 2010 whilst investment products
amounted to €78m, €60m of which related to the Arca Group. At 31 December 2009 Life premiums
had been €5,221m and investment products €19m.

The classification of premiums by
class set out above complies with the
provisions of Article 2 of Legislative
Decree 209 of 7 September 2005 -
Insurance Code (para. 1 in the case
of Life business and para. 3 in the
case of Non- Life business).

BREAKDOWN OF PREMIUMS
PER CLASS OF BUSINESS

Amounts in €m
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New business in terms of APE, net of portions pertaining to non-controlling interests, amounted to
€358m at 31 December 2010, a change of 4% compared with 2009 (pro rata figures), particularly as a
result of the fall in production in BNL Vita. However, if the effect of a non-recurring contract with an
APE of €20m that was not renewed in 2010 is excluded from the calculation the variation compared
with the previous year was +1%. UGF Assicurazioni’s contribution to the Group figure was €207m
(+6.9%), the Arca Group’s pro rata contribution for the second half of the year was €22m and BNL
Vita’s was €129m.

In occupational pension funds UGF retained its position at the top of the market rankings by both
number of mandates managed and level of funds.
At the end of 2010, the subsidiary UGF Assicurazioni had a total of 25 occupational pension fund
mandates (14 of them for accounts ‘with guaranteed capital and/or minimum return'). On the same
date, resources under management totalled €2,371m (€1,333m with guaranteed capital).
Several management agreements were renewed during 2010 such as the Cometa pension fund
(guaranteed mandate), the Arco pension fund (balanced mandate without guarantee) and the Prevedi
pension fund (balanced mandate without guarantee).
Among the new asset management mandates awarded were the GommaPlastica pension fund (bond
mandate without guarantee, due to begin in the second half of 2011) and the Agrifondo pension fund
(balanced mandate without guarantee, due to begin during the first quarter of 2011).
The mandate for the Previprof pension fund (guaranteed mandate) came to an end during 2010 when
the Supervisory Authority (COVIP) ordered the fund to be dissolved.

In open-ended pension funds, ‘Unipol Futuro’, ‘Unipol Previdenza’, ‘Unipol Insieme’, ‘Aurora
Previdenza’ and ‘BNL Pensione Sicura’ had total funds of €251m and 22,429 members at the end of
the year (€210m and 21,300 members in 2009).

The traditional composite company UGF Assicurazioni achieved Life direct premiums of €1,907m, 
a decrease of 12.8%, largely as a result of a non-recurring Class V group contract entered into in 
July 2009 with the BCC/CRA national pension fund worth approximately €200m. If this figure is
ignored the fall in premiums was 3.9%.
Life premiums amounted to €1,889m (€2,169m in 2009) whilst investment products amounted to
€18m (€19m in 2009).
In particular there was growth in Class VI – pension funds (+2.4%) whilst Class I – traditional policies
(-12.3%), Class III – index- and unit-linked policies (-9.1%) and Class V – capitalisation insurance 
(-26.9%) were down. 
Premiums from Life policies achieved via UGF Banca outlets was €210m at 31 December 2010
(€195m in 2009, +7.3%). 

The Arca Group Life companies (Arca Vita and Arca Vita International) had achieved direct premiums
of €888m by 31 December 2010, well up compared with 31 December 2009 (+86%), €350m of it in the
second quarter attributable to the UGF Group. 

The bancassurance company BNL Vita achieved direct premiums of €2,475m (-18.9%). 
There was a rise in the number of Class III - index- and unit-linked policies (+3.8%), Class V -
capitalisation insurance (+24.5%) and Class VI - pension funds (+7.7%), whilst Class I - traditional
policies were down (-22.6%)



Non-Life business

Total premiums in the Non-Life portfolio amounted to €4,267m at 31 December 2010 (-0.4%, -2.9% on
the same basis of consolidation).
Direct business premiums alone amounted to €4,243m (-0.4%, -2.9% on the same basis of
consolidation). Premiums from inwards reinsurance amounted to €24m (-2.6%). 
Motor Vehicles TPL was up (+1.8%), whilst Land Vehicles fell 3.2%. Other non-MV classes that fell were
Fire/Property Damage (-1.4%) and General TPL (-11%). Accident and Health remained largely stable.

Direct premiums for the composite company UGF Assicurazioni amounted to €3,538m (-3.8%).
Premiums continued to fall in MV TPL (-2%) and Land Vehicles (-6.1%) owing to the reduction in the
client portfolio of both individual policies and policies for fleets of company vehicles. The policy of
restructuring company-vehicle business and action taken on individual policies led to a distinct
improvement in claims frequency in this class.

The other classes were also down compared with 2009 (-5.6%): General TPL -9%, Accident and
Health -6.8%, Fire/Property Damage -3.3%. The decrease was the expected result both of action
taken to recoup profit margins (as was shown by the improvement in results for core business) and
of the drop in turnover because of the financial crisis.

The Non-Life companies in the Arca Group (Arca Assicurazioni and ISI Insurance) had achieved
direct premiums of €225m by 31 December 2010 (+30.7%), €107m of it in the second half of the year
and therefore attributable to the UGF Group. MV TPL was up 28.4%, Land Vehicles 30.9% and the
other classes 34.9%.

The specialist companies (Linear, Unisalute and Navale Assicurazioni) wrote direct premiums of
€598m (+2.5%).

Linear had direct premiums of €171m, up 6.6% compared with the previous year, owing to both the
+5% increase in the portfolio and the rise in the average premium.

Unisalute achieved direct premiums of €177m, an increase of 14.1% compared with 2009. Non-Life
insurance for individual protection had fallen by 2.3% at 30 September 2010 (latest figures available,
Health +1.1%, Support and Assistance -3.4%). The forecast at the end of 2010 was for a slight upturn,
which should allow Unisalute to consolidate its position in the Health class still further and achieve a
market share of around 7.5% (6.8% in 2009). The number of health customers increased to
approximately 2.1 million, partly thanks to the company’s unique expertise and its talent for
innovation. In fact, new procedures and infrastructure (for telephone and website communications)
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General TPL   8.2%

Other Classes   5.0%

Accident and Health   16.4%

Motor Vehicles   8.1%

Motor Vehicles TPL   52.0%

Fire/Property Damage   10.3%
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were introduced during 2010, which enabled levels of quality of service to be kept in line with specific
objectives.

The Non-Life company Navale Assicurazioni had direct premiums of €250m at 31 December 2010,
6.6% down on 31 December 2009. Almost all classes were down, the few exceptions including MV TPL,
which recorded an increase of 3.3%. Land vehicles was down 11.3% whilst in the basic classes there
were drops in General TPL (-38.5%), Accident (-10.2%), Fire (-5.9%) and Other Damage to Property (-
4.2%).
As already mentioned, as from 1 January 2011 Navale Assicurazioni’s insurance business was
contributed to UGF Assicurazioni, thus adding a third division, Navale, to the Unipol and Aurora
divisions.

REINSURANCE

Inwards reinsurance
Total Non-Life and Life inwards reinsurance premiums amounted to €28m at 31 December 2010 
(-4.2%) and was made up of €24m of premiums from Non-Life business (-2.6%) and €3m from Life
business (-15.2%).

31/12/2010 comp.% 31/12/2009 comp.% var.%

Non-Life premiums 128 87.7 106 86.0 20.4
Retention index - Non-Life business (%) 97.0% 97.5%

Life premiums 18 12.3 17 14.0 4.2
Retention index - LIfe business (%) 99.6% 99.7%

Total premiums ceded 146 100.0 124 100.0 18.1
Overall retention index (%) 98.4% 98.7%

The retention index is the ratio between premiums retained (total direct and indirect premiums, net of premiums ceded) and total direct and indirect
premiums. Investment products are excluded from the calculation.

In the case of Group direct business,  ceded premiums totalled €146m compared with €124m in the
previous year, of which €128m came from Non-Life ceded premiums and €18m from Life ceded
premiums.
The Group’s Non-Life retention index rose to 97% from 97.5% in the previous year. With no major
individual claims during the year, the mix of Non-Life direct cessions generated a positive result
overall for reinsurers. 
The result of the direct cessions carried out in Life business was also positive for reinsurers. 
The Group’s Life retention index fell slightly to 99.6% from 99.7% in the previous year whilst the
overall retention index (Non-Life and Life) fell to 98.4% from 98.7% in the previous year. 

Automatic proportional types of cession were taken out to protect the Group against Non-Life
technical risks in the Bond, Credit and Other damage to property classes. On the other hand,
exposures in portfolios retained in MV and General Third-Party Liability, Land vehicles, Accident,
Goods in Transit and Other Damage to Property caused by Hail were protected by non-proportional
types of cover.
A specific non-proportional type of cover was arranged to reduce the Group’s net exposure to the
risks retained in the Fire class, including natural disasters.
In the case of Life risks, reinsurance schemes made use of proportional types of cover.

In order to reduce the counterparty risk to a minimum, the reinsurance of Group undertakings was
placed with leading professional reinsurers rated very sound by the world’s leading rating agencies.

PREMIUMS CEDED

Amounts in €m



PERFORMANCE OF THE INSURANCE BUSINESS 

The Group's insurance business ended with a total pre-tax profit of €208m, €193m on the same
basis of consolidation (€867m loss in 2009), to which Life business contributed €228m, €206m on
the same basis of consolidation (€51m loss in 2009), whilst Non-Life business made a loss of €21m,
€13m on the same basis of consolidation (€815m loss in 2009). Non-Life business was up €242m in
absolute terms compared with the previous year.

Total operating expenses incurred at 31 December  2010 (acquisition and renewal commissions and
other acquisition, asset management and administrative expenses), net of commissions received
from reinsurers, totalled €1,079m (+1.9%). 
The expense ratio for Non-Life direct business, that is the ratio of operating expenses including
commissions received from reinsurers and investment management expenses to direct premiums,
was 22.1%, substantially in line with the previous year (22%). 

The loss ratio for Non-Life direct business (i.e. the incidence of charges relating to claims for direct
business on the corresponding direct premiums) fell from 86% in 2009 to 80% by 31 December 2010
owing to the steps taken to rebalance the portfolio and the improvement in the claims rate because
of the drop in claims for weather damage and major claims.

In the MV TPL class, in which the Direct Indemnity Agreement (CARD) introduced by Presidential
Decree 254/2006 applies, the companies in the Group, excluding those in the Arca Group, which did
not join the UGF Group until halfway through the year, recorded a total of 447,250 passive non-CARD
and debtor CARD claims in 2010, a drop of 13.5% compared with the number of passive claims
received in 2009 (-14% net of claims not followed up).
367,299 of the claims came under the knock-for-knock agreement (debtor CARD claims) and
accounted for approximately 82% of the total (debtor CARD + non-CARD). 366,678 Operational DIA
claims were settled. 
In the case of CARD claims dealt with solely by the UGF Group (i.e. excluding claims where there was
contributory negligence, which were partially dealt with by the counterpart companies) the
settlement rate was 79.9%, a rise of +4.4 points since 2009. The average amount paid out rose 5%
because of personal injury claims being settled faster than those for only material damage.

Direct claims in the other classes, likewise net of the figures for the Arca Group, totalled 2,116,039,
an increase of 13% mainly in the Health class (+23.6%), with many being for a low average cost.  If
Health is excluded the number of claims reported fell to 659,315, 5% down on the previous year.

The combined ratio, based on direct business, was 102.1% at 31 December 2010, in line with the
objectives of the 2010-2012 Business Plan (108% in 2009). The indicator is derived from the sum of
the loss ratio (80%) and expense ratio (22.1%).
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BANKING BUSINESS
The banking sector was made up of the UGF Banca Banking Group and the not particularly
significant contribution of Unipol SGR, which managed the assets of Unipol Funds, a composite fund
registered in Ireland, on behalf of Unipol Fondi Limited (Dublin), which is wholly owned by UGF
Banca.

During 2010, the UGF Banca Banking Group adapted its commercial policy to comply with the
guidelines in the Group’s Business Plan, which also required the Banking Group to focus on the
reference markets and to implement a more selective lending policy in order to improve ALM.
With net interest income and credit risk continuing to be critical factors in the market, the Banking
Group continued to monitor its level of lending and the funds that could be used for it.
Like other lenders, UGF Banca was also downgraded by a rating agency, which made it more difficult
to increase customer deposits, although they were 3% up.

The high volatility in the financial markets continued to affect funds under administration, and good
income in Life business (UGF Assicurazioni products) was offset by a reduction in funds managed by
the subsidiary Unipol Fondi. This work brought in €210m during 2010 (+7.3%), which made up for the
fall in managed funds and unit trusts and responded to the requirements of customers increasingly
looking for instruments with guaranteed capital in addition to a yield in line with the benchmark for
this sector.

Direct customer deposits totalled €9.3bn (€9.5bn in 2009, -2.5%). The decrease was exclusively
attributable to the fall in deposits held by the companies in the UGF Group (-€470m) and was only
partly offset by the increase in deposits from customers outside the Group. Deposits from ordinary
customers, excluding the funds of the companies in the UGF Group, were up 3%. This result was
mainly due to the work carried out by UGF Banca, which introduced various measures to try to obtain
a large share of the market by offering a very competitive range of both short- and medium- to long-
term products to its customers and the external market.
Indirect customer deposits amounted to €23.6bn at 31 December 2010 (€21.7bn in 2009), €21.8bn of
which were assets under management (+9.1%) and €1.8bn funds under administration (no change).
The increase in assets under management was mainly attributable to the companies in the UGF Group.

Lending to customers was up by approximately €526.5m (+5.4%) to more than €10.3bn, whilst
amounts due from banks amounted to approximately €194m compared with €452m at the end of
2009 (-57.2%). The growth in lending to customers was partly due to UGF Merchant’s lending to large
companies, principally for financing business investments, but most of it was due to UGF Banca
lending to the small business segment for both expansion and normal operations and granting
mortgage loans to individuals, mainly for house purchase. Nevertheless lending policies were strict,
in line with the new credit policy, which governs the assumption of risk by restricting concentration
per counterparty and type of product in order to ensure that growth is balanced.
Work on reducing exposure to the property and construction sector continued in 2010. The Banking
Group’s mortgage liens covered its credit risks on most debts classified as ‘under observation',
substandard or restructured. Work on rescheduling doubtful debts in order to help customers to
divest continued during 2010. This reduced total exposure by 13.9% compared with the beginning of
the year. The bank is continuing to monitor the performance of the main items carefully during the
first few months of this year.

The banking group ended the year with a pre-tax profit of €21m (€16m loss in 2009), most of it
achieved by the Parent, UGF Banca.



The following table shows the principal items in the income statement for banking business, set out
in accordance with the layout specified for banks.

31/12/2010 31/12/2009 var.%

Net interest income 207 226 -8.4
Net commission income 119 102 17.3
Other net financial income 15 22 -34.2

Total income 341 350 -2.6

Net impairment losses on financial assets -55 -97 -43.1

Net financial income 286 253 13.0

Operating expenses 265 268 -1.3
of which: accruals to provisions for risks and charges 0 5
Cost/income 77.6% 75.1% 3.3

Pre-tax profit/(loss) 21 -16

Total income reached €341m, a fall of 2.6%, mainly owing to the drop in net interest income (-8.4%)
because of the fall in market rates, which was only partially offset by the increase in net commission
income (+17.3%). Other net investment income was also down (-34.2%).
Operating expenses amounted to €265m, almost the same as in the previous year (-1.3%). The
cost/income ratio was 77.6% (75.1% in 2009).

Analysis of the loan and securities portfolio at 31 December 2010 led to amounts of €55m being
accrued (€97m in 2009), €3m of them for impairment losses on equity securities classified as
available-for-sale assets (€8m in 2009).
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HOLDING AND SERVICES BUSINESS
Holding and services business was carried out by the holding company UGF and (to a not particularly
significant extent) by the subsidiary Ambra Property, which owns and manages the UNA Way
Bologna Fiera hotel.

The pre-tax profit of holding and services business was €85m at 31 December 2010 (-€76m in 2009),
benefiting from the receipt of €140m of dividends from subsidiaries. 

The figures that were the major feature of business performance are as follows:
- €17m of income for the provision of core services (€48m in 2009). The decrease is attributable both

to the contribution, which produced effects as from February 2009, and to further reorganisation of
the way in which the Group provides services, with a consequent decrease in costs;

- €25m of other revenue and income (€30m in 2009), €13m of it for staff seconded to Group
companies (€11m in 2009);

- €89m of personnel expense, other production costs and other operating expense for holding
company business (€137m in 2009);

- €140m in income from investments by way of dividends received from Group companies (€14m in 2009);
- €46m of net income/expense from financial assets (€7m in 2009, owing to €19m of impairment

losses on equity securities classified as Available-for-sale assets, which did not recur in 2010);
- €54m of interest expense and other charges on financial liabilities (€38m in 2009).

Investments, cash and cash equivalents in the Holding and Services segment (including €19m of
owner-occupied property belonging to Ambra Property) amounted to €5,943m at 31 December 2010
(€5,613m in 2009), €4,880m of it investments in subsidiaries, which rose by €503m in 2010 as a
result of the following transactions:
- €308m paid for controlling investment in Arca Vita and subsequent recapitalisation;
- €95m paid for a share capital increase in Navale Assicurazioni;
- €100m paid for a share capital increase in UGF Assicurazioni.

In July 2010, UGF increased its share capital by €399m, which was fully subscribed by the market
despite the difficult economic and financial climate at the time. Costs of €9m were incurred for the
share capital increase and €1m was received for the sale of unopted rights. Both these items were
deducted from the share premium reserve, net of taxation of €3m.

Financial liabilities amounted to €1,232m (€1,228m in 2009), €961m of it for two senior bond loans
issued by UGF during 2009, the principal features of which were as follows:
- €180m - senior bond loan, nominal amount €175m, unlisted, issued in July 2009, three-year term,

fixed interest of 5.25%;
- €781m - senior bond loan, nominal amount €750m, listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange,

issued in December 2009, at €99,314, seven-year term, fixed interest of 5%. 

This item also included €270m relating to two loans from the subsidiary UGF Assicurazioni (€306m
in 2009). The loans, which at the request of UGF Assicurazioni are repayable, in whole or in part, at
sight (and in any case at least three days before the date of repayment of the credit facilities to the
noteholders), are remunerated at the three-month Euribor rate plus 100 basis points. 

Intersegment eliminations

Intersegment eliminations related to the derecognition of income and costs between Group
companies belonging to different segments. The negative balance of €143m related in particular to
the derecognition of dividends within the Group worth €140m.



PROPERTY AND 
FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
INVESTMENTS AND CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

During 2010, markets were affected by the growing tensions over the indebtedness of the countries
on the edge of the Eurozone, which had already made themselves felt at the end of the previous year,
particularly in the case of Greece, followed in the Summer by Portugal and Ireland. The end of the
year saw Ireland receiving a rescue package financed largely by the European Financial Stability
Fund and the International Monetary Fund.
The political difficulties that Europe encountered when restructuring its banks led to uncertainties
and fears about the future of the Monetary Union, accentuating the spread between the cost of loans
issued by the core countries and those issued by the most vulnerable peripheral countries (Greece,
Ireland and Portugal), with Italy and Spain maintaining their position in the middle.
The growing need to launch plans to reduce public debt led to expectations of a prolonged period of
low growth in the developed countries, whilst the economies of the emerging countries continued to
be robust.
The fragility of the upturn, together with still-rising unemployment rates (10% in the Eurozone as a
whole), kept expectations of inflation low.
Consequently, the following was the situation in the Eurozone: 
- short-term rates at rock-bottom levels; the three-month Euribor rate up (to 1.006%, from 0.70% at

the end of the year);
- medium- to long-term interest rates down (the 10-year swap rate having fallen from 3.58% to

3.32% during the same period);
- the spread between core and peripheral countries widened, as, in general, did credit spreads

compared with the Euribor;
- share markets remained weak with the exception of the German market.

The Standard & Poor’s 500 index, representing the US Stock Exchange, ended 2010 up 12.78%, the
Eurostoxx 50 index, which represents stock markets in the Eurozone, fell by 5.81%, whilst the
Japanese Nikkei 225 was down 3.01%.

During year the Group’s investment policies tried to maintain an appropriate balance between risk
and yield in the bond sector. Work continued on ensuring that investments remained in line with
liabilities to policyholders.
Activity in government securities concentrated on Italian government bonds and, to a lesser extent,
on sovereign securities of other EU countries.
With interest rates at a historical low the portfolio’s sensitivity to the risk of a rise in rates was
reduced during the first quarter of 2010 through the purchase of 'cap' options. The Life portfolios,
which had the highest duration profiles, were hedged.
In the Group consolidated insurance portfolio the duration in Non-Life business was 2.98, in Life
business 4.03 and in the Holding 2.53. The total duration was therefore 3.76.
No significant changes have been noted compared with the previous year in bond portfolio structure,
either quantitative or qualitative. 
Fixed rate and floating rate component of the bond portfolio remain stable at 69% and 31%
respectively.
Treasury bonds constituted approximately 56% of the bond portfolio, supplemented by 44% corporate
bonds, split across financial credit at 41% and industrial credit at 3%.
The quality of the issuers (Standard & Poor’s rating) confirmed the high creditworthiness of the
portfolio, 70% of which was made up of securities rated A+ or above, 18% between A and A- and 12%
BBB+ or below.
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Available-for-sale 
financial assets  37.6%

Loans and receivables  42.6%
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In order to manage assets prudently a good level of liquidity was maintained in the Group’s
insurance portfolio, amounting to approximately €1.2bn at 31 December 2010, most of it deposited
with the Group’s bank.

Defensive policies predominated in share portfolio management, which led to a reduction in this type
of asset, particularly in Non-Life business, and in the relative beta coefficient (the index of the
portfolio’s sensitivity to changes in the market).
Liquidity has predominantly been reinvested in debt securities.
Within the Life division, gradual recovery of equity quality has been noted via the sale of securities
deemed unappealing according to important guidelines and the reinvestment in securities which
show potential and are expected to achieve good results, significant cashflow and, consequently, the
ability to maintain significant dividends over time.
The share portfolio was mainly made up of securities belonging to the Eurostoxx50 index or to the
main European indices.
Exposure in markets other than those in the Eurozone was marginal, with the currency risk mostly
being hedged.

Trading activity in the bond and equity markets has been completely in line with profitability
objectives.
In brief the Group portfolio (with the sole exception of banking business) was split as follows:
• debt securities: €25.3bn or 89.4%;
• equity securities: €1.8bn or 6.4%;
• cash and cash equivalents: €1.2bn or 4.2%;

The level of the Group’s investments and cash and cash equivalents totalled €34,654m at 
31 December 2010, a decrease of €5,877m since 2009, owing to both reclassification under item 6.1 
of the Assets of the investments in the subsidiary BNL Vita, which is to be sold, and the Arca Vita
Group’s contribution of €4,065m. On the same basis of consolidation there was an increase of
€1,638m (+4%).
Investments and cash and cash equivalents in the insurance segment amounted to €24,647m
(€31,614m in 2009) and accounted for 71% of total investments (78% in 2009). On the same basis of
consolidation they were €32,162m. Those in the banking and the Holding and Services segments
amounted to €11,228m and €5,943m respectively (€10,512m and €5,613m in 2009). These figures
are gross of eliminations within the Group totalling €7,164m (€7,208 in 2009).

11.5% Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

3.1% Other investments

5.3% Held-to-maturity investments



The Group’s investments subdivided according to type and comparisons with the position 
at 31 December 2009 are set out in the following table:

31/12/2010 comp.% 31/12/2009 comp.% var.%

Property (*) 804 2.3 742 1.8 8.4

Investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and interests in joint ventures 46 0.1 44 0.1 6.2

Held-to-maturity investments 1,823 5.3 1,780 4.4 2.4

Loans and receivables 14,755 42.6 14,786 36.5 -0.2
Debt securities 4,064 11.7 4,443 11.0 -8.5
Loans and receivables from banking customers 10,311 29.8 9,786 24.1 5.4
Interbanking loans and receivables 134 0.4 371 0.9 -64.0
Deposits held at ceding companies 19 0.1 22 0.1 -10.0
Other loans and receivables 226 0.7 164 0.4 38.0

Available-for-sale financial assets 13,024 37.6 15,314 37.8 -15.0

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3,971 11.5 7,645 18.9 -48.1
held for trading 590 1.7 465 1.1 26.9
at fair value through profit or loss 3,381 9.8 7,180 17.7 -52.9

Cash and cash equivalents 232 0.7 221 0.5 4.7

Total investments and cash and cash equivalents 34,654 100.0 40,531 100.0 -14.5

Property
The Group’s property, including owner-occupied property, amounted to €804m (€742m at
31/12/2009), of which €13m related to Arca Group property. Property under construction belonging to
the Group’s two property companies (Midi and Unifimm) rose by €55m.
The aim of operations in property during 2010 was to streamline Group property, most of which was
owner-occupied. Several non-significant properties deemed not of strategic importance for the
Group’s core activities were sold and developments on various building plots belonging to the two
subsidiaries Midi Srl and Unifimm Srl continued.
Midi Srl completed construction work on the first site, to be used as offices by the Group’s
administrative departments, whilst the second site, also to be owner-occupied, was due to be
completed during the first half of 2011. Contracts were awarded and work begun on two additional
units (a restaurant and an auditorium), which were expected to be completed during 2011.
Unifimm continued work on a tower for third-party use next to Bologna’s inner ring road, which was
expected to be completed during the first half of 2012, whilst during 2010, as part of the same
project, contracts were awarded for a 150-room hotel and an area of approximately 6,000 square
metres for small shops and services, both expected to be completed during 2012. It is hoped that the
tower under construction, the final height of which is to be 125 metres, will be awarded the ‘gold’
certification of the prestigious LEED (Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design) international
environmental sustainability scheme).

A project to renovate and expand the hotel owned by the subsidiary Ambra Property Srl adjacent to
the Group’s head office was approved during 2010. The pre-contract work was begun, and contracts
were awarded in the first few months of 2011.
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Investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures
Investments in subsidiaries, affiliates and interests in joint ventures totalled €46m at 31 December
2010 and were almost exclusively in associates (€44m at 31/12/2009). The increase was mainly due
to the acquisition by UGF Banca of 49.02% of the quota capital of CampusCertosa Srl, which is based
in Milan.

Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments amounted to €1,823m (€1,780m at 31/12/2009), the same amount as
on the same basis of consolidation.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables amounted to €14,755m, compared to €14,786m in 2009, €15,343m on the
same basis of consolidation.
The main contribution to this item was from banking business, with €10,311m of loans to customers
(€9,786m in 2009) and €134m of sums due from banks (€371m in 2009).
Debt securities amounted to €4,064m (€4,443m in 2009). This was €4,653m on the same basis of
consolidation.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets amounted to €13,024m, €16,925m on the same basis of
consolidation (€15,314m in 2009).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss amounted to €3,971m at 31 December 2010,
€7,091m on the same basis of consolidation (€7,645m in 2009).
This item was made up of €590m of assets held for trading (€465m in 2009), €3,381m of assets at
fair value, where the investment risk was borne by policyholders, €608m and €6,484m respectively
on the same basis of consolidation (€7,180m in 2009).

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents amounted to €232m, €149m on the same basis of consolidation 
(€221m in 2009). 



NET GAINS ON INVESTMENTS AND NET FINANCIAL INCOME

Details of net gains on investments and net financial income are set out in the following table:

31/12/2010 comp.% 31/12/2009 comp.% var.%

Investment property 8 0.6 17 5.3 -55.8
Gains on investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and interests in joint ventures 0 0.0 0 0.1 3.8
Net gains on held-to-maturity investments 91 6.7 48 14.9 88.5
Net gains on loans and receivables 474 34.9 484 149.2 -2.1
Net gains (losses) on available-for-sale financial assets 891 65.5 -257 -79.3 -446.5
Net gains/(losses) on financial assets held for trading -105 -7.7 31 9.4 -443.7
Cash and cash equivalents 1 0.0 1 0.4 -58.7

Total net gains on financial assets 
and cash and cash equivalents 1,360 100.0 324 100.0 319.3

Net losses on financial liabilities held for trading -2 -3 -46.6
Net losses on other financial liabilities -220 -175 25.9

Total net losses on financial liabilities -222 -178 24.7

Total net gains 
(excluding instruments at fair value) 1,138 147 676.2

Net gains on financial assets at fair value 235 637
Net losses on financial liabilities at fair value -180 -336

Total net gains on financial instruments at fair value 55 301

Total net gains on investments and net financial income 1,193 448 166.4

Total net gains (excluding those on financial instruments at fair value) amounted to €1,138m (€147m
in 2009, owing to €798m of impairment losses on equity securities classified as Available-for-sale
financial assets).  This amounted to €1,088m on the same basis of consolidation.
Following application of the impairment policy adopted by the Group to available-for-sale financial
assets, as reported in chapter 2 of the Notes to the financial statements – Accounting policies, €81m
of impairment losses on equity securities were recorded at 31 December 2010, €3m of which related
to the Arca Group.
Net gains on loans and receivables include €53m of fair value losses on loans to customers of the
UGF Banca Group (€88m in 2009).

Net gains and investments and net financial income from financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss were €55m (€301m in 2009).
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EQUITY 
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent, including the profit for the year, amounted to €3,648m at
31 December 2010 (€3,585m at 31/12/2009). 
The change was due to a combination of the following effects:
• decrease of €250m owing to the decrease in the reserve for Gains and losses on available- for-

sale financial assets, from -€393m at 31 December 2009 to -€643m at 31 December 2010;
• decrease of €12m owing to the decrease in the reserve for Other gains or losses on cash-flow

hedges, directly recognised as equity;
• increase of €394m because of UGF’s share capital increase, including commission income and

additional expenses;
• decrease of €100m because of dividends distributed in 2010;
• increase of €32m because of Group profit for 2010.

Equity attributable to non-controlling interests amounted to €373m (€241m in 2009). €112m of the
increase since 2009 was due to the consolidation of the Arca Group.

At 31 December 2010, the Parent’s share capital was €2,698,895,169.10 and was made up of
3,416,322,997 shares, 2,114,122,551 of which were ordinary shares and 1,302,200,446 preference
shares.
634,236,765 Unipol 2010-2013 Ordinary Share Warrants and 390,660,132 Unipol 2010-2013
Preference Share Warrants were outstanding. 

There were 300,000 preference treasury shares belonging to the companies in the Arca Group valued
at €173,124 at 31 December 2010. The 86,642 treasury shares on the UGF Group's books at 
31 December 2009 were sold during the second quarter, before the dividends were paid.

Following completion of the merger of Navale Assicurazioni into UGF, UGF’s share capital was
€2,699,066,930.11 at 1 January 2011 and consisted of 3,416,540,416 shares, 2,114,257,106 ordinary
and 1,302,283,310 preference.

UGF share capital increase

The offer relating to the share capital increase resolved by the Board of Directors of the Parent UGF,
on 17 June 2010 under the powers vested in it by the Shareholders’ Meeting of 29 April 2010,  expired
in July 2010.
The share capital increase, which was fully subscribed by the market, was €399m.

For further details please see the paragraph entitled Non-recurring events and significant
transactions in the Notes to the financial statements.



Reconciliation schedule between the Group net result for the year and equity
showing the corresponding figures for the Parent

Share capital Profit/(loss) Equity at 
and reserves for the year 31/12/2010

Parent-IFRS compliant balances 4,760 -64 4,696

IAS/IFRS adjustments to the Parent’s financial statements -63 151 88
Differences between net carrying amount and equity 
and profit for the year of consolidated investments, of which: -2,491 84 -2,407

- gains or losses on available-for-sale financial assets -602 -602
- other gains or losses recognised directly in equity -22 -22

Goodwill arising on consolidation 1,224 1,224
Difference posted to other asset items (buildings, etc.) 44 -2 42
Companies measured using the equity method 5 1 7
Elimination of infra-group dividends 141 -141 0
Other adjustments -4 4 -1

Consolidated balances - portion attributable to owners of the Parent 3,617 32 3,648

Non-controlling interests 333 39 373

Total 3,950 71 4,021
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TECHNICAL PROVISIONS 
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

31/12/2010 31/12/2009 var.%

Non-Life technical provisions 7,575 7,518 0.8
Life technical provisions 14,671 20,768 -29.4

Total technical provisions 22,246 28,286 -21.4

Financial liabilities at fair value 1,473 2,104 -30.0
Investment contracts - insurance companies 1,272 1,987 -36.0
Other 201 117 71.3

Other financial liabilities 11,181 10,094 10.8
Investment contracts - insurance companies 43 52 -17.3
Subordinated loans 1,580 1,612 -2.0
Payables to banks 5,444 5,122 6.3
Interbank payables 1,269 422 201.0
Other 2,845 2,886 -1.4

Total financial liabilities 12,653 12,198 3.7

Total 34,899 40,485 -13.8

Technical provisions amounted to €22,246m at 31 December 2010, €29,630m on the same basis of
consolidation (€28,286m in 2009), and were made up of €7,575m of Non-Life technical provisions
(€7,518m in 2009) and €14,671m of Life technical provisions (€20,768m in 2009), €7,214m and
€22,416m, respectively on the same basis of consolidation.

Total financial liabilities amounted to €12,653m, €12,510m on the same basis of consolidation
(€12,198m in 2009). 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss amounted to €1,473m, €1,366m on the same
basis of consolidation (€2,104m in 2009), and mainly consisted of investment contracts issued by
insurance companies where the investment risk was borne by the policyholders. 

Other financial liabilities amounted to €11,181m, €11,145m on the same basis of consolidation
(€10,094m in 2009), and were made up of €5,444m of Payables to banking customers (€5,122m in
2009), €1,580m of Subordinated loans (€1,612m in 2009), €43m of Investment policies issued by
insurance companies, €1,269m of Interbank payables (€422m in 2009) and €2,845m of Other
financial liabilities (€2,886m in 2009).
Other included two senior bond issues issued during 2009 by the Parent UGF worth €750m and
€175m respectively, and UGF Banca securitised notes worth €618m (€882m in 2009). 

TECHNICAL PROVISIONS
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Amounts in €m
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OTHER INFORMATION
PERSONNEL

The Group had a total of 7,529 employees at 31 December 2010 (+372 since 2009). 
Part of the increase was due to the 303 Arca Group employees.

The insurance companies in the Group had 4,836 employees at 31 December 2010, 86 of whom were
on fixed-term contracts. The number of full-time-equivalent (FTE) employees was 4,552. The
increase of 492 since 2009 was due to the consolidation of the Arca Group and to transfers of staff
from the Parent, UGF.
There were 2,367 bank employees on the same date (+17 since 2009), 35 of whom were on fixed-term
contracts. There were 2,328 full-time-equivalent employees.
The Parent UGF, and the other minor companies had a total of 326 employees (322 FTE), a decrease
of 137 mainly due to transfers to the subsidiary UGF Assicurazioni.

31/12/2010 31/12/2009 var.

Number Temporary FTE Number Temporary FTE
of staff of staff

Unipol Gruppo Finanziario 
and other companies 326 0 322 463 1 456 -137

Total insurance sector 4,836 86 4,552 4,344 39 4,078 492

Total banking sector 2,367 35 2,328 2,350 58 2,311 17

UGF Group 7,529 121 7,203 7,157 98 6,845 372

Training

Training for all the companies in the Group had covered a total of 25,529 participant days (199,675
participant hours) by 31 December 2010,  9,115 in insurance and 16,414 in banking business.
Training courses run in 2010 provided specific responses to the requirements revealed by the work of
assessing expertise and knowledge and the subsequent appraisals and at the same time covered the
training required under the Business Plan, plans already implemented or reorganisation measures.

Below is a summary of the main projects already carried out or in progress and indications of their
extent.

Insurance and banking business
• ‘Train the Trainer’ – a course specifically for staff dealing with training within the Group and

involving four bank staff and 13 insurance staff. Five sessions were held between March and
September involving 10 days in the classroom.

• Third UGF Executive Master course at LUISS (Libera Università Internazionale degli Studi Sociali –
International Free University for Social Studies), involving 16 high-flying executives and senior
managers.

• ‘Expertise in Action 2010’, a course for heads of operational units at head office, split into two days
in the classroom plus one follow-up day.

Insurance business
• Quite a few training initiatives were set up for insurance business, covering Claims, IT Services,

Life Business, Non-Life Business and Marketing. In the case of Claims not only did expertise from
outside the Group (specialist colleges) continue to be used but a team of trainers consisting of

PERSONNEL
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approximately 70 specialists from within the company was set up with the help of the Claims-
handling Department.

• Solvency II training project, split into two stages, one mainly for the staff in the Risk-Management
Department, with a second stage aimed at a broader range of staff from all the insurance companies,
covering the legal, technical and technological aspects of the requirements of the new Directive.

• Training course on supplementary pension schemes for Group staff who deal with the
administration of supplementary pension schemes at all levels to enable them to acquire the
professional qualifications laid down in Ministry of Employment Decree 79 of 15 May 2007.

• Training course for increasing the effectiveness of the call centres, involving 19 days in the
classroom and attended by 45 team leaders from the Group’s three call centres (Linear, Unisalute
and Sertel) and five supervisors.

Banking business
• Courses based on current ISVAP provisions continued to provide training and CPD for bank staff in

marketing and selling insurance products and services. (847 staff were authorised to carry out and
were engaged in this work at 31/12/2010).

• The second session of the Professional Top Management Course concluded; it had involved 16
high-profile staff, the aim being to increase the number of potential Deputy Branch Managers by
recruiting them internally.

• The new training course for Network Managers was launched. 66 staff attended four training days
covering topics such as reinforcing the sense of belonging, analysing and sharing best practices
for developing effective management procedures and enhancing strategic and leadership skills.

• The training scheme that concentrated on bank lending and risk management came to an end; it had
begun in 2009 and involved 793 UGF Banca employees. The course was financed by the FBA fund.

• A course on analysing creditworthiness was being drawn up, the aim being to improve expertise in
this aspect of the Bank’s work. The project involved 69 Branch Managers.

• Training days on combating money laundering were held throughout the country and were
attended by 440 staff.

UGF GROUP SALES NETWORK

The composite company in the Group, UGF Assicurazioni, uses a network of agencies which at 
31 December 2010 was made up of 1,588 agencies (1,625 in 2009) with 2,466 agents (2,511 agents in
2009). The Aurora network consisted of 1,015 agencies (1,588 agents) and that of the Unipol division
of 573 agencies (858 agents).
UGF Assicurazioni also places Life products directly through the UGF Banca network of bank
branches and the Company also distributes Life policies under the Aurora brand through the
Simgest and Credit Suisse Italy networks of financial advisers.

Work on restructuring the portfolio begun in the second half of the previous year continued during
2010. It concentrated on the agencies that had performed badly over the previous four years and in
the case of the most significant items a plan was drawn up that included deregulation agreements,
terminating agency agreements and divesting portfolios.
Thus there were 17 closures during the year, which will benefit technical restructuring and portfolio
losses even more in 2011. Under the plans to restructure the network and rationalise it
geographically 54 agencies were reorganised and administrative changes were made in a further 38,
but a return to the Company’s previous levels of profitability and the sustainability of the agencies
concerned were kept in mind.

The Arca Group sells its insurance products through 2,159 branches of more than 30 approved
banks, mainly mutuals (the main ones being BPER and BPSO), and through its own network of 128
active insurance agencies and 78 agencies subject to agreements to deregulate the portfolio in
accordance with the policy of rationalising the agencies implemented in July 2010.
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In MV business Linear operated via the call centre and the Internet.
Unisalute operates in Health and Assistance mainly by means of group policies with businesses that
require specific areas of expertise. The company has a specialist department for this type of work,
which operates directly or in collaboration with agencies and the main national brokers. For selling
individual policies the company uses the Internet and telemarketing as well as agencies (142
agencies, 141 of them UGF Assicurazioni agencies authorised to sell Unisalute products, compared
with 132, 131 of them belonging to UGF Assicurazioni, in 2009).

Navale Assicurazioni operated through 513 mainly multifirm agencies and 245 brokers in 2010 (543
agencies and 284 brokers in 2009) and through 6 credit bodies. The plan to review all the agency
contracts led to the signing on 31 December 2010 of 216 agreements to deregulate the portfolio with
agencies throughout almost the whole of Italy. 51 of them came into force during 2010 whilst the
remaining 65 agreements are due to come into effect in the first half of 2011. Nine new multi-firm
agencies were opened during 2010 and 38 mandates were divested.
Navale Assicurazioni’s network was transferred to UGF Assicurazioni on 1 January 2011.

Turning to bancassurance, BNL Vita marketed its products through 857 branches in the BNL-BNP
Paribas banking channel (748 branches in 2009).

UGF Banca had 303 bank branches at 31 December 2010 (299 in 2009), 182 of them combined with
insurance agencies (180 in 2009), 28 finance shops and 361 financial advisers. UGF Banca also uses
direct sales channels (Internet banking) and 1,586 Group insurance agencies authorised to sell
standard banking products. 

UGF Merchant is the bank in the UGF Banca banking group that specialises in medium-term
corporate business and also operates in merchant banking and investment banking. The principal
sales channel for products and services was represented by UGF Banca's network of branches.

NEW PRODUCTS 

Formula RENDIPIÙ
Synergies between Banking and Insurance, together with the continuous attention paid to the
market and customers’ requirements, led to the introduction of a new product: the insurance
current account known as Formula RENDIPIÙ, first marketed at the end of the third quarter of 2010.
Formula RENDIPIÙ is a combined UGF Banca and UGF Assicurazioni product consisting of a bank
current account and a Life policy, the aim being to offer Group customers the advantages of both
types of product and a better return than traditional current accounts.
This new cash management product offers customers all the flexibility and services of a current
account that can be used on a daily basis and the security and guaranteed yield of an insurance policy.
The UGF AssiConto Life policy is offered exclusively in conjunction with this current account, has no
charges for receipts and payments and guarantees a minimum gross annual return of 1.75% until 
31 December 2012 on the sums invested, which are automatically transferred to and from the
current account on the basis of predetermined maximum and minimum balances. If the balance
available in the current account exceeds the maximum or falls below the minimum, a payment is
made from the current account into the policy or from the policy into the current account respectively.
The main advantages of the new product are:
- the ease of use a current account combined with the yields of a Life policy;
- a minimum return of 1.75% gross fixed until the end of 2012 (which may be extended);
- it may be cashed in at any time;
- the sums transferred to the policy are invested in UGF Assicurazioni's Vitattiva segregated account

and thus benefit from all the security and safeguards provided in law for insurance accounts;
- the Life policy also enjoys all the advantages typical of insurance, including allowing clients to

designate the beneficiary of their choosing separately from the rest of their estate and to specify
that the benefits may be neither forfeited nor distrained.
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KM SICURI (Safe Miles)
Km Sicuri was a new product providing solutions for customers who appreciate the innovative
services it offers: keeping the cost of MV TPL down for those who do not use their car much and
offering a range of benefits that make it one of the most innovative products on the market. The
main features of this product are:
- opportunities to make savings with the most straightforward low-use MV TPL tariff on the market;
- a special scale of no-claims bonuses for MV TPL which provides free no-claims bonus protection

and a substantial ‘welcome discount’ for customers with the best risk profiles who transfer from
other companies;

- four different Aurobox/Unibox (satellite devices) technological solutions;
- a ‘convenient repair’ option, which provides for vehicles damaged as a result of accidents to be

repaired by UGF Assicurazioni’s approved vehicle repairers;
- protection of the environment as a result of customers agreeing for most of the documentation to

be dealt with online, in exchange for which UGF Assicurazioni finances tree-planting schemes run
by local and provincial authorities in the region where the customer lives.

The product launch was backed by a major advertising campaign in various media (TV, press, radio
and website) during the third quarter of 2010.

COMMUNICATIONS 

Internal communications
Various measures were taken during the first half of 2010 to promote the 2012-2012 Business Plan
within the company:
• 2013 – IL FUTURO, INSIEME (The Future, Together), the meeting held to present the Business

Plan, took place at the Bologna Exhibition Centre on 15 and 17 May 2010 and was attended by all
the Group’s employees and agents.

• During June special meetings were held in the various Departments in order to illustrate the
contents of the Plan, providing more detail and targeting the individual units. 

• In line with the objectives laid down in the Business Plan, the 2010-2012 Internal Communications
Plan was drawn up and presented to senior managers along with information about the
background, communications objectives and strategy, procedure, instruments and schedules.

Sustainability Plan and Sustainability Report
In order to show that it was really serious about sustainability, at the same time as it drew up the
2010-2012 Business Plan the Group also drew up a three-year Sustainability Plan during 2010. 
The correlation between the two Plans was an indication of a targeted strategic approach to
incorporating sustainability into the business, making it the driver of decision-making and
operational processes.
The Sustainability Plan represents the guideline for developing new projects and products, but also
for consolidating existing policies.

The Group published its second annual Sustainability Report in 2010 containing information on the
long-term sustainability of its business, based on a strategy of bringing economic and
profitability/corporate stability objectives ever closer both to social objectives of protecting and
valuing individuals and to environmental objectives of reducing energy consumption and
safeguarding natural resources, the focus being on balancing the interests of the various
stakeholders.

The Sustainability Report contains the following sections:
• Identity shows the features of the Group, with particular attention to the guidelines for growth, the

system of governance and the main changes made during the year at organisational and corporate
level.



• Financial Responsibility reports on the figures in the Consolidated Financial Statements and on
the main changes in the insurance, banking and financial sectors during the year.

• Relations with stakeholders concentrates on reporting the results of the Group’s activity vis-à-vis
its stakeholders, in line with the relevant policies.

• Communications with Group companies describes the strategic and operational features of each
company in the Group, including their different specialisations and procedures.

The Sustainability Report is based on three models of business reporting:
1) the Global Reporting Initiative’s Sustainability Reporting Guidelines and the additional guidelines

specific to the sector;
2) the Social Report Study Group’s ‘Principles of drawing up the Social Report’, especially for the

layout of the table showing how Group added value is determined and distributed;
3) AA1000 Standard issued by Accountability, relating to employee involvement in the process of

business reporting.

INFORMATION SYSTEMS

Insurance business
Under the 2010-2012 Business Plan two main types of IT Services were provided:
1) support for putting into practice the initiatives relating to the business lines laid down in the

Business Plan;
2) support for updating Group IT systems and using new technology.

Most of this work was carried out by:
- developing new solutions and technologies for improving operational efficiency in order to support

the business and increase the availability and quality of the services provided to customers and
- updating and rationalising hardware and software, the aim being to maintain technological

progress while at the same time keeping costs down.

Some of the main IT work carried out during 2010 to support the initiatives laid down in the Plan for
the various business lines is described below:
- in Non-Life business, work focused on developing new unified products for the Unipol and Aurora

networks, rationalising issuing procedures and introducing new estimating procedures based on
new codification methods intended to improve the process of designing new products;

- the new MV product KM Sicuri (Safe Miles) was introduced, which uses a black box installed in
vehicles and offers customers a new tariff per kilometre (pay as you go);

- work continued on developing the Group’s new Life website, which was already being used for
issuing new group and individual policies. One of the new products was ‘UGF Assiconto', which
offers both a bank current account and a policy with guaranteed minimum yield and for the first
time links insurance and banking, including their IT systems;

- in Marketing, the new Group CRM system was launched in the network of company agencies
(Assicoop). A series of operational improvements based on the feedback obtained was made and,
in June 2010, they led to the launch of the first Assicoop automated marketing campaigns and, in
the final quarter, to the launch of a group of pilot agencies operating in private networks;

- in Claims, possible solutions and technologies for implementing the new Group Claims System
were analysed;

- the new IT system that will carry out the work required for compliance with Solvency II was
installed in 2010. It will enable a package for calculating the risk-capital requirements in
accordance with the Standard Formula and the Internal Model to be developed. The new package
will make it easier to calculate capital requirements. Some of the software for calculating the
internal models was installed and configured during the year and the Standard Formula was being
automated to comply with the latest changes in legislation (QIS5).
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Some of the developments in the Group IT systems aimed at increasing the availability and quality of
services are listed below:
- the work of reconfiguring all the Group’s Contact Centres (Sertel, Unisalute, Linear and UGF

Banca) into a new single platform for the whole Group, which had begun in Autumn 2009, was
completed in April 2009. The new joint platform made it possible to reduce the technology gaps in
the old solutions and to overcome operational problems, thus improving the quality of service and
at the same time reducing operating costs;

- the insurance companies’ new Disaster Recovery system was trialled in December, thus enabling
the Group to use state-of-the-art technology and minimise the risks of down-time, in line with the
Business Continuity Management Plan.

When IT services were updated account was taken not only of technological and operational
requirements but also of social and environmental responsibility. Various measures specifically
targeted reducing the environmental impact and operating costs by reducing the consumption of
electricity for operating and cooling the equipment and account was taken of the need to dispose of
obsolete equipment and to minimise travel between the Group’s various offices.

Banking business
Extensive reorganisation took place in 2010 and involved all areas:
- the most difficult project was transferring the IT system to the new outsourcer, Cedacri. Head

office and the entire sales network began to use the new system on 4 January 2010;
- a new costing system was introduced. The new procedure calculates Other Administrative Expenses

precisely, putting purchase requests through a structured authorisation process, the purpose of
which is to monitor efficiency by keeping costs down commensurate with business growth;

- major work was carried out on the system of making payments online following the coming into
force of Legislative Decree 11/2010, which incorporated the EU Payment Services Directive. The
payment services for which adjustments to procedures and the way contracts were drawn up were
made were transfers and the main receipt and payments services (cash order, direct debit, advice
of payment, etc);

- software for monitoring loans (performing and non-performing) was introduced. Under the ICC
project (Iter Controllo Credit – Credit Monitoring Procedure) the credit management procedure was
revised, with the focus on the internal monitoring procedure and action on performing loans. The
ICC is an automated program that assists with credit control. It targets performing customers who
present anomalies and customers already classified as ‘subject to monitoring' or on the list of
persistent defaulters;

- the CRM project (Customer Relationship Management) was launched in the first half of 2010. The
CRM project implemented an integrated and comprehensive system of promoting and
strengthening the Bank’s marketing activities, focusing on the customer. The computerised
marketing system (Sim Web and CRM3) assists the entire sales process:
- planning and monitoring marketing
- selecting target markets
- identifying potential customers
- preparing to contact customers
- recording results.

The software was introduced into all the Business Centres and all the Branches;
- the annual disaster recovery and operational continuity tests required by legislation were carried out in

December. They tested the Bank’s ability to deal with an emergency, the effectiveness of its crisis
management procedure and response times.



RELATIONS WITH THE REVENUE AGENCY

The work of checking the accounts of the former Aurora Assicurazioni, which was merged into the
Parent UGF, in September 2007 after the contribution of its insurance business, was completed on
30 September 2010 with the issuing of a Formal Notice of Assessment. The work had begun on 
12 January 2010 by officials from the Lombardy Major Taxpayers Office, covered the 2006 tax year
and was later broadened to cover some cost items from 2005. In some cases the Notice of
Assessment related to the fact that the matter had been dealt with by a different tax office and in
others to how the regulations, including those relating to book-keeping, had been interpreted.
The company had already received the notice of assessment for 2005 and, assisted by its tax
advisers, had already appealed to the Provincial Tax Commission in Milan. A similar procedure will
be followed on receipt of the notice of assessment for 2006.
The tax advisers helped to analyse all the comments in the Formal Notice of Assessment and, as a
result of their findings, appropriate amounts were added to the provision for taxation.

The work of checking UGF for the 2007 tax year, begun on 11 February 2010 by officials from the
Emilia Romagna Major Taxpayers Office, was completed on 22 December 2010 with the issue of a
Formal Notice of Assessment. In some cases the Notice of Assessment related to the fact that the
matter had been dealt with by a different tax office and in others to how the regulations on the tax-
deductibility of some costs had been interpreted.
The Regional Office was contacted so that the Company could put forward its views on the tax-
deductibility of several disputed costs.
The tax advisers helped to analyse all the comments in the Formal Notice of Assessment and, as a
result of their findings, appropriate amounts were added to the provision for taxation.

During December 2010, UGF received several notices of assessment relating to two property sales
carried out in 2005, disputing the capital gain, which was alleged to be higher than declared.
These documents were analysed with the assistance of the company’s tax advisers, the notices of
assessment made by the Emilia Romagna Regional Office were deemed to be unfounded, in
accordance with the law the documents were to be contested in the courts and, consequently, no
amounts were set aside.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

As regards the information referred to in CONSOB Ruling 17221 of 12 March 2010, which came into
force on 1 December 2010, no transactions with related parties ‘of major relevance’ took place
during the year and neither did any transactions that, according to Article 2427, para. 2, of the Italian
Civil Code, had any significant effect on UGF’s financial position and results of operations.

As provided for in Article 4, para. 7, of this Regulation, UGF adopted the ‘Procedure for carrying out
transactions with related parties', which was approved by the Board of Directors on 11 November 2010
and subsequently by the Boards of Directors of the other companies in the UGF Group and published
in the Corporate Governance Section of UGF’s website (www.unipolgf.it).
The Procedure lays down the rules, procedures and standards for ensuring the transparency and the
substantial and procedural accuracy of transactions with related parties carried out by UGF directly
or through subsidiaries.

The information required by IAS 24 and CONSOB Communication DEM/6064293/2006 is contained in
paragraph 5.5 of the Notes to the financial statements – Transactions with related parties.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
AND BUSINESS OUTLOOK 
As already shown in the information on business performance, the contribution of Navale
Assicurazioni’s insurance business to UGF Assicurazioni and the merger of Navale Assicurazioni into
the holding company, UGF, took effect for legal, accounting and tax purposes on 1 January 2011.
Thus Navale became part of UGF Assicurazioni and its third operating Division after Unipol and
Aurora.
On completion of the merger, UGF’s share capital rose from €2,698,895,169.10 to €2,699,066,930.11
on 1 January 2011.

Navale Vita’s Board of Directors voted on 15 February 2010 to move Navale Vita into selling Life
policies online for strategic purposes, in line with the growth targets for Life business identified by
the UGF Group. For the purpose of this move and in order to take advantage of synergies with Linear,
Navale Vita changed its name to Linear Life SpA on 1 January 2011 and moved its registered office
from Rome to Bologna.
As Navale Assicurazioni’s investment in Navale Vita was not included in the contribution, its controlling
investment in Navale Vita, now Linear Life SpA, was transferred when it was merged into UGF.

During February 2011, UGF Banca acquired the non-controlling interests in UGF Merchant, which
represented 13.82% of the share capital, making it the sole owner of UGF Merchant’s share capital.

In February – as part of the criminal proceedings in the Milan Court relating to the attempted take-
over by the then Banca Popolare di Lodi of the Banca Antonveneta S.p.A., during which, under
Legislative Decree 231 of 8 June 2001 as amended and supplemented, UGF’s administrative
responsibility for these companies was disputed as a result of the question of whether the
Company’s then Chairman and Vice Chairman had manipulated the market and prevented the
supervisory authorities from acting – the Public Prosecutor concluded by asking the Milan Court to
fine the Company €1.1m and to confiscate €39.6m as ‘the proceeds of crime’. The latter sum
corresponds exactly to the capital gain actually made by UGF as a result of the sale to ABN-Amro on
16 March 2006 of its entire investment in Antonveneta’s share capital. According to the Company's
defence counsel there were valid and objective legal arguments for opposing the Prosecutor's request
since, quite apart from the fact that in this case there was no direct correlation between the gain and
the offence of which the former directors were accused, the Public Prosecutor’s request related to the
entire capital gain and gave no separate indication of which acquisitions had given rise to it: in fact
deducting the profit made on the investment acquired by UGF in the two-year period 2002 – 2004
from the ‘final’ capital gain revealed that when the Company sold the shares it had purchased during
the charging period (November 2004 – May 2005) it made a loss and not a capital gain.
The macroeconomic situation continues to be critical in 2011 and is characterised by unexpected
political instability in various north African countries. These events are causing Italy’s energy bill to
rise since we are more exposed to energy imports than other economies, and this is weakening the
prospects for an upturn in the Italian economy.
The recent catastrophes in Japan are also affecting the performance of the world’s main financial
markets, which are concerned by the impact that these events are having on the entire Japanese
economy and by the high costs that will have to be incurred for restoring the country’s infrastructure
and cleaning up the environment.



Against this background the Group’s investment policies continue to be based on the maximum
prudence and include maintaining a high level of liquidity commensurate with the lower profile of
liabilities, rigorously assessing the creditworthiness of new investments and maintaining hedging
strategies that can cope with the rise in interest rates.

The performance of the Group’s insurance business during the period immediately following the
closure of the 2010 financial statements showed an upturn in UGF Assicurazioni’s Life premiums
and in bancassurance income thanks to the contribution made by the Arca Group, which was not
consolidated in the first half of 2010.
Non-Life underwriting policies remain very rigorous, which continues to have a positive effect by
further reducing MV TPL claims reported and improving claims frequency. These policies involve
reducing the size of the network of multi-firm agencies in UGF Assicurazioni's Navale division and
Arca Assicurazioni. Sales in the single-purpose companies Linear and Unisalute continue to grow,
with the recent addition to their client portfolios of several major businesses and organisations.

On the basis of the results obtained in 2010 and further work to improve the performance of the
operating companies, the Group has set itself the goal of a further growth in profits in 2011, as laid
down in the 2010-2012 Business Plan.

Bologna, 24 March 2011

The Board of Directors
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
ASSETS 31/12/2010 31/12/2009

1 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 2,057.8 1,916.6
1.1 Goodwill 1,942.0 1,853.0
1.2 Other intangible assets 115.9 63.6

2 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 660.2 595.8
2.1 Property 607.4 544.3
2.2 Other property, plant and equipment 52.8 51.5

3 TECHNICAL PROVISIONS - REINSURERS’ SHARE 460.4 457.1

4 INVESTMENTS 33,815.3 39,765.0
4.1 Investment property 196.8 196.8
4.2 Investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures 46.5 43.8
4.3 Held-to-maturity investments 1,823.0 1,779.7
4.4 Loans and receivables 14,754.6 14,785.8
4.5 Available-for-sale financial assets 13,023.6 15,313.8
4.6 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3,970.7 7,645.1

5 SUNDRY RECEIVABLES 1,894.5 1,803.2
5.1 Receivables relating to direct insurance business 893.5 1,018.9
5.2 Receivables relating to reinsurance business 60.8 74.6
5.3 Other receivables 940.2 709.6

6 OTHER ASSETS 12,634.4 901.7
6.1 Non-current assets held for sale or disposal groups 11,811.9 0.4
6.2 Deferred acquisition costs 21.1 26.3
6.3 Deferred tax assets 509.8 549.1
6.4 Current tax assets 22.4 85.5
6.5 Other assets 269.2 240.4

7 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 231.8 221.5

TOTAL ASSETS 51,754.4 45,660.8

Amounts in €m
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 31/12/2010 31/12/2009

1 EQUITY 4,020.8 3,826.2

1.1 attributable to owners of the Parent 3,648.3 3,585.3
1.1.1 Share capital 2,698.9 2,391.4
1.1.2 Other equity instruments
1.1.3 Equity-related reserves 1,506.3 1,419.6
1.1.4 Income-related and other reserves 56.2 929.1
1.1.5 (Treasury shares) -0.2 -0.1
1.1.6 Translation reservee
1.1.7 Gains or losses on available-for-sale financial assets -643.2 -393.4
1.1.8 Other gains or losses recognised directly in equity -1.5 10.7
1.1.9 Profit (loss) for the year attributable to owners of the Parent 31.8 -771.9

1.2 attributable to non-controlling interests 372.5 240.9
1.2.1 Share capital and reserves attributable to non-controlling interests 356.4 240.0
1.2.2 Gains or losses recognised directly in equity -23.3 -2.5
1.2.3 Profit (loss) for the year attributable to non-controlling interests 39.4 3.3

2 PROVISIONS 85.0 101.1

3 TECHNICAL PROVISIONS 22,245.9 28,286.4

4 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 12,653.3 12,198.4
4.1 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 1,472.6 2,104.5
4.2 Other financial liabilities 11,180.8 10,093.9

5 PAYABLES 451.5 415.2
5.1 Payables arising from direct insurance business 60.0 55.4
5.2 Payables arising from reinsurance business 30.4 22.5
5.3 Other payables 361.2 337.3

6 OTHER LIABILITIES 12,297.8 833.4
6.1 Liabilities associated with disposal groups 11,385.9 0.0
6.2 Deferred tax liabilities 266.2 204.7
6.3 Current tax liabilities 23.9 116.9
6.4 Other liabilities 621.8 511.9

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 51,754.4 45,660.8

Amounts in €m
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CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT 31/12/2010 31/12/2009

1.1 Net premiums 8,798.1 9,420.4
1.1.1 Gross premiums 8,939.3 9,543.9
1.1.2 Ceded premiums -141.2 -123.5

1.2 Commission income 125.0 106.9

1.3 Gains and losses on remeasurement of financial instruments 
at fair value through profit or loss -51.4 328.9

1.4 Gains on investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and interests in joint ventures 1.4 0.5

1.5 Gains on other financial instruments and investment property 1,680.1 1,368.5
1.5.1 Interest income 1,194.7 1,091.1
1.5.2 Other gains 97.8 69.9
1.5.3 Realised gains 346.3 205.2
1.5.4 Gains 41.3 2.2

1.6 Other income 128.9 139.7

1 TOTAL REVENUE AND INCOME 10,682.1 11,364.8

2.1 Net charges relating to claims 8,472.7 9,474.1
2.1.1 Amounts paid and changes in technical provisions 8,528.3 9,537.1
2.1.2 Reinsurers' share -55.7 -63.1

2.2 Commission expense 28.3 27.6

2.3 Losses on investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures 1.1 0.2

2.4 Losses on other financial instruments and investment property 436.0 1,249.8
2.4.1 Interest expense 218.6 193.8
2.4.2 Other charges 10.9 10.0
2.4.3 Realised losses 70.8 57.7
2.4.4 Unrealised losses 135.7 988.3

2.5 Operating expenses 1,363.6 1,365.8
2.5.1 Commissions and other acquisition costs 866.0 873.8
2.5.2 Investment management expenses 15.6 13.0
2.5.3 Other administrative expenses 482.0 479.0

2.6 Other costs 210.3 220.6

2 TOTAL COSTS AND EXPENSES 10,512.0 12,338.0

PRE-TAX PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 170.1 -973.2

3 Income tax 99.0 -204.6

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 71.2 -768.6

attributable to the owners of the Parent 31.8 -771.9
attributable to non-controlling interests 39.4 3.3

Amounts in €m
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
NET AMOUNTS 31/12/2010 31/12/2009

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 71.2 -768.6
Variations in translation reserves
Gains or losses on available-for-sale financial assets -270.5 997.6
Gains or losses on cash flow hedges -12.3 -10.7
Gains or losses on hedges of a net investment in foreign operations
Variation in equity of investees
Variation in the reserve for intangible assets
Variation in the reserve for property, plant and equipment
Gains or losses on non-current assets held for sale or disposal groups 
Actuarial gains and losses and adjustments relating 
to defined benefit plans
Other items

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR -282.8 986.9

TOTAL CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE) 
FOR THE YEAR -211.6 218.3

attributable to the owners of the Parent -230.2 149.5
attributable to non-controlling interests 18.6 68.8

Amounts in €m
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Amounts in €m At Changes Amounts Reclassification Transfers At Changes Amounts Reclassifi- Transfers At
31/12/2008 to closing allocated to the 31/12/2009 to closing allocated cation 31/12/2010

balancees Income balancees to the
Statement Income

Statement

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE
TO THE OWNERS OF THE PARENT

Share capital 2,391.4 2,391.4 307.5 2,698.9
Other equity instruments
Equity-related reserves 1,419.7 -0.1 1,419.6 86.7 1,506.3
Income-related 
and other reserves 833.2 95.9 929.1 -772.5 -100.4 56.2
(Treasury shares) -0.1 -0.1 0.0 -0.2
Profit (loss) for the year 92.6 -771.9 -92.6 -771.9 31.8 771.9 31,8
Other comprehensive 
income (loss) -1,304.1 578.6 646.6 -303.8 -382.7 0.0 -212.9 -56.4 7.3 -644.7

Total attributable to owners 
of the Parent 3,432.7 0.0 -97.6 646.6 -396.4 3,585.3 0.0 -559.5 -56.4 678.9 3,648.3

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE
TO NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Share capital and reserves 
attributable to non-controlling 
interests 326.0 -86.0 240.0 116.4 356.4
Profit (loss) for the year 14.7 3.3 -14.7 3.3 39.4 -3.3 39.4
Other comprehensive income -67.9 28.5 37.0 -2.5 -3.5 -17.3 -23.3

Total attributable to 
non-controlling interests 272.8 0.0 -54.2 37.0 -14.7 240.9 0.0 152.3 -17.3 -3.3 372.5 

TOTAL 3,705.5 0.0 -151.7 683.6 -411.1 3,826.2 0.0 -407.2 -73.7 675.5 4,020.8  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY



UNIPOL GRUPPO FINANZIARIO

2010 CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

57

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
(INDIRECT METHOD) 31/12/2010 31/12/2009

Pre-tax profit (loss) for the year 170.1 -973.2

Change in non-monetary items 2,322.4 3,552.0

Change in Non-Life premium provision -15.3 -33.8
Change in claims provision and other Non-Life technical provisions -261.7 229.6
Change in mathematical provisions and other Life technical provisions 2,038.0 2,868.8
Change in deferred acquisition costs 5.1 14.8
Change in provisions -19.0 20.3
Non-monetary gains and losses on financial instruments, 
investment property and investments 105.3 791,1
Other changes 470.0 -338.8

Change in receivables and payables generated by operating activities -159.1 -137.1

Change in receivables and payables relating 
to direct insurance and reinsurance 169.8 18.4
Change in other receivables and payables -328.9 -155.5

Taxes paid -73.2 -39.3

Net cash flows generated by/used for monetary items 
from investing and financing activities 465.4 -1,194.8

Liabilities from financial contracts issued by insurance companies -982.7 -587.5
Payables to banks and interbank customers 1,169.4 -716.3
Loans and receivables from banks and interbank customers -340.6 -974.4
Other financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 619.3 1,083.5

TOTAL NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES        2,725.5 1,207.7

Net cash flow generated by/used for investment property -1.8 25.3
Net cash flow generated by/used for investmens in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures (*) -178.1 -4.7
Net cash flow generated by/used for loans and receivables -231.0 -473.9
Net cash flow generated by/used for held-to-maturity investments -1.0 7.3
Net cash flow generated by/used for available-for-sale financial assets -2.401.9 -3,012.9
Net cash flow generated by/used for property, 
plant & equipment and intangible assets -95.1 -149.3
Other net cash flows generated by/used for investing activities 0.4 1.0

TOTAL NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS GENERATED 
BY/USED FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES   -2,908.5 -3,607.2

Net cash and cash equivalents generated by/used for equity 
instruments attributable to the owners of the Parent 394.2 -0.1
Net cash and cash equivalents generated by/used for treasury shares 0.1
Dividends distributed attributable to the owners of the Parent -100.4
Net cash and cash equivalents generated by/used for share capital 
and reserves attributable to non-controlling interests -1.1 -100.7
Net cash and cash equivalents generated by/used for subordinated 
liabilities and equity instruments -32.4 334.5
Net cash and cash equivalents generated by/used 
for other financial liabilities -50.2 2,042.7

TOTAL NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS GENERATED BY/USED 
FOR FINANCING ACTIVITIES 210.2 2,276.4

Effect of exchange rate gains/losses on cash and cash equivalents 0.0 0.0

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 JANUARY 221.5 344.6

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 27.2 -123.1

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER (**) 248.7 221.5

Amounts in €m

(*) Includes the difference between
price paid for 60% of Arca Vita 
and the liquidity worth €170.3m
transferred as a result 
of the acquisition

(**) Available cash and equivalents 
at the end of the year included
non-current assets held for sale
or disposal groups (€16.9m)
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NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The UGF Group, consisting of the Parent Unipol Gruppo Finanziario (“UGF”) and its subsidiaries,
operates in all Non-Life and Life insurance and reinsurance business, may issue investment
contracts and may set up and manage open-ended pension funds. It also operates in banking
business.

The Parent UGF is a joint-stock company, has its registered office in Bologna (Italy) and is listed on
the Milan Stock Exchange.

UGF’s Consolidated Financial Statements are drawn up in accordance with Article 154-ter of
Legislative Decree 58/1998 (TUF) and ISVAP Ruling 7 of 13 July 2007, as amended by ISVAP Ruling
2784 of 8 March 2010. They conform to the IFRS issued by IASB and endorsed by the European
Union, along with the interpretations issued by IFRIC, in accordance with the provisions of EC
Regulation 1606/2002 in force at the reporting date.
The layout (statement of financial position, income statement, statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and other statements) conforms to the
provisions of ISVAP Ruling 7 of 13 July 2007, Part III and subsequent modifications relating to the
layout of the consolidated financial statements of insurance and reinsurance companies that must
adopt IFRS.
The information requested in CONSOB Communication DEM/6064293 of 28 July 2006 is also
provided.

As a result of the intended sale by UGF of 51% of BNL Vita the consolidated figures in this document
are set out in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 5, with no effect on the consolidated equity nor
on the consolidated results. In particular, on the statement of consolidated financial position, the
assets of the company to be sold have been reclassified under a single item known as ‘Non-current
assets held for sale or disposal groups’ (item 6.1 of the Assets) whilst the corresponding liabilities
have been similarly reclassified under a single item known as ‘Liabilities associated with disposal
groups’ (item 6.1 of the Liabilities). Both items are net of operations within the group.
As the sale of BNL Vita does not come under 'discontinued operations' since the UGF Group
continued to operate in bancassurance with the companies in the Arca Group, the income-statement
items are set out in accordance with the normal rules of consolidation on a line-by-line basis.
Details of the assets and liabilities reclassified are set out in paragraph 5.4.

The presentation currency is the euro and all the amounts shown in these notes are in €m, except
when specifically indicated, rounded to one decimal place, therefore the sum of the individual
amounts is not always identical to the total.

The consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2010 were audited by KPMG SpA, engaged to
perform the legally required audit of the company’s accounts for the period 2006-2011.

Scope of consolidation

The Group’s consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2010 have been drawn up by
combining the figures of the Parent UGF and those for the subsidiaries, both direct and indirect 
(IAS 27). Subsidiaries deemed to be too small to be of relevance are excluded from the consolidated
financial statements. 



There are no jointly-controlled interests.
Associates, in which the investment percentage ranges between 20% and 50%, and subsidiaries
considered not to be significant, are measured using the equity method (IAS 28).

Investments consolidated on a line-by-line basis and those measured using the equity method are
listed in the tables showing the Scope of consolidation and Details of unconsolidated investments
respectively, which are appended to these Notes.

Changes in the scope of consolidation compared with 31 December 2009

On 22 June 2010 the Parent, UGF SpA, paid €269.8m for 9,000,000 shares in Arca Vita SpA,
representing 60% of its share capital, by:
- paying €93.3m to the Banca Popolare di Sondrio for 3,750,000 shares in Arca Vita SpA, or 25% of

the share capital;
- paying €145.3m to EM.RO Popolare SpA for 4,320,550 shares in Arca Vita SpA, or 28.8% of the

share capital;
- paying €31.2m to Meliorbanca SpA for 929,450 shares in Arca Vita SpA, or 6.2% of the share

capital.
Also on 22 June 2010 Arca Vita SpA acquired from companies in the Banca Popolare dell’Emilia
Romagna Banking Group (BPER) and from Banca Popolare di Sondrio (BPSO), and on 30 June 2010
from other shareholders who had exercised their right to withdraw (Banca Popolare di Marostica,
Credito Siciliano and Banca Popolare di Sant’Angelo) a total of 2,295,918 shares in the subsidiary
Arca Assicurazioni SpA, or 31.56% of its share capital, for €46.8m, bringing the total controlled to
95.64%.

On 4 August 2010 UGF Banca paid €2.5m for 49.02% of the share capital of CampusCertosa Srl. 
The company is a business consultancy registered in Milan which deals with administration,
management and corporate planning and has share capital of €5,100,000.

The meeting to incorporate Holcoa SpA was held on 30 July 2010. The aims and objectives of the
company, which is registered in Rome, are the construction of roads, motorways and airport
runways. Its share capital is €1,000,000, €250,000 of which is paid up. UGF Merchant subscribed to
20% of the shares, totalling €0.2m, paying €50,000 when the company was incorporated. 
The company had not started operating by 31 December 2010.

Operations carried out on the capital of participating interests and the other non-recurring
operations carried out during 2010 that did not affect the scope of consolidation are set out below,
broken down according to participating company:

• UGF
- paid €90,000,000 drawn from the reserve for future share capital increases to increase the share

capital of the subsidiary BNL Vita on 10 August 2010. The share capital rose from €160,000,000 to
€250,000,000. UGF’s investment remained the same at 51%;

- underwrote €34.8m of Arca Vita’s share capital increase and paid €1.2m for unopted shares. 
The share capital increase was recorded on 4 January 2011 and UGF's share of Arca Vita rose from
60% to 60.84%, represented by 14,601,669 shares;

- paid €100m to the subsidiary UGF Assicurazioni on 22 December 2010 for a future share capital
increase (reclassified in January 2011 as share capital injection);

- paid a total of €95m in several tranches to the subsidiary Navale Assicurazioni for a future share
capital increase;

- acquired 8,750 shares of the subsidiary UniSalute on 28 December 2010 at a unit price of €4.92.
UGF’s investment in UniSalute rose from 98.48% to 98.53% as a result of this transaction;

- paid a total of €0.9m in two tranches to the subsidiary Ambra Property for a future share capital
increase.
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• UGF Assicurazioni
- paid €29.5m to the subsidiary Midi for its share capital increase. Midi’s share capital amounted to

€107,000,000 at 31 December 2010;
- paid €51.5m to the subsidiary Unifimm for its share capital increase, €30m drawn from the reserve

for future share capital increases. Unifimm’s share capital amounted to €94,850,000 at 31
December 2010;

- the associate business unit of the Hotel Villaggio Città del Mare was sold to the Gruppo Turistico
Mediterraneo SpA in December. In their Extraordinary Meeting held on 30 December 2010 the
Company’s shareholders voted to go into voluntary liquidation and appointed the liquidator. The
decision was recorded in the Palermo Company Register on 24 January 2011 and the Company
took the name of ‘Hotel Villaggio Città del Mare in liquidation’.

• Arca Vita
- On 28 December 2010 the subsidiary Arca Vita purchased the Banca Popolare del Lazio’s entire

holding in Arca Assicurazioni, 1.35% of its share capital, for €1.8m. After this acquisition Arca Vita
held 7,056,080 shares in Arca Assicurazioni, or 96.99% of its share capital.

• UGF Banca
- The share capital of the subsidiary Unicard fell from €2,080,000 to €1,388,400 to cover losses and

was subsequently increased, on 10 November 2010, to €2,355,600. The subsidiary UGF Banca was
owned 53.39% at 31 December 2010.

Reporting date

The reporting date of the consolidated financial statements is 31 December 2010, the date the
annual financial statements of the Parent UGF closed. All the consolidated companies closed their
financial statements on 31 December with the exception of the associate Pegaso Finanziaria SpA,
which closed its latest financial statements on 30 June and for which interim financial statements up
to the date of the consolidated financial statements have been used. 
With the exception of the companies belonging to the UGF Banca banking group, the consolidated
financial statements were drawn up using restatements of the separate financial statements of the
consolidated companies adjusted to comply with the IFRS, as applied by the Parent UGF and
approved by the Boards of Directors of the companies concerned. The companies in the UGF Banca
Group draw up separate financial statements by applying the IFRS.

Notes on acquisitions made during the year

Arca Group

On 22 June 2010, having obtained the necessary authorisation from the relevant authorities both in
Italy and abroad, the Parent, UGF SpA, bought 60% of the share capital of Arca Vita SpA from
companies in the BPER Banking Group and from BPSO for €269.8m. At the same time, Arca Vita SpA
bought a further 28.95% of the share capital of Arca Assicurazioni SpA, 64.08% of which it already
held, from the BPER Group and BPSO for €43.3m and paid €3.5m to other shareholders exercising
the right to withdraw for a further 2.6%.
The Arca Group, which mainly consists of Arca Vita (operating in Life assurance) and Arca
Assicurazioni (operating in Non-Life insurance), sells its insurance products through 2,159 branches
of numerous banks, mainly cooperatives (the main ones, with some 1,600 branches, being BPER and
BPSO), and through its network of insurance agencies (206 at 31/12/2010). The other companies in
the Group are Arca Inlinea, Arca Sistemi, Arca Vita International, Arca Direct Assicurazioni, Isi
Insurance, Isi Insurance Direct, Omega 2004 in liquidation and B&A Brokers.
The Arca Group, BPER and BPSO have signed sole distribution agreements for insurance products,
which will run until 31 December 2019 and may be renewed.



The partnership will enable the UGF Group to develop both its Life and Non-Life bancassurance
business in line with the 2010-2012 Business Plan by entering into a long-term relationship with
some of the leading Italian banks, with which it shares values and a market.

The contractual agreements stipulate that the cost of purchasing these shares may be adjusted and
spread over a period depending on whether specific targets are reached.
To be specific, a clause in the contract provides for the price to be adjusted if future business
results/profitability are above (earn out) or below (earn in) the targets laid down in the contract for
the period 2010-2019 and used by the parties as a benchmark. The earn in/earn out will be
calculated once a year and a provisional financial adjustment will be made between the parties in
2014 (5th year) and a final adjustment in 2019 (10th year).
If annual volumes of new Life business during the period in question exceed the targets laid down in
the contract (the ‘Life Targets') UGF may have to pay Arca Vita an additional amount up to a
maximum of €22.3m (earn out). On the other hand, if the Life Targets are not achieved, UGF may be
entitled to repayment of part of the amount paid up to a maximum of €40.1m (earn in).
Similarly in the case of Non-Life business carried out through the sole distributors, the banking
networks, the price will be adjusted if the core margin net of commissions (the 'Margin') is not in line
with the targets laid down in the contract (the ‘Non-Life Targets'). If the Non-Life Targets are
exceeded,  UGF may have to make an additional payment of up to €14.6m (earn out). On the other
hand, if the Non-Life Targets are not reached, UGF may be entitled to repayment of part of the
amount paid up to a maximum of €24.3m (earn in).
Having acquired 28.95% of Arca Assicurazioni, Arca Vita will have to make an additional payment up
to a maximum of €11m if the Margin exceeds the Non-Life Targets (the UGF Group’s pro rata
contribution being €6.6m). However, if the Margin falls short of the Non-Life Targets, Arca Vita will
be entitled to repayment of part of the amount paid up to a maximum of €18.3m (the UGF Group’s
pro rata share being €11m).
The contract does not provide for any other adjustments to the purchase price.

The price adjustments described above constitute a potential payment that helps to determine the
total payment for the acquisition of the majority investment in the Arca Group. Under the multiyear
plan this potential payment was expected to be €4.9m.

The values of the identifiable assets acquired and identifiable liabilities assumed on the date they
were acquired, reestimated after acquisition, are summarised in the following table.
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Amounts at
acquisition date

Intangible assets 49.8
Property, plant and equipment 14.6

Property 13.1
Other property, plant and equipment 1.5

Technical provisions - reinsurers’ share 62.6
Investments 3,792.8

Investments in subsidiaries and associates and interests in joint ventures 0.5
Loans and receivables 27.8
Available-for-sale financial assets 2,720.8
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,043.7

Sundry receivables and other assets 110.4
Cash and cash equivalents 218.3
Accruals to provisions -0.5
Technical provisions -2,874.2
Financial liabilities -1,035.2
Payables and Other liabilities -102.9

Total identifiable net assets 235.6

On the basis of these values, goodwill of €136.6m was recorded on this acquisition, calculated as
follows (in €m):

Payment made on the date of purchase and potential payment 274.7
Non-controlling interests in Arca Vita 97.4
Net value of identifiable assets and liabilities -235.6

Value of goodwill 136.6

Non-controlling interests in the Arca Group were measured in proportion to the portion of non-
controlling interests in the identifiable net assets of the acquired investment.

As a result of information subsequently obtained on facts and circumstances on the date of
acquisition, the provisional figures described in the notes to the interim consolidated financial
statements at  30 June 2010 were adjusted as follows:
- value of the Life portfolio acquired from €28.1m to €42.8m;
- fair value of the buildings in which the companies in the Arca Group have their registered offices

from €13.4m to €13.1m on the basis of an up-to-date independent expert valuation;
- deferred taxation adjusted to the new values;
- €4.9m increase in the potential payment under the contract.

The €5.8m ancillary costs for various legal, advisory and consultancy fees were allocated in full in 2009,
the year in which they were incurred.

If the Arca Group had been part of the UGF Group as from 1 January 2010, UGF's consolidated
income statement for 2010 would have included further revenue of €537.8m and a further net profit
of approximately €4.2m.

Basis of consolidation

Companies consolidated on a line-by-line basis
This method provides for the consolidation on a line-by-line basis of the assets, liabilities, income
and charges of companies as from the date they were acquired, with the carrying amount of the
investment eliminated being offset against the corresponding amount of the equity of each individual
subsidiary and, in the case of investments not wholly owned, the separate recognition of the amount
of the equity and the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to non-controlling interests.

Amounts in €m



The amount of equity attributable to non-controlling interests is recognised under equity as ‘Equity
attributable to non-controlling interests', whilst the relevant amount of the consolidated profit or loss
is shown under ‘Profit (loss) for the year attributable to non-controlling interests'.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are consolidated on a line-by-line basis with the
exception of those that are so small that the equity method is used. Three special-purpose
companies are also consolidated on a line-by-line basis. These are the vehicles used by UGF Banca
for securitisations which, whilst not being subsidiaries, are consolidated as laid down in SIC 12. 

Goodwill 
If the cost of acquiring investments in subsidiaries and associates exceeds the fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, the excess amount is recognised as goodwill
under intangible assets.
This goodwill represents a payment made in the expectation of future economic benefits arising out
of assets that cannot be identified individually and recognised separately.
In the years following the year of acquisition, goodwill is measured at cost, net of any impairment
losses accumulated. 
Since 2010 (new IFRS 3) the ancillary costs of acquisition operations have been recorded in the
income statement during the year in which they are incurred or the services provided.

Under the new IAS 27 (paras 30-31) variations in an investment in a subsidiary that do not lead to
loss of control are recorded as equity transactions. Any difference between the proportion of equity
acquired in the subsidiary and the fair value of the price paid or received is recorded directly in equity
and allocated to the members of the holding company.

Companies consolidated on a proportionate basis
There were no jointly-controlled interests at 31 December 2010.

Companies measured using the equity method
When this method is used, the carrying amount of the investment is adjusted according to the
relevant fraction of equity, including the profit/loss for the year and all the adjustments made when
consolidation is on a line-by-line basis. Any difference between the portion of equity acquired and the
fair value of the price paid (goodwill) is recorded directly in the carrying amount of the investment.

Elimination of intercompany transactions
When the consolidated financial statements are drawn up the amounts receivable and payable
between companies included in the consolidation, the income and charges relating to transactions
carried out between these companies and the profits and losses resulting from transactions carried
out between these companies and not yet carried out with parties external to the Group are
eliminated.

Segment reporting

The scope of segment reporting is based on the major types of business in which the Group operates:
- Non-Life business
- Life business
- Banking business
- Holding and Services business and other activities.

No segment reporting based on geographical areas has been produced since the Group operates
mainly on a national level and there appears to be no significant difference in the risks and benefits,
according to the type of business activity carried out, that can be correlated with the economic
situation in the individual regions. 
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements are drawn up on the assumption that the company will continue as a
going concern. It is in fact reasonably certain that companies belonging to the UGF Group have
sufficient resources to ensure that they will continue to operate for the foreseeable future. In
addition, the liquidity risk is deemed to be very remote.

New standards
IFRS 3 – Business Combinations (EC Reg. 495/2009 of 3/6/2009) and IAS 27 – Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements (EC Reg. 494/2009 of 3/6/2009)

The new revised versions of IFRS 3 and IAS 27, issued by IASB on 10 January 2008, came into effect
on 1 January 2010, thus bringing the second phase of the business combinations project to an end.
The main amendments related to:
- Scope: the new version also applies to mergers between mutuals and to those carried out without

consideration, but it does not apply to mergers between jointly controlled entities
- Costs associated with acquisition: costs associated with acquisition are recorded through profit or

loss in the periods during which the costs are incurred and the services received. The cost of
issuing equity instruments and debt instruments continues to be recognised in accordance with
the provisions of IAS 39.

- Potential consideration based on valuations resulting from information that subsequently comes to light:
if the fair value of the original consideration (on the acquisition date) changes within a year of the
acquisition because figures and information relating to conditions in existence on the acquisition
date subsequently come to light, it is reassessed retroactively.

- Potential consideration as a result of subsequent events: if as a result of events subsequent to the
acquisition, the amount of the potential consideration classified as financial assets or liabilities
differs from the original estimate, the changes are recognised in the income statement.

- Goodwill and non-controlling interests: IFRS 3 now allows the purchaser to record the entire amount
of goodwill paid to the acquired company rather than only the amount corresponding to its own
interest, therefore including the proportion of ‘non-controlling interests’ ('full goodwill method').

- Combinations achieved in stages: investments made in an entity before control is obtained are
recorded in accordance with IAS 28, 31 or 39, depending on the circumstances. On the date on
which control is obtained, the fair values of the assets (including goodwill, whether ascertained
using the ‘full goodwill method’ or not) and of the liabilities of the entity acquired are ascertained,
and the fair value of the previous investment is reassessed on the basis of the fair value on the date
control is acquired, the difference being recorded through profit or loss.

- Sale of an investment in a subsidiary of which control is retained: this transaction is recorded in equity
as a transaction between the holders of the interests and not as profits or losses.

- Sale of an investment in a subsidiary of which control is lost: under this transaction the investment
that is still held is recorded at fair value and the difference between that and the carrying amount
is recorded in the income statement as profit or loss; the investment retained is subsequently
subject to the provisions of IAS 28, 31 or 39, depending on the circumstances.

- Acquisition of further shares in an existing subsidiary: this transaction is recorded in equity as a
transaction between the holders of the interests and goodwill is not recalculated.

- Sale of an investment in an associate or a joint venture: this transaction is recorded in equity as a
transaction between the holders of the interests and goodwill is not recalculated.

The accounting politcies and the most significant criteria used in drawing up the consolidated
financial statements are set out below.
The paragraph numbers are the same as those of the corresponding items in the Statement of
Financial Position and Income Statement, which are laid out in accordance with ISVAP Ruling 7/2007.



STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS

1 Intangible assets - IAS 38

In accordance with the provisions of IAS 38 only intangible assets that can be identified and
controlled by the company, from which the company will derive financial benefits in future, can be
capitalised. 

The following assets are recorded as intangible assets with a finite life and therefore amortised as
from when they are available for use:
- goodwill paid for the acquisition of Life portfolios: the value of the policies acquired is determined

by estimating the present value of the future cash flows of the existing policies. The Group
amortises this value throughout the expected average residual life. This valuation is reviewed
annually;

- costs incurred for the acquisition of software licences, amortised over three years;
- costs incurred for consultancy on major projects for developing and implementing IT systems,

including personalisation of the relative software, amortised over five or ten years according to
their estimated useful life;

- expenses relating to building work on third party assets, amortised over the term of the rental
agreements concerned.

Projects under development are not amortised until the year in which they are first used.

Goodwill paid when companies are acquired or merged is also included among intangible assets, as
already mentioned in paragraph 1.2. As this goodwill has an indefinite useful life it is not amortised
but is tested for impairment at least once a year, or each time there is any indication of impairment;
impairment losses are recognised in the income statement and cannot be reversed in subsequent
years.

2 Property, plant and equipment - IAS 16

This item includes property used for corporate business, plant, other machinery and equipment.
For recognising and measuring this category of assets the Group has adopted the cost model, which
systematically depreciates the asset’s amortisable amount over its useful life.
Depreciation, which is carried out each year on a straight-line basis, begins when the asset is
available and ready for use and ends when the asset has come to the end of its useful life (which in
the case of buildings is estimated at 30 years). 
In the case of wholly-owned property (land and buildings) depreciation is carried out only on the
building. 

Consolidated property companies include in the carrying amount the borrowing costs incurred for
loans specifically for acquiring and renovating property, if this can be justified.

The costs of improvements and conversions are capitalised if they result in an increase in the useful
life or the carrying amount of the assets.

Assets that suffer impairment losses are impaired. 
The carrying amount of property acquired as a result of business combinations is reassessed on the
basis of the current value on the date of acquisition.
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3 Technical provisions - reinsurers’ share - IFRS 4

This item includes reinsurers’ obligations arising out of reinsurance contracts governed by IFRS 4.

4 Investments

4.1 Investment property - IAS 40
This item includes property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both.
Investment property is recognised by applying the cost method, as allowed by IAS 40 (an alternative
to the fair value method). 
If the final recoverable amount of property is estimated to be less than the carrying amount (or zero)
it is depreciated annually on a straight-line basis, based on the recoverable amount and the
estimated useful life (estimated to be 30 years). This mainly applies to the complex that houses the
Jolly Hotel in Rome (via Pio IV) in view of its particular nature and purpose.
If the recoverable amount of the property is estimated to exceed the carrying amount no depreciation
is applied. In the case of the Group, this applies to residential property.
In the case of wholly-owned property (land and buildings) depreciation is carried out only on the
building.

The costs of improvements and conversions are capitalised if they result in an increase in the
carrying amount, the useful life or the profitability of the assets.

Assets that suffer impairment losses are impaired. The market value is determined at least once a
year by means of expert appraisals conducted by outside companies.

The carrying amount of property acquired as a result of business combinations is reassessed on the
basis of the current value on the date of acquisition.

4.2 Investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures - IAS 28 and 31
This item includes investments in associates as defined in IAS 28 and investments in subsidiaries
that because of their size are considered insignificant, which are measured using the equity method
or at cost.

Financial assets - IAS 32 and 39 - IFRS 7
IAS 39 provides that debt and equity instruments, receivables, payables and derivatives must be
classified according to the purposes for which they are held. The following categories are provided for:
- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
- Available-for-sale financial assets 
- Held-to-maturity investments
- Loans and receivables
There is a specific criterion for recognising and measuring each of these categories.

The Group recognises financial transactions on the date they are measured.

4.3 Held-to-maturity investments
Investments in securities held to maturity are recognised at amortised cost, net of any impairment
losses. 

This category includes bonds that the Group intends and is in a financial position to hold to maturity,
for example most of the fixed-yield bonds acquired to match special Life tariffs.

If a substantial number of securities in this category are sold early (or reclassified), all the remaining
securities must be reclassified as Available-for-sale assets and may not be used for the next two
financial years.



4.4 Loans and receivables
Receivables in this category consist of contracts for which the Group holds a right to the cash flows
arising out of the loan agreement. They are characterised by fixed or ascertainable payments and are
not listed on an active market.
This item consists mainly of loans to customers and banks of the Banking Group. 
This category also includes loans and credit facilities issued by the insurance companies, reinsurers’
deposits, loan repo contracts, term deposits exceeding 15 days, receivables for agents’ recoupments,
unlisted debt securities largely subscribed by the Group and bonds reclassified following application
of IAS 39 paragraphs 50D and 50E.
It also includes bonds that can be converted into unlisted shares held for the purposes of merchant
activities of the subsidiary UGF Merchant, subject to the embedded derivative being separated.

In accordance with the provisions of IAS 39, loans and receivables must be initially recognised at
their fair value, which corresponds to the amount granted including the transaction costs and the
commissions and fees chargeable directly. Following the initial recognition, receivables are
measured at the amortised cost, which is represented by the initial carrying amount net of
repayments, plus or minus any difference between the initial amount and the amount on maturity
because of depreciation calculated in accordance with the criterion of the effective interest method
and less any impairment loss or reduction due to irrecoverability.
Applying the effective interest method enables the financial effect of a loan transaction to be spread
evenly over its expected life, which makes financial sense. In fact, the effective interest rate is the
rate that discounts all the future cash flows of the loan and establishes a present value
corresponding to the value granted including all the transaction costs and income pertaining to it.
When the cash flows and the contractual term of the loan are being estimated, all the contractual
terms that can affect the amounts and the maturity dates (for instance, early repayments and the
various options that may be exercised) are taken into account but not the losses expected on the
loan. Following initial recognition, for the whole life of the loan the amortised cost is determined by
continuing to apply the effective interest rate fixed at the start of the transaction (original interest
rate). This original interest rate does not vary over time and is also used in the case of any
contractual amendments to the interest rate or events which have made the loan non-interest
bearing (for instance, due to insolvency proceedings).

The amortised cost method is applied only to loan contracts with an original term of at least eighteen
months, on the assumption that, in the case of shorter contracts, applying this method does not involve
significant changes to the financial effect. Loans with a term of less than eighteen months and those
that have no fixed maturity date or are revocable are therefore measured at their historical cost.

On the reporting date for each set of financial statements or interim financial statements, the loans
are checked in order to identify those for which there is objective evidence of impairment loss owing
to events that have occurred after they were initially recognised.
In particular, in the case of loans and receivables in the banking sector, which make up a large part
of this category, measurement procedures differ depending on whether the loans are performing or
non-performing.
Loans are considered to be non-performing if they are deemed to be doubtful, substandard or
restructured loans, or if they are more than 180 days overdue, in accordance with current Bank of
Italy instructions. These non-performing loans are subjected to a process of analytical valuation
consisting in discounting (at the original effective interest rate) the cash flows expected by way of
principal and interest, taking account of any guarantees assisting the loan. The negative difference
between the present value of such loan and its carrying amount (amortised cost) at the time it is
measured constitutes an adjustment, and is recorded in the income statement.

The original value of the loans is reinstated in subsequent years only in the event that the reasons
that led to the loss in question being recognised no longer exist. Impairment losses can be reversed
up to an amount that does not exceed the value that it would have had if the amortised cost had been
applied without prior impairment losses.
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Receivables for which there is no individual objective evidence of impairment (in general performing
loans, including receivables from counterparties resident in risky countries and loans overdue by no
more than 180 days) are valued collectively according to standardised category of credit risk based
on type of customer and type of product. The value of the intrinsic loss according to standardised
category is calculated by applying percentage loss indices ascertained by analysing the performance
of each category over previous periods of at least three years.
The adjustments made in accordance with the collective method are recognised in the income
statement. In subsequent periods any additional adjustments or reversals of impairment losses are
determined using the differential method by reference to the entire loan portfolio measured as a
whole.
Receivables assigned are eliminated only if the assignment involves the substantial transfer of the
risks and rewards pertaining to them. If this is not the case, receivables continue to be recognised
even though ownership of them has been legally transferred.
The presumption is that all the risks and rewards are substantially transferred if the assignment
involves transferring at least 90% of them. On the other hand, the presumption is that all the risks and
rewards are substantially retained if the assignment involves transferring no more than 10% of them.
If the assignment does not involve either transferring or retaining a substantial percentage of the
risks and rewards (in the event that the Group retains more than 10% but less than 90% of the
risks/rewards) the receivables are eliminated provided the Group retains no control over them at all.
Otherwise the fact that some control over the receivables assigned is retained means that they are
maintained in the financial statements in proportion to the level of residual involvement.

4.5 Available-for-sale financial assets 
Investments classified as available-for-sale securities are measured at fair value. 
The differences compared with the carrying amount must be recognised in equity in a specific
reserve for unrealised gains/losses (net of tax). In the event of sale or impairment losses established
as a result of impairment testing, unrealised gains or losses accumulated in equity until that time
are transferred to the income statement.

Information on how the fair value is determined is given under Fair value hierarchy below.

The amortised cost of the debt instruments in this category calculated according to the effective rate
of return is recorded in the income statement. The comparison with the fair value is made after the
proportion of the amortised cost for the year has been recognised.

This category includes debt instruments, equity instruments and units in UCITS, investments
deemed to be of strategic importance (less than 20% of the share capital, of commercial or company
strategic importance) and UGF Merchant’s investments in merchant banking business.

Investments in equity instruments not listed on active markets for which it is not possible to make a
reliable assessment of the fair value are measured at cost (net of any impairment loss).

Impairment policy for financial assets adopted by the UGF Group
IAS 39, para. 58, provides that on each reporting date companies must check whether there is any
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.

In order to determine whether a financial asset or a group of financial assets shows signs of
impairment, it must be periodically impairment-tested.
Indicators of a possible impairment are, for instance, the issuer’s significant financial difficulties,
failure to pay the full amount of interest or principal, the possibility of the beneficiary becoming
bankrupt or entering into another bankruptcy proceeding and the disappearance of an active market
for the asset. 
In addition, in accordance with para. 61 of IAS 39, a ‘significant or prolonged’ decline in the fair value
of an equity instrument below its cost must be considered to be ‘objective evidence of impairment’.
.



In the case of equity instruments, the impairment test is carried out by selecting all the instruments
to which at least one of the following conditions applies:
a) the market price has remained below the initial recognition amount for the last 36 months;
b) the impairment on the reporting date is more than 20% of the initially recognised amount.

The impairment of these instruments is deemed to be confirmed and the total variation in fair value
is recorded in the income statement, with the elimination of the gains or losses on the underlying
available-for-sale assets.

In the case of debt instruments, whenever payment of a coupon or repayment of principal is late or
missed and this is confirmed by the custodian bank, the Group Finance Department immediately
notifies the relevant Risk Management Department of the need to recognise any impairment losses
on these instruments.

4.6 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Investments in this category are recorded at fair value and the differences (positive or negative)
between fair value and carrying amount are recorded through profit or loss.
Information on how the fair value is determined is given under Fair value hierarchy below.

There are two further sub-items:
- financial assets held for trading, which includes debt and equity instruments, mainly listed, assets

in derivative agreements and structured financial instruments where the embedded derivative
would have to be separated if they were classified in a different category;

- financial assets to be recognised at fair value through profit or loss, mainly consisting of assets
linked to financial liabilities at fair value such as investments relating to policies issued by
insurance companies where the investment risk is borne by the policyholders and those arising
from pension fund management.

Derivatives
Derivatives are initially recognised at the purchase cost representing the fair value and subsequently
measured at fair value. The fair value of derivatives is based on prices gathered from regulated
markets or provided by operators, on models used for valuing options (basing hypotheses on market
and economic conditions) or on models for discounting future cash flows. 

Derivatives may be acquired as ‘trading’ or ‘hedging'. In the case of hedging transactions IAS 39
provides for cumbersome and complex rules for drawing up appropriate documentation to be used
to check the effectiveness of the hedge from the time it is activated and throughout its entire term
(hedge accounting).

Transactions on both fair value hedges and cash flow hedges were in existence at 31 December
2010.

All financial derivatives are classified as Financial assets held for trading.

Fair value hierarchy
When the fair value is being determined IFRS 7 requires that information is provided for each class
of financial instrument on the methods and, if a method of valuation is used, on the assumptions
made to determine the fair value of each individual class of financial asset or liability. If there has
been a change in the method of valuation, information must be provided on this change and on the
reasons that led to it.

The fair value must be classified on a hierarchical scale made up of three levels that reflect the
importance of the data used in making the valuations.
- Level 1: prices listed (not adjusted) on active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
- Level 2: input data other than the listed prices included in Level 1 that can be seen for each asset

or liability, either directly (as in the case of the prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from the prices); 
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- Level 3: input data relating to the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(data that cannot be seen). 

The following information must also be provided, inter alia, for each class of financial instrument
(contained in the two tables appended to these Notes, ‘Details of financial assets and liabilities by
level’ and ‘Details of changes in financial assets and liabilities at level 3’):
- the hierarchical level of fair value that includes the valuations of fair value in their entirety, the

valuations of fair value being subdivided in accordance with the three levels defined above;
- all transfers of significant amounts between Level 1 and Level 2 of the hierarchical scale of fair

value and the reasons for these transfers;
- in the case of valuations of fair value on Level 3 of the hierarchical scale of fair value, a

reconciliation of the initial and final balances.

The Group classifies assets and liabilities according to level of fair value as follows:
• Level 1: financial assets or liabilities listed on regulated markets or contributions with a sufficient

level of liquidity;
• Level 2: financial assets or liabilities not belonging to Level 1 that are not valued according to the

market and for which the valuation benchmarks used can be seen on the market;
• Level 3: financial assets or liabilities not belonging to Level 1 that are not valued according to the

market and for which the valuation benchmarks cannot be seen on the market.

Financial assets and liabilities not belonging to Level 1 are further distinguished on the basis of the
inputs used for the purpose of measurement.

In the case of bonds, the benchmarks listed below are analysed in order to ascertain their
provenance from markets or from cash instruments identifiable in no uncertain manner on the
market by means of an info provider:
- Credit curves, considered to be seen if extrapolated from CDS or asset swap curves with a

sufficient level of liquidity and not valued internally or by means of benchmarks.
- Rate curves.
- Rate volatility: instruments valued by means of implicit volatilities for Cap, Floor and Swaption

contracts that can be seen on the market and have a sufficient level of liquidity are classified as
Level 2; instruments valued by means of interest rate volatility calculated on historical bases are
classified as Level 3.

- Correlations between rates: if the models used for measuring financial instruments require the
use of correlation between rates, they are considered as belonging to Level 3, since this parameter
is always valued internally.

Which level of fair value equity instruments belong to depends only on whether they are listed or
unlisted; unlisted instruments are classified as Level 2.
Financial assets and liabilities for which no mark-to-market nor mark-to-model valuations are
available on the date of measurement are measured by means of external valuations provided by a
trading counterparty.
These same counterparties are asked to classify these types of instrument by level, in line with the
pricing source. If these valuations are not available by the date the financial statements are drawn up
they are prudently allocated to Level 3.

Reclassifications of financial assets
In the event that an available-for-sale financial asset is transferred to the category of held-to-
maturity investments, the fair value recognised on the date of transfer becomes its new cost or
amortisable cost. Any previous gain or loss on this asset that has been recognised directly in equity
is recognised through profit or loss throughout the remaining useful life of the investment held to
maturity using the criterion of effective interest.



If a financial asset is no longer held for sale or repurchase in the short term (although the financial
asset may have been acquired or held mainly for sale or repurchase in the short term), it may be
transferred from fair value through profit or loss if the following requirements are met:
- the circumstances must be very unusual (para. 50B), or
- the asset to be reclassified would have come under ‘loans and receivables’ (if the financial asset had

not had to be classified as held for trading when initially recognised) and the entity has the intention
and the ability to hold the financial asset for the foreseeable future or to maturity (para. 50D).

A financial asset classified as available for sale that would have come under loans and receivables 
(if it had not been designated as available for sale) may be transferred from ‘available for sale’ to
‘loans and receivables’ if the entity has the intention and the ability to hold the financial asset for the
foreseeable future or to maturity (para. 50E).

If an entity transfers a financial asset from fair value through profit or loss or from ‘available for sale’
it must reclassify the financial asset at its fair value on the date of reclassification and the profit or
loss already recorded in the income statement must not be reversed. The fair value of the financial
asset on the date of reclassification becomes its new cost or amortised cost (para. 50C and 50F).

In the case of a financial asset transferred from ‘available for sale’, the previous gain or loss on the
asset recorded directly in equity must be amortised in the income statement throughout the asset’s
remaining useful life using the criterion of effective interest.

If the entity has reclassified a financial asset from fair value through profit or loss or from 'available
for sale', the following is some of the information that must be provided (IFRS 7):
- the amount transferred from and to each category;
- for each year until it is derecognised, the carrying amount and the fair value of all financial assets

reclassified during the current and preceding year;
- whether a financial asset was reclassified in accordance with paragraph 50B, however unusual the

situation, and the facts and the circumstances of the usual situation;
- for the financial year in which the financial asset was reclassified, the gain or loss on the financial

asset in terms of fair value;
- for each year following reclassification (including the year in which the financial asset was

reclassified) until the financial asset is derecognised, the gain or loss in terms of fair value that
would have been recognised if the financial asset had not been reclassified.

5 Sundry receivables

Sundry receivables are recorded at their nominal amount and subsequently measured at their
estimated realisable value.

Sundry receivables includes receivables due within twelve months, in particular Receivables relating
to direct insurance business, Receivables relating to reinsurance business and Other receivables,
such as trade receivables and tax receivables.

6 Other assets

6.1 Non-current assets held for sale or disposal groups - IFRS 5 
This item includes Non-current assets held for sale and any discontinued operations as defined by
IFRS 5.

Assets held for sale are recorded at carrying amount or fair value, whichever is the lower, net of any
selling costs.
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If an investment in a consolidated subsidiary is to be sold within the time limit laid down by IFRS 5,
all the assets of the company to be sold are reclassified as ‘Non-current assets held for sale or
disposal groups’ in the consolidated statement of financial position (item 6.1 of the Assets) and the
liabilities are similarly reclassified under the single item ‘Liabilities associated with disposal groups’
(item 6.1 of the Liabilities). Both items appear in the consolidated financial statements net of
intercompany transactions with the company to be sold.

If the group continues to operate in the business of the company to be sold, income statement items
relating to the assets held for sale or disposal groups are in accordance with the normal rules of
consolidation on a line-by-line basis.

6.2 Deferred acquisition costs
This item includes acquisition costs for multiyear insurance contracts, paid in advance and
amortised on a straight-line basis over the maximum life of the contracts.

6.3 Deferred tax assets – IAS 12
This item includes Deferred tax assets based on the deductible temporary differences between the
carrying amounts and the amounts for tax purposes of the assets and liabilities of the individual
consolidated companies and on the consolidation adjustments. If there are any tax losses, deferred
tax assets are recognised provided there is a probability that taxable income for which they can be
used will be available in future.
Deferred taxes are based on the tax rates ruling at the end of the year or on the rates that are
expected to be applied in future based on information available at the end of the financial year.

6.4 Current tax assets – IAS 12
This item includes assets relating to current taxation.

6.5 Other assets
Among other things this item includes prepayments and accrued income and deferred commissions
payable relating to investment contracts with no discretionary participation feature, since they are
additional costs incurred to acquire the contract and are amortised on a straight-line basis over the
whole life of the contract.

7 Cash and cash equivalents - IAS 7

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash in current accounts available on demand and
term deposits for periods not exceeding 15 days.   

LIABILITIES

1 Equity - IAS 32

1.1.3 Equity-related reserves
This item includes in particular the share premium reserve of the company that carries out the
consolidation. It includes the direct costs of issuing equity instruments, net of tax, and any
commission income, net of tax, received for the sale of unopted option rights.

1.1.4 Income-related and other reserves 
In particular this item includes gains or losses arising out of the first-time application of IAS/IFRS
(IFRS 1), gains or losses resulting from changes in accounting standards or accounting estimates
(IAS 8), equalisation provisions and catastrophe provisions eliminated under IFRS 4 and the
consolidation reserves.



1.1.7 Gains or losses on available-for-sale financial assets
This item includes gains or losses on available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax and amounts
pertaining to policyholders as a result of the application of shadow accounting.

1.1.8 Other gains or losses recognised directly in equity
This item includes, inter alia, gains or losses on cash flow hedges and the provisions for the
revaluation of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

2 Provisions - IAS 37

Provisions are made for risks and charges only when they are deemed necessary to meet an
obligation arising out of a past event and when it is likely that the amount of resources required can
be reliably estimated.

3 Technical provisions - IFRS 4

Classification of insurance contracts
According to IFRS 4 insurance contracts are contracts that transfer significant insurance risks.  Such
contracts may also transfer financial risks.
An insurance risk is significant if, and only if, there is a reasonable possibility that the occurrence of
the insured event will cause a significant change in the current value of the insurer’s net cash flows.
Investment contracts are contracts that transfer financial risks but involve no significant insurance
risks.
Some insurance and investment contracts may include discretionary participation features.

All the policies in the Non-Life portfolio at 31 December 2010 were classified as insurance contracts.

As in the previous year, the principal criteria used for classifying Life products as insurance policies
were:
• the presence of a significant insurance risk, i.e. the reasonable possibility that the occurrence of

the insured event would give rise to the payment of significant ‘additional benefits’ compared with
those that would have been payable if the insured event had not taken place. The threshold of
significant insurance risk was deemed to be 10%;

• the presence of options or guarantees, such as the coefficient of conversion into a guaranteed rate
annuity.

Some contracts provide for discretionary participation features, i.e. the policyholder’s right to receive
a benefit in addition to the guaranteed minimum. The benefit must fulfil specific contractual terms
and represent a significant part of the total payments. In particular, contracts subject to revaluation
and linked to segregated accounts were classified as investment products with DPF and were
therefore measured and recognised as insurance contracts.

A contract classified as an insurance contract remains an insurance contract until it is terminated,
whereas under certain circumstances an investment contract may be subsequently classified as an
insurance contract.

However, the following types of contract were classified as investment contracts with no DPFs. For
this reason, according to paragraph 3 of IFRS 4, contracts of this type do not produce premiums but
are measured and recognised in accordance with IAS 39:
• index-linked, where the sum insured in the event of death corresponds to the value of the asset

plus a small percentage;
• unit-linked, where the sum insured in the event of death corresponds to the NAV plus a small

percentage;

UNIPOL GRUPPO FINANZIARIO

2010 CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

75



UNIPOL GRUPPO FINANZIARIO

2010 CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

76

• mixed, where funding is specific and the technical rate is zero;
• capital redemption, where funding is specific and the technical rate is zero;
• pension funds with guaranteed benefit when the policy matures or when certain events occur.

In the case of unit-linked products, the loading and the acquisition commissions for the asset
management service are recorded and amortised separately over the life of the contract. In the case
of index-linked policies, which are not managed over time but only administered, these deferments
are not necessary.

Non-Life business technical provisions

Premium provision 
The direct insurance premium provision is established analytically for each policy using the pro rata
temporis, on the basis of the gross premiums accounted for less acquisition commissions and the
other acquisition costs that are chargeable directly. In the case of long-term contracts, the amount
of amortisation for the year is deducted.
Under certain conditions the premium provision also includes the premium provision for unexpired
risks, calculated in accordance with the simplified method laid down in Article 10 of ISVAP Ruling 16 of
4 March 2008, which is based on the expected loss ratio for the year, adjusted on a prospective basis.
In the case of Credit insurance, the flat-rate procedure provided for by the Ministerial Decree of 
23 May 1981 was applied to premiums received before 1992, whilst the pro rata temporis method has
been applied to contracts issued from 1992 onwards.
In the case of Bond insurance, the premium provision has been calculated using the pro rata
temporis method combined with the criteria laid down by ISVAP Ruling 16.
The total amount allocated to this provision is sufficient to meet costs arising from the portion of risk
pertaining to subsequent years.
The reinsurers’ share of the premium provision is calculated by applying to the premiums ceded the
same criteria as those used for calculating the direct insurance business premium provision.

Ageing provision
The ageing provision is calculated at a flat rate of 10% on Health policies in the portfolio that have
the features provided for by Article 46 of ISVAP Ruling 16 (multiyear health policies when the
premium is not based on increasing age).

Claims provision
The claims provision is ascertained analytically by estimating the presumed cost of all the claims
outstanding at the end of the year and on the basis of prudent technical valuations carried out with
reference to objective elements, in order to ensure that the total amount set aside is enough to meet
the claims to be settled and the relative direct and settlement expenses. 
These figures are analysed and checked by Head Office. Subsequently, in order to take account of all
reasonably foreseeable future charges, actuarial statistical methods are used to determine the final
level of the claims provision.
The claims provision also includes the amounts set aside for claims incurred but not reported, based
on past experience of IBNR for previous years.
The reinsurers’ share of the claims provision reflects the sums recovered from them to meet the
reserves, the amounts being laid down in the individual policies or in the contracts.

Provision arising out of the adequacy test for Non-Life technical provisions
The Non-Life technical provisions have been subjected to the test provided for by IFRS 4 (Liability
Adequacy Test – LAT).

Premium provision
In order to monitor the adequacy of the provision for unearned premiums the supplementary
provision for unexpired risks is calculated for each individual company and class of business using
the simplified method provided for in ISVAP Ruling 16, Article 11. As claims for the year are valued at



final cost and not discounted, future payment flows can be deemed to have implicitly taken place
(LAT on the provision for outstanding claims).

Claims provisions 
The adequacy of insurance liabilities for the claims provisions was checked by adding together the
following classes of business: MV TPL, General TPL, Land vehicles – own damage or loss, Accident
and Health, Fire and Other Damage to Property, Credit and Bonds and Other Classes.
Assistance was excluded from the analysis since it has a particularly high rate of settlement.
The figures collected in the same way for the purpose of constructing the projection models, with
features required to develop the LAT, were available as from 1999 whereas claims made in previous
years (1998 and previously) were excluded from the analysis.

Life business technical provisions

The amount recognised is calculated in accordance with the provisions of Article 36 of Legislative
Decree 209 of 7 September 2005 (Insurance Code) and ISVAP Ruling 21 of 28 March 2008.

Mathematical provisions
The mathematical provision for direct assurance is calculated analytically for each contract on the
basis of pure premiums, with no deductions for policy acquisition costs, and by reference to the
actuarial assumptions (technical interest rates, demographic models of death or disability) used to
calculate the premiums on existing contracts.
The mathematical provision includes the portion of pure premiums in relation to the premiums
accrued during the year. It also includes all the revaluations made under the terms of the policy and
is never less than the surrender value.
In accordance with the provisions of Article 38 of Legislative Decree 173/1997, technical provisions,
which are set up to cover liabilities deriving from insurance policies where the yield is based on
investments or indices for which the policyholder bears the risk, and provisions arising from pension
fund management, are calculated by reference to commitments made under these policies and to
the provisions of Article 41 of Legislative Decree 209 of 7 September 2005. In the case of index-linked
policies, in particular, the mathematical provisions are calculated on the basis of the price of the
underlying securities, whilst in the case of unit-linked policies they are calculated by multiplying the
number of units by the price of the relevant funds on the date they are calculated.
In the case of Pension Funds, particularly policies that offer a guaranteed minimum return on
payments when the policy matures or on retirement, death or disability, the mathematical provision
may be increased by a further provision required to cover the risk of including the value of the
underlying assets. This supplement is calculated by taking into account any differences between the
guaranteed minimum values and the values of the underlying assets during the guarantee period
estimated stochastically and by discounting the result on the date the provisions are calculated. 
The mathematical provisions are calculated analytically for each individual contract taking into
account the policies in force at the reporting date, their respective start dates and all the liabilities
assumed under the policies. 
As laid down in Article 36, para. 3, of Legislative Decree 209 of 7 September 2005, the provision for
sums payable includes the total amount needed to cover payment of benefits that have fallen due but
not so far been paid, surrendered policies and claims not yet paid.
The provision for profit participation and reversal was set up to cover the Company’s commitment to
allocate to certain contracts on a temporary group tariff in the event of death and/or disability sums
accrued during the year as technical profits arising from the yield on individual contracts.
Other technical provisions consist almost entirely of amounts set aside for operating expenses and
are calculated on the basis of the provisions of Article 31 and Article 34 of ISVAP Ruling 21 of 
28 March 2008.
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In accordance with specific provisions issued by the Supervisory Board the mathematical provisions
are supplemented by the following additional provisions:

Supplementary provisions based on demographics (Article 50 of ISVAP Ruling 21)
An additional provision has been set up to supplement the provision held as a hedge against
liabilities to policyholders whose benefit is in the form of a life annuity or in the form of a lump sum
with guaranteed coefficients of conversion into an annuity. 
This supplementary provision is calculated by the companies in the Group comparing the
demographics used in the tariff with the latest demographic tables such as the RG48, which shows
details of both sexes separately, the IPS55 for men and the SIMPS71. Coefficients that reflect each
individual company’s propensity to choose the annuity offered are applied to the levels of provision
obtained in this way. 

Additional provisions 
Under Article 38, para. 3, of Legislative Decree 173/1997, the mathematical provision includes
provisions set up to hedge the risk of mortality in insurance contracts in Class III (as laid down in
Article 2, para. 1, of Legislative Decree 209 of 7/9/2005), which provide a benefit should the insured
party die during the term of the contract. In the case of insurance contracts in Class III and Class VI
the mathematical provision also includes the provisions set up to fund guaranteed benefits on
maturity or when certain events occur (as laid down in Article 2, para. 1, of Legislative Decree 209 of
7/9/2005).

Provision for expenses  
In the case of policies with a premium payment period shorter than the term of the insurance (single
premium, low annual premium, reduced) a provision is set aside for expenses calculated on the
basis of the operating loadings held as a hedge against future operating expenses. 
In the case of index-linked tariffs, the provision for operating expenses has been set up using the
difference between the value of the net premium and the initial value of the policy less the initial
marketing cost incurred by the company. This amount, which remains valid throughout the life of the
contract, has been set aside for the remaining period of each individual contract.

Additional provisions for temporary mismatching (Article 37 of ISVAP Ruling 21)
These provisions are used as a hedge against the financial effects of fluctuations in the returns on
separately managed accounts and take account of the part of the return to be retroceded to the
policies that, because of the temporary mismatch, is not covered by the return on the investments
and that is expected to be obtained during the same period.
This provision is important in the case of separately managed accounts that provide for only one
annual rate of return, retroceded/paid to policyholders for each subsequent period of twelve months. 

Additional provision for financial risks (Articles 47 and Article 48 of ISVAP Ruling 21)
The mathematical provisions are combined with an item held as a hedge against a possible
discrepancy between the expected rates of return on the assets held as a hedge against the
technical provisions linked to separately managed accounts and commitments by way of levels of
financial guarantees and adjustments made to the benefits provided under the policies.

The liability adequacy test was also carried out in accordance with IFRS 4.



Provision for shadow accounting
The shadow accounting technique set out in IFRS 4 enables the unrealised losses and/or gains on
the underlying assets to be recorded as technical provisions for insurance or investment contracts
with discretionary participation features as if they had been realised. This adjustment is recognised
in equity or income statement depending on whether the losses or gains in question are recorded in
equity or income statement.
Net losses are recognised in the provision for deferred financial liabilities to policyholders only after
the guaranteed minimum has been reached, otherwise the company continues to bear them in full.
Losses are quantified using a financial prospective method in line with Chapter I of ISVAP Regulation
21 dated 28 March 2008.
Applying shadow accounting enables the value mismatch between technical provisions and related
assets to be mitigated and is therefore deemed to be more representative of the economic substance
of the transactions in question.

4 Financial liabilities - IAS 39

This item includes the financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and the financial
liabilities measured at amortised cost.

4.1 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
The financial liabilities in this category are subdivided into two further sub-items:
- financial liabilities held for trading, which include negative items on derivatives;
- financial liabilities to be measured at fair value through profit or loss, which include the financial

liabilities relating to contracts issued by insurance companies where the investment risk is borne
by the policyholders, where the insurance risk is less than 10% and where there is no discretionary
participation feature. 

4.2 Financial liabilities at amortised cost 
This item includes interbank payables and payables to bank customers, deposits received from
reinsurers, debt securities issued, other loans obtained and liabilities on Life policies with a financial
content where the insurance risk is less than 10% and where there is no discretionary participation
feature (some types of product matched by specific funding).

5 Payables

Payables includes Payables from direct insurance business, Payables from reinsurance operations
and Other payables, such as trade payables, payables for policyholders’ tax due, payables for
employees’ leaving entitlement, payables for miscellaneous tax charges and payables to welfare and
pension schemes.

Sundry payables are recognised at their nominal amount.

Employee benefits – IAS 19
The post-employment benefits accrued by 31 December 2006 that have not been transferred to
external bodies in accordance with the provisions of Legislative Decree 252/05 relating to
supplementary pension schemes comes under the category of employee benefits classified as a
defined benefits plan. The amount due to employees is therefore calculated using actuarial
techniques and discounted at the reporting date, using the ‘Projected unit credit method’ (a method
based on benefits accrued in proportion to length of employment). 
The same method is used to ascertain the effect of the health policy for senior executives, which also
comes under the category of employee benefits and is a guaranteed benefit.
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6 Other liabilities

6.1 Liabilities associated with disposal groups – IFRS 5
Please see above for the corresponding asset item.

6.2 Deferred tax liabilities - IAS 12
Deferred tax liabilities are recorded whenever there is a taxable temporary difference, except in the
cases provided for in paragraph 15 of IAS 12.
Deferred tax liabilities must be measured using the tax rates that are expected to apply during the
year in which the tax liability will be paid off, based on the tax rates (and tax legislation) laid down in
current rulings or those in force at the reporting date.
If tax rates change, despite being prior year items, the deferred taxes recalculated in accordance
with the new rates are recorded under Taxes in the income statement or under the equity reserves to
which the temporary variations in question apply.
If assets are revalued solely for tax purposes and relate neither to a carrying amount revaluation for
a previous year nor to one that is to be carried out in a subsequent year, the tax effects of the value
adjustment for tax purposes must be recorded in the income statement.

6.3 Current tax liabilities
This item includes current tax payables.

6.4 Other liabilities
This item includes, inter alia, accrued expenses and deferred income, accruals  for commissions on
pending premiums and deferred commission receivable relating to investment contracts with no
discretionary participation feature required in advance for the contract-administration service or for
the investment-management service, amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of the contract
or, in the case of whole-life contracts, over the ‘expected’ life of the contract.



INCOME STATEMENT

1 Revenue and income

1.1 Net premiums
This item includes the premiums relating to insurance contracts and financial instruments that
include discretionary participation features, net of ceded premiums.
Premium is recognised at the time it is due. The total for the year is obtained by adding the premium
provision.

1.2 Commission income
This item includes commission income for financial services provided. It includes commission
income arising out of banking business and the loadings for the year relating to Life policies where
the insurance risk is below 10% and where there is no discretionary participation feature. In the case
of unit-linked policies, in particular, the acquisition loadings relating to the asset management
service provided have been recognised and deferred throughout the term of the contract.

1.3 Net gains on remeasurement of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
This item includes gains and losses realised, interest, dividends, charges and positive and negative
changes in value of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

1.4 Gains on investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures
This item includes investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures recognised
in the corresponding asset item.

1.5 Gains on financial instruments and other investments
This item includes gains on investments that do not come under the previous two categories. Mainly
included are interest income on ‘Loans and receivables’ and on securities classified as available-for-
sale financial assets and held to maturity, other investment income, including dividends and rental
income from property held for investment purposes, and realised gains on the sale of financial
assets or liabilities and investment property.

1.6 Other income
This item includes income arising out of the sale of goods, the provision of services other than those
of a financial nature and the use by third parties of the company’s property, plant and equipment,
investment property and other assets. It also includes other net technical income on insurance
contracts, exchange rate differences allocated to the income statement as per IAS 21, realised gains and
reversals of impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, investment property and other assets.

2 Expenses and charges

2.1 Net charges relating to claims
This item includes the sums paid out during the year for claims, matured policies and surrendered
policies and the amount of variations in the technical provisions relating to contracts that fall within
the scope of IFRS 4, net of amounts recovered and of outwards reinsurance.

2.2 Commission expenses
This item includes commission expenses for financial services received. It includes commission
expense arising from banking business and commissions on Life assurance contracts classified as
financial liabilities. In particular, acquisition commissions paid for the placement of unit-linked
policies are amortised throughout the term of the contract to meet deferred acquisition loadings. 

2.3 Losses on investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures
This item includes losses on investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures
recognised in the corresponding asset item.
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2.4 Losses on other financial instruments and investment property
This item includes losses on investment property and financial instruments other than investments
and financial instruments classified as ‘Assets at fair value through profit or loss'. It mainly includes
interest expense on financial liabilities, other investment expense on investment property such as
condominium expenses and maintenance expenses that do not increase the value of the investment,
losses made as a result of the elimination of financial assets or liabilities and investment property,
depreciation and impairment losses.

2.5 Operating expenses
This item includes commissions and other acquisition expenses relating to insurance contracts,
investment management expenses, other administrative expenses and depreciation (overheads 
and personnel expenses that are not allocated to losses relating to claims, insurance contract
acquisition expenses nor to investment management expenses).

2.6 Other costs
This item mainly includes other net technical charges relating to insurance contracts, additional
amounts set aside during the year, exchange rate differences to be allocated to the income
statement under IAS 21, losses realised and depreciation relating to property, plant and equipment,
investment property and intangible assets, not allocated to other cost items.

3 Income tax

In accordance with Article 117 et seq. of Presidential Decree 917/86 and with the Ministerial Decree
of 9 June 2004, UGF and the other subsidiaries that fulfil the requirements (UGF Assicurazioni,
Linear, Navale Assicurazioni, Navale Vita, Midi and Smallpart) have opted for the Group consolidated
taxation system (for the purposes of IRES) in their capacity as consolidated companies. The parent
for taxation purposes is Finsoe SpA. The companies listed above have signed an agreement with this
company relating to regulating the financial and procedural aspects governing the option in question.

Charges/income linked to the transfer to the ultimate parent of the result subject to IRES are
calculated in accordance with legislation (account being taken of the relevant exemptions and the tax
credits due) and with the terms of the agreement with the ultimate parent and are recorded under
taxation in the income statement. IRAP for the year is also recorded under taxation.

The item includes Deferred tax income and expenses, based on the temporary differences (that have
arisen or been deducted during the year) between the profit (loss) for the year and the taxable results
of the individual consolidated companies and on the consolidation adjustments.
If there are any tax losses, deferred tax assets are recognised insofar as there is a probability that
taxable income for which they can be used will be available in future.



Foreign currency transactions - IAS 21

Items expressed in foreign currencies are dealt with in accordance with the principles of
multicurrency accounting.
Monetary elements in foreign currency (units of currency owned and assets or liabilities that must be
received or paid in a fixed or ascertainable number of units of currency) are translated using the
exchange rate applicable at the end of the year.
Non-monetary elements measured at historical cost in foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rate applicable on the date of the transaction.
Non-monetary elements measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates applicable on the date on which the fair value is determined.
Exchange rate differences arising out of the settlement of monetary elements are recorded in the
income statement. Exchange rate differences arising when non-monetary elements are measured
are allocated to the profit/(or loss) for the year or to other comprehensive income depending on
whether the profit/(or loss) to which they relate is recognised in the profits/(or loss) for the year or in
other comprehensive income, respectively.

Earnings per share - IAS 33

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit allocated to shareholders who hold
ordinary shares in the Parent UGF by the weighted average of the number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year.
Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit allocated to shareholders who hold
ordinary shares in the Parent UGF by the weighted average of the number of any additional ordinary
shares that would be outstanding if all the potential ordinary shares with dilutive effect were
converted.
If the result is negative, the loss (basic and diluted) per share is calculated.

Use of estimates

When drawing up the financial statements Management has had to formulate valuations, estimates
and assumptions that affect the way the accounting standards are applied and the amounts of the
assets, liabilities, costs and reserve recognised, although reliability is not affected. However, as
these are estimates the results obtained may not necessarily be the same as those shown here.
These estimates and assumptions are regularly reviewed. Any variations revealed as a result of
reviewing the estimates are recorded during the period in which the review is carried out and in
relevant subsequent periods.
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3. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Comments and further information on the items on the statement of financial position and the
variations that took place compared with the previous year are given below. (The numbering of the
notes relates to the mandatory layout for the preparation of the statement of financial position). 

Comparisons using the same basis of consolidation exclude the Arca Group’s equity from the
consolidated figures for 2010, whilst BNL Vita’s equity is included in the relevant original items
before it was reclassified under items 6.1 of the Assets and Liabilities.

ASSETS

1. Intangible assets 

1.1 Goodwill 
This item amounted to €1,942m (€1,853m in 2009) and was made up of:
• €1,522.6m of goodwill recognised as a result of business acquisitions (€1,433.4m in 2009).

+€136.6m of the €89.2m variation was due to goodwill arising on consolidation recorded when the
Arca Group was acquired and -€47.4m to goodwill for the sale of BNL Vita reclassified under 6.1 of
the Assets. Other goodwill was unchanged:
- €1,230.6m in the case of UGF Assicurazioni;  
- €126.3m in the case of UGF Banca Group; 
- €17.1m in the case of the insurance company Linear; 
- €3.9m in the case of UniSalute; 
- €8m in the case of Navale Assicurazioni. 

• Other goodwill amounting to €419.4m (€419.6m in 2009):
- goodwill of €418.9m generated by the acquisition of bank branches (unchanged compared with 2009);
- €0.4m of other goodwill with an indefinite useful life (€0.6m in 2009). 

Goodwill with an indefinite useful life tested for impairment in accordance with the procedure
specifically approved by UGF SpA’s Board of Directors showed no impairment loss. For information
on the criteria used for the tests, you are referred to paragraph 5.8 of chapter 5 of this document,
Other information.

1.2 Other intangible assets 
This item, €115.9m (€63.6m in 2009), was made up of the value of the Life portfolios acquired (with a
finite useful life), expenses for renovating leased property and the cost of software, licences,
consultancy and personalisation of software. €40.5m of the increase compared with 2009 was due to
the value at 31 December 2010 of the Life portfolio acquired from the Arca Group.

2. Property, plant and equipment

At 31 December 2010 property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, amounted to
€660.2m (€595.8m in 2009), €607.4m of which owner occupied (€544.3m in 2009) and €52.8m was
other assets (€51.5m in 2009). The increase in Property was due to the activities of the Group’s two
property companies, in particular creating the new head offices and carrying out building work on a
site the company owns on the outskirts of Bologna, and €12.9m of the increase was due to Arca
Group property (net of €3.8m of accumulated depreciation).



OWNER-OCCUPIED 
PROPERTY

Amounts in €m

OTHER
ASSETS

Amounts in €m

The variations that occurred after 2009 are set out in the following tables:

Gross Accumulated Net carrying 
carrying depreciation and amount
amount impairment losses

Balance at 31/12/2009 606.9 -62.6 544.3

Increaess 82.2 82.2
Decreases -1.5 -1.5
Depreciation for the year -10.3 -10.3
Other variations -7.3 -7.3

Balance at 31/12/2010 687.6 -80.2 607.4

Office furniture Movables entered Plant and Total
machinery in public registers equipment

Balance at 31/12/2009 177.2 1.7 73.1 252.0

Increases 16.5 2.6 4.8 23.9
Decreases -1.6 -0.4 -2.0 -4.1

BALANCE AT 31/12/2010 192.1 4.0 75.9 271.9

Accumulated depreciation at 31/12/2009 143.4 0.9 56.2 200.5
Increases 14.3 0.9 5.7 20.8
Decreases -1.3 -0.3 -0.7 -2.2
Accumulated depreciation at 31/12/2010 156.4 1.5 61.2 219.1

Amount at 31/12/2009 33.8 0.9 16.9 51.5

Amount at 31/12/2010 35.7 2.5 14.7 52.8

3. Technical provisions - Reinsurers’ share 

The balance on this item was €460.4m, an increase of €3.3m compared with 2009. On the same basis
of consolidation the balance amounted to €424.2m. Details are set out in the relevant appendix.

4. Investments

At 31 December 2010 total investments (investment property, equity investments and financial
investments) amounted to €33,815.3m (€39,765m in 2009). On the same basis of consolidation the
balance amounted to €41,425.6m.

4.1 Investment property
Investment property at 31 December 2009 amounted to €196.8m, mostly unchanged compared with
2009. 
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The following changes occurred after 31 December 2009:

Gross  Accumulated Net
carrying depreciation carrying
amount and impairment amount 

losses

Balance at 31/12/2009 211.4 -14.6 196.8

Increases 3.9 3.9
Decreases -1.4 -1.4
Depreciation for the year -2.9 -2.9
Other variations 0.4 0.4

Balance at 31/12/2010 213.9 -17.1 196.8

The present value of investment property, which amounts to €262.5m, has been based on
independent expert valuations.

4.2 Investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures
At 31 December 2010 investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures
amounted to €46.5m (€43.8m in 2009). Most of the variation since the previous year was due to the
increase in UGF Banca Group’s investments in associates, as well as investments in associates of
the Arca Group.

Financial assets (items 4.3, 4.4, 4.5 and 4.6)

Financial assets amounted to €33,572m at 31 December 2010 (€39,524.4m in 2009), while on the
same basis of consolidation it was €41,182.8m. The details, subdivided according to category and
type of investment, are shown in the attached schedule Details of financial assets.

4.3 Held-to-maturity investments
This category mainly consists of fixed-yield bonds acquired to cover Life special tariffs, which the
Group can and intends to hold to maturity. At 31 December 2010 these amounted to €1,823m
(€1,779.7m at 31/12/2009). 
The fair value of held-to-maturity investments at 31 December 2010 amounted to €1,799.6m.
Held-to-maturity investments accounted for 5.4% of Financial assets.

4.4 Loans and receivables
These amounted to €14,754.6m, €15,343.4m on the same basis of consolidation (€14,785.8m in
2009) and were subdivided as follows:

31/12/2010 comp.% 31/12/2009 comp.% var.%

Debt securities 4,063.8 27.5 4,443.0 30.0 -8.5
Loans and receivables from bank customers 10,311.3 69.9 9,785.8 66.2 5.4
Interbank loans and receivables 133.8 0.9 371.4 2.5 -64.0
Deposits with ceding companies 19.4 0.1 21.5 0.1 -10.0
Other loans and receivables and Other financial assets 226.4 1.5 164.0 1.1 38.0

Total loans and receivables 14,754.6 100.0 14,785.8 100.0 -0.2

The fair value of Loans and receivables at 31 December 2010 was €14,362.5m.

Debt securities on the same basis of consolidation amounted to €4,653.4m. No transfers from other
categories were carried out during the year.

LOANS AND 
RECEIVABLES

Amounts in €m

INVESTMENT 
PROPERTY

Amounts in €m



FINANCIAL ASSETS 
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

Amounts in €m

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
FINANCIAL ASSETS

Amounts in €m

Other loans and receivables and Other financial assets included loans and credit facilities granted to
employees and other bodies, loans on Life insurance policies, receivables from agents for portfolio
recharges and loan repo contracts 

Loans and receivables accounted for 43.9% of Financial assets.

4.5 Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets amounted to €13,023.6m at 31 December 2010 (€15,313.8m in
2009) and were made up as follows: 

31/12/2010 comp.% 31/12/2009 comp.% var.%

Equity instruments at cost 210.4 1.6 197.5 1.3 6.5
Listed equity instruments at fair value 1,051.0 8.1 1,837.0 12.0 -42.8
Unlisted equity instruments at fair value 2.5 0.0 1.0 0.0 152.7
Debt instruments 11,490.3 88.2 13,082.7 85.4 -12.2
OEIC units 269.4 2.1 195.6 1.3 37.7

Total available-for-sale financial assets 13,023.6 100.0 15,313.8 100.0 -15.0

The overall balance on the same basis of consolidation was €16,924.9m. No instruments were
reclassified as Available-for-sale financial assets nor transferred from that category in 2010.

Available-for-sale financial assets accounted for 38.8% of Financial assets.

4.6 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
These amounted to €3,970.7m at 31 December 2010, €7,091.5m on the same basis of consolidation
(€7,645.1m in 2009) and €589.7m of them were assets held for trading (€464.9m in 2009) and
€3,381m were assets designated by the Group to be measured at fair value, €6,483.6m on the same
basis of consolidation (€7,180.3m in 2009). This second category included financial assets matching
insurance or investment policies issued by the Group where the investment risk is borne by the
policyholders and those arising from pension fund management. 

31/12/2010 comp.% 31/12/2009 comp.% var.%

Financial assets held for trading:
Listed equity instruments at fair value 16.6 2.8 0.2 0.1
Debt instruments 413.2 70.1 364.6 78.4 13.3
OEIC units 93.8 15.9 90.3 19.4 3.9
Derivatives 66.2 11.2 9.7 2.1 580.0

Total 589.7 100.0 464.9 100.0 26.9

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Listed equity instruments at fair value 50.1 1.5 24.5 0.3 104.2
Debt instruments 2,246.1 66.4 5,867.7 81.7 -61.7
OEIC units 948.9 28.1 1,204.0 16.8 -21.2
Derivatives 26.8 0.8 42.8 0.6 -37.3
Other financial assets 109.1 3.2 41.2 0.6 165.1

Total 3,381.0 100.0 7,180.3 100.0 -52.9

Total financial assets at fair value 3,970.7 7,645.1 -48.1

No instruments were reclassified as Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss nor
transferred from that category in 2010.
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss accounted for 11.8% of Financial assets.

Information on the reclassified financial assets (IFRS 7 para .12-12A)
The information required by paragraphs 12 and 12A of IFRS 7 is contained in the appendix Details of
reclassified financial assets and of the effects on the income statement and comprehensive income.

5. Sundry receivables

Sundry receivables totalled €1,894.5m, €1,983.7m on the same basis of consolidation (€1,803.2m 
in 2009). This item is broken down as follows:

31/12/2010 comp.% 31/12/2009 comp.% var.%

Receivables relating to direct insurance business 893.5 47.2 1,018.9 56.5 -12.3
Receivables relating to reinsurance business 60.8 3.2 74.6 4.1 -18.5
Other receivables 940.2 49.6 709.6 39.4 32.5

Total sundry receivables 1,894.5 100.0 1,803.2 100.0 5.1

Other receivables include, in particular, €332m of receivables from the Inland Revenue and €371.3m
from the ultimate parent for tax purposes, Finsoe, mainly receivables on tax losses accrued during
2010 and the previous two years. These receivables will become due when tax is due under the
consolidated tax scheme.

6. Other assets

This item is broken down as follows:

31/12/2010 comp.% 31/12/2009 comp.% var.%

Non-current assets held for sale 11,811.9 93.5 0.4 0.0
Deferred acquisition costs 21.1 0.2 26.3 2.9 -19.5
Deferred tax assets 509.8 4.0 549.1 60.9 -7.2
Current tax assets 22.4 0.2 85.5 9.5 -73.7
Other assets 269.2 2.1 240.4 26.7 11.9

Total other assets 12,634.4 100.0 901.7 100.0

The significant variation compared with 2009 was due to the reclassification as 'Non-current assets
held for sale’ of all BNL Vita’s credit balances, as required by IFRS 5.
On the same basis of consolidation Other assets amounted to €778.2m.
Details of deferred tax assets are given in the section on income tax. 
Other assets include deferred commission expense, prepayments and accrued income and
miscellaneous items to be settled.

7. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents amounted to €231.8m at the end of the year, €149.1m on the same basis
of consolidation (€221.5m in 2009).

SUNDRY 
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EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE PARENT 

Amounts in €m

LIABILITIES

1. Equity 

1.1 Equity attributable to owners of the Parent 
Equity, excluding the amounts attributable to non-controlling interests, is divided up as follows:

31/12/2010 31/12/2009 var. importo

Share capital 2,698.9 2,391.4 307.5
Equity-related reserves 1,506.3 1,419.6 86.7
Income-related and other reserves 56.2 929.1 -872.9
(Treasury shares) -0.2 -0.1 0.0
Gains/losses on available-for-sale financial assets -643.2 -393.4 -249.7
Other gains and losses recognised directly in equity -1.5 10.7 -12.3
Profit (loss) for the year 31.8 -771.9 803.7

Total equity attributable to owners of the Parent 3,648.3 3,585.3 63.0

At 31 December 2010 the fully paid up share capital of the Parent Unipol Gruppo Finanziario
amounted to €2,698.9m and was made up of 2,114,122,551 ordinary shares and 1,302,200,446
preference shares.

Movements recorded during the year compared with the previous year are set out in the attached
statement of changes in equity. 
There was a decrease of €249.7m in the reserve for gains and losses on available-for-sale financial
assets. Most of this decrease was due to the fall in the price of government bonds, in particular in
the final quarter of the year.

The €399m share capital increase was also subscribed and fully paid up in July 2010. For further
details please see the paragraph entitled Non-recurring events and significant transactions in these
Notes.

Income-related and other reserves included the differences arising out of offsetting the carrying
amount of investments against the corresponding fraction of the equity of consolidated companies,
after allocations to these companies’ assets and to goodwill. This item also included the
consolidation adjustments required by the Parent’s accounting policies and those made as a result
of the elimination of dividends within the Group.

-€22.2m of the loss of €1.5m in Other gains and losses recognised directly in equity (+€10.7m in
2009) consisted of Gains or losses on cash-flow hedging instruments (-€10m in 2009) and €20.7m of
it of the reserve for revaluation of tangible assets (unchanged since 2009).

Treasury shares or quotas
At 31 December 2010 the companies in the Group held a total of 300,000 UGF preference shares,
originally belonging to the Arca Group, for which they had paid €173,124. The 86,642 treasury shares
in the portfolio at 31 December 2009 had been sold during the second quarter of 2010 before
dividends were paid.
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2. Provisions

Provisions totalled €85m at 31 December 2010 (€101.1m in 2009) and mainly consisted of accruals
to provisions for litigation, disputes with agencies and other charges relating to the sales network
and staff-leaving incentives.

Details of contingent liabilities in addition to what has already been indicated in the Management
Report are as follows:

- UGF Banca executing orders on financial transactions: in November 2007 and July 2009 several UGF
Banca customers instituted civil and criminal proceedings relating to alleged irregularities and
illicit activities carried out by UGF Banca while dealing in financial derivatives. The claimants
submitted a claim for a total of €67m. The preliminary investigations concluded in April 2009 with
the Public Prosecutor applying for the case to be dismissed, which the claimants opposed.
Deeming the opponents to have no case, UGF Banca also applied for the civil case to be dismissed
and made a counterclaim for payment of the amounts due by the claimants to UGF Banca. Starting
in November 2009 the counterparties made further claims totalling €145m. In court, UGF Banca
disputed the lateness and inadmissibility of the new claims, also stating that they were totally
unfounded.

- Parmalat – UGF Banca insolvency procedure: in the second half of 2010, UGF Banca reached an
agreement with the Parmalat Extraordinary Administration for settling the claims arising out of the
action for revocation it had launched in 2004 for approximately €47m. Settlement involved paying
the Parmalat Extraordinary Administration €7.4m, with €4.4m being recognised through profit or
loss for the year.

3. Technical provisions

These totalled €22,245.9m, €29,630m on the same basis of consolidation (€28,286.4m in 2009). 
The breakdown and relative variations are shown in the following table: 

31/12/2010 comp.% 31/12/2009 comp.% var.%

Non-Life premiums 1,622.4 21.4 1,534.5 20.4
Non-Life claims 5,937.3 78.4 5,957.9 79.2
Other Non-Life technical provisions 15.4 0.2 25.5 0.3

Total Non-Life provisions 7,575.1 100.0 7,517.9 100.0 0.8

Life mathematical provisions 12,734.0 86.8 15,631.6 75.3
Provision for payable amounts (Life business) 123.8 0.8 116.0 0.6
Technical provisions where the investment risk 
is borne by policyholders and arising from pension 
fund management 2,122.3 14.5 5,227.5 25.2
Other Life technical provisions -309.4 -2.1 -206.6 -1.0

Total Life provisions 14,670.8 100.0 20,768.5 100.0 -29.4

Total technical provisions 22,245.9 28,286.4 -21.4

On the same basis of consolidation, total Non-Life provisions amounted to €7,214.4m and total Life
provisions to €22,415.6m.

TECHNICAL 
PROVISIONS

Amounts in €m



OTHER FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES

Amounts in €m

4. Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities amounted to €12,653.3m, €12,510.4m on the same basis of consolidation
(€12,198.4m at 31/12/2009). Details are set out in the relevant appendix.

4.1 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
This item, which totalled €1,472.6m, €1,365.7m on the same basis of consolidation (€2,104.5m in
2009), was subdivided into €200.7m of financial liabilities from trading (€117.2m in 2009) and
€1,271.8m of financial liabilities to be measured at fair value through profit or loss (€1,987.3m in
2009). The latter category included investment policies issued by insurance companies where the
investment risk was borne by the policyholders and the insurance risk borne by the Group did not
exceed 10% (several types of Class III, Class V and Class VI policy).

4.2 Other financial liabilities
Details are set out in the table below:

31/12/2010 comp.% 31/12/2009 comp.% var.%

Subordinated liabilities 1,580.1 14.1 1,612.5 16.0 -2.0
Liabilities from financial contracts issued 
by insurance companies 43.2 0.4 52.3 0.5 -17.3
Deposits received from reinsurers 179.0 1.6 178.3 1.8 0.4
Debt securities issued 2,665.8 23.8 2,707.6 26.8 -1.5
Payables to banks 5,443.8 48.7 5,121.7 50.7 6.3
Interbank payables 1,268.8 11.3 421.6 4.2 201.0

Total other financial liabilities 11,180.8 100.0 10,093.9 100.0 10.8

There were €1,580.1m of subordinated liabilities issued by Group companies at 31 December 2010
(€1,612.5m at 31/12/2009), a nominal €1,000m of which had been issued by UGF Assicurazioni (of
which a nominal €38m was held by the same company) and a nominal €620m issued by UGF Banca.

The following subordinated liabilities were issued by UGF Assicurazioni (nominal amounts):
1) €400m of loans granted in 2008 by Mediobanca – Banca di Credito Finanziario S.p.A, perpetual

but reimbursable early, subject to the authorisation of the Supervisory Authority, after the tenth
year. The loan bears interest at the 6-month Euribor rate plus a spread of 250 b.p.  During 2009 a
policy to hedge the interest rate risk was taken out that took effect as from May 2010. The loan is
one of the elements making up the solvency margin and has a level of subordination comparable
to Tier I;

2) €300m of subordinated bond loan issued originally by UGF in 2001, maturing over 20 years and
with the option of early repayment, subject to the authorisation of the Supervisory Authority, as
from the tenth year. The loan, which is listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, bears interest
at an annual fixed rate of 7% until June 2011 (earliest date on which the early repayment clause
may be exercised); subsequently, the loan bears interest at the 3-month Euribor rate plus a
spread of 250 b.p. The loan is one of the elements making up the solvency margin and has a level
of subordination comparable to Tier II;

3) €300m of subordinated bond loan issued originally by UGF in 2003, maturing over 20 years and
with the option of early repayment, subject to the authorisation of the Supervisory Authority, as
from the tenth year. The loan, which is listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, bears interest
at the annual fixed rate of 5.66% until July 2013 (earliest date on which the early repayment
clause may be exercised); subsequently, the loan bears interest at the 3-month Euribor rate plus
a spread of 250 b.p. The loan is one of the elements making up the solvency margin and has a
level of subordination comparable to Tier II.
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The maturity dates and the rates of remuneration of the €606.6m of unlisted subordinated bond
loans issued by UGF Banca outstanding are recorded in the following table:

Nominal amount Year Rate
outstanding of maturity

24.9 m 2011 Fixed rate 3.6%

50.0 m 2015 Fixed rate 3.6%

15.0 m 2017 Fixed rate 4.4%

77.2 m 2017 Floating rate: euribor 3m + 0.20 b.p.

7.0 m 2017 Fixed rate 4.8%

57.5 m 2017 Floating rate: euribor 3m + 0.30 b.p.

25.0 m 2019 Fixed rate 4.5%

50.0 m 2019 Fixed rate 4.5%

300.0 m 2019 Floating rate: 1st coupon 7.15%, subsequent coupons:
average quarter euribor 3m + 640 b.p.

The level of subordination is comparable to Tier II.

€2,665.8m of debt securities was issued (€2,707.6m in 2009). Those relating to the Parent were
(nominal amounts):

- €175m – unsecured senior bond loan issued on 1 July 2009, with a three-year term. The loan,
which is unlisted, bears interest at an annual fixed rate of 5.25%;

- €750m – unsecured senior bond loan issued on 11 December 2009, with a seven-year term.  The
loan, which is listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, bears interest at an annual fixed rate of
5%. The security was issued for a maximum of €2bn under the Euro Medium-Term Notes (EMTN)
scheme and matured on 3 December 2010 with no further issues being made

This item also included €617.9m of securitised notes issued by UGF Banca (€882m in 2009).

5. Payables

Payables totalled €451.5m, €436.6m arising on the same basis of consolidation (€415.2m in 2009) and
were made up of €60m of Payables arising from direct insurance business (€55.4m in 2009), €30.4m of
Payables arising from reinsurance business (€22.5m in 2009) and €361.2m of Other payables (€337.3m
in 2009), details of which are shown in the following table:

31/12/2010 comp.% 31/12/2009 comp.% var.%

Policyholders’ tax due 81.4 22.5 77.8 23.1 4.7
Sundry tax liabilities 65.6 18.2 58.6 17.4 11.9
Trade payables 82.1 22.7 69.7 20.7 17.9
Post-employment benefits 51.1 14.2 56.7 16.8 -9.8
Social security charges payable 17.8 4.9 17.9 5.3 -0.5
Sundry payables 63.1 17.5 56.6 16.8 11.3

Total other payables 361.2 100.0 337.3 100.0 7.1



6. Other liabilities

The item totalled €12,297.8m (€833.4m in 2009).

31/12/2010 comp.% 31/12/2009 comp.% var.%

Current tax liabilities 23.9 0.2 116.9 14.0 -79.5
Deferred tax liabilities 266.2 2.2 204.7 24.6 30.1
Liabilities associated with disposal groups 11,385.9 92.6 0.0 0.0 0.0
Commissions on premiums under collection 59.9 0.5 64.6 7.8 -7.3
Deferred commission income 7.0 0.1 23.4 2.8 -70.0
Accrued expense and deferred income 2.3 0.0 3.5 0.4 -33.1
Other liabilities 552.6 4.5 420.5 50.4 31.4

Total other liabilities 12,297.8 100.0 833.4 100.0

The significant variation was due to BNL Vita’s debit balances being reclassified as 'Liabilities
associated with disposal groups', as required by IFRS 5. On the same basis of consolidation Other
liabilities amounted to €925.3m.
Current tax liabilities consisted of payables to the Inland Revenue for taxation for the year and €9.8m
set aside by UGF for tax assessments for the former Aurora Assicurazioni, which was merged into
UGF on 1 September 2007 after the contribution of its insurance business. The Emilia Romagna
Regional Office assessed the tax payable for 2007 and the Lombardy Regional Office dealt with 2005
and 2006.
Details of deferred tax liabilities are contained in the paragraph relating to income tax.
Other liabilities included €163.2m of miscellaneous payables relating to banking business and €90m
set aside for rappels to be paid to agents and €4.9m set aside for potential payment for the Arca Vita
shares.
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4. NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT

Comments and further information on the items in the income statement and the variations that
took place compared with the previous year are given below (the numbering of the notes relates to
the mandatory layout for the preparation of the income statement). 

Comparisons on the same basis of consolidation exclude the figures for the Arca Vita Group from the
consolidated figures for 2010.

INCOME

1.1 Net premiums

In 2010 net premiums amounted to €8,798.1m, a decrease of 6.6% compared with the previous year
(on the same basis of consolidation -10.7%). 
Gross premiums amounted to €8,939.3m (-6.3% compared with 2009 and -10.5% on the same basis
of consolidation).

31/12/2010 31/12/2009 var.%

Non-Life business - premiums 4,281.0 4,319.4 -0.9
Non-Life business - recognised premiums 4,267.3 4,285.4 -0.4
Non-Life business - changes in the premium provision 13.7 34.0 -59.8

Life business premiums 4,658.3 5,224.6 -10.8

Gross premiums 8,939.3 9,543.9 -6.3

Non-Life business - ceded premiums -123.2 -106.2 16.0
Non-Life business - ceded premiums -128.1 -106.4 20.4
Non-Life business - changes in the provision - 
reinsurers’ share 5.0 0.2

Life business - ceded premiums -18.0 -17.3 4.2

Ceded premiums -141.2 -123.5 14.3

Total net premiums 8,798.1 9,420.4 -6.6

1.2 Commission income

At the end of the year commission income amounted to €125m, €114.7m on the same basis of
consolidation (€106.9m in 2009) and was represented by:
- commissions relating to banking business carried out by the bank companies of the Group

amounting to €101m (€95.8m in 2009); 
- commissions relating to investment policies issued by Group insurance companies (loadings)

amounting to €20m (€11.1m in 2009);



NET GAINS 
ON REMEASUREMENT OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

Amounts in €m

1.3 Gains and losses on remeasurement of financial instruments 
at fair value through profit or loss

This item was negative to the tune of €51.4m, -€54.1m on the same basis of consolidation (positive
to the tune of €328.9m in 2009) and was made up as follows:

31/12/2010 31/12/2009 var. amount

(a) (b) (a-b)

From financial assets held for trading:
Net interest income 21.4 11.7 9.7
Realised gains/losses -23.8 -14.1 -9.6
Unrealised gains/losses -74.3 63.3 -137.6
Other gains and losses -28.3 -30.4 2.1

Total -104.9 30.5 -135.4

From financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:

Net interest income 142.0 118.1 23.9
Realised gains/losses 24.5 15.1 9.4
Unrealised gains/losses 74.5 464.9 -390.4
Other gains and losses -5.7 38.8 -44.5

Total 235.3 636.9 -401.7

From financial liabilities held for trading:
Realised gains/losses -1.5 -5.3 3.8
Unrealised gains/losses 0.1 2.4 -2.4

Total -1.5 -2.9 1.3

From financial instruments 
at fair value through profit or loss:

Unrealised gains/losses -124.5 -335.7 211.2
Other gains and losses -55.7 0.0 -55.7

Total -180.3 -335.7 155.5

Total net gains -51.4 328.9 -380.3

The fall in net gains on remeasurement of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
was due to the fact that by the end of the year losses on Assets held for trading were €137.6m higher
and on designated assets (€390.4m) higher than in 2009, though they were partially offset by lower
losses on Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Unrealised losses on financial assets held for trading included €33.7m of losses on financial
derivatives held as a hedge against increases in the fair value of bonds classified as available-for-
sale assets, for which a hedge adequacy check was carried out.

UNIPOL GRUPPO FINANZIARIO

2010 CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

95



UNIPOL GRUPPO FINANZIARIO

2010 CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

96

1.4 Gains on investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures

These amounted to €1.4m (€0.5m in 2009).

1.5 Gains on other financial instruments and investment property

These amounted to €1,680.1, €1,630.3m on the same basis of consolidation (€1,368.5m in 2009) 
and were made up of:

var.
31/12/2010 comp.% 31/12/2009 comp.% importo

(a) (b) (a-b)

Interest 1,194.7 71.1 1,091.1 79.7 103.6
from held-to-maturity investments 91.2 74.3 16.9
from loans and receivables 507.4 575.9 -68.5
from available-for-sale financial assets 593.8 435.7 158.1
from sundry receivables 1.8 4.0 -2.2
from cash and cash equivalents 0.5 1.3 -0.7

Other gains 97.8 5.8 69.9 5.1 27.9
from investment property 10.4 12.8 -2.4
from loans and receivables 0.2 0.0 0.2
from available-for-sale financial assets 87.3 56.7 30.6
from held-to-maturity investments 0.0 0.4 -0.4

Realised gains 346.3 20.6 205.2 15.0 141.1
from investment property 2.0 9.4 -7.5
from loans and receivables 17.9 26.2 -8.3
from available-for-sale financial assets 326.5 149.7 176.8
from other financial liabilities 0.0 19.9 -19.9

Unrealised gains and reversals of impairment losses 41.3 2.5 2.2 0.2 39.1
from available-for-sale financial assets 41.3 2.2 39.1

Total item 1.5 1,680.1 100.0 1,368.5 100.0 311.7

Unrealised gains on available-for-sale financial assets included €35.8m for increases in fair value of
bonds, the fair value of which was hedged by IRS, which were tested and proved to be effective.

1.6 Other income

This amounted to €128.9m, €127.9m on the same basis of consolidation (€139.7m in 2009) and
included €55.1m of other technical income (€46.3 in 2009), €25.3m of uses of provisions (€27.6m in
2009) and €12.5m of prior year items (€24m in 2009).

GAINS ON OTHER FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Amounts in €m



COSTS AND EXPENSES

2.1 Net charges relating to claims

These totalled €8,472.7m (€9,474.1m in 2009, -10.6% and -14.6% on the same basis of consolidation)
and were made up as follows:

31/12/2010 31/12/2009 var.%

Amounts paid and changes in technical provisions: 8,528.3 9,537.1 -10.6
Non-Life business - amounts paid 3,719.6 3,641.3
Non-Life business - changes in claim provision -243.7 159.9
Non-Life business - changes in recoveries -54.5 -81.9
Non-Life business - changes in other technical provisions -0.2 1.3
Life business - amounts paid 3,008.8 3,259.0
Life business - changes in payable amounts 45.3 -22.2
Changes in mathematical provisions 1,911.9 2,480.2
Life business - changes in other technical provisions 1.7 -60.6
Changes in provision where the investment risk is borne by 
policyholders and arising from pension fund management 139.6 160.0

Reinsurers’ share: -55.7 -63.1 -11.7
Non-Life business - amounts paid -69.2 -115.7
Non-Life business - changes in claim provision 26.1 62.9
Non-Life business - changes in recoveries 1.2 2.8
Non-Life business - changes in other technical provisions 0.0 0.0
Life business - amounts paid -20.3 -21.0
Life business - changes in payable amounts -1.0 -0.4
Changes in mathematical provisions 7.2 6.5
Life business - changes in other technical provisions 0.3 1.9

Total net charges relating to claims 8,472.7 9,474.1 -10.6

2.2 Commission expense

This amounted to €28.3m, €23.8m on the same basis of consolidation (€27.6m in 2009) and was
made up of:
- commission expense relating to business carried out by the bank companies in the Group

amounting to €7m (€14.4m in 2009);
- acquisition costs linked to investment policies issued by the insurance companies in the Group

amounting to €12.9m (€10.1m in 2009), €8.4m on the same basis of consolidation;
- other commissions of €8.4m (€3.1m in 2009).

2.3 Losses on investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures

These amounted to €1.1m (€0.2m in 2009). 
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2.4 Losses on other financial instruments and investment property

This item amounted to €436m, €432.3m on the same basis of consolidation (€1,249.8m in 2009) and
was made up of:

31/12/2010 comp.% 31/12/2009 comp.% var.%

Interest: 218.6 50.1 193.8 15.5 12.8
from other financial liabilities 217.9 192.8
from payables 0.7 1.1

Other charges: 10.9 2.5 10.0 0.8 9.4
from investment property 3.0 3.3
from available-for-sale financial assets 6.1 4.8
from other financial liabilities 1.8 1.9

Realised losses: 70.8 16.2 57.7 4.6 22.6
from loans and receivables 0.0 19.9
from available-for-sale financial assets 70.5 37.9
from other financial liabilities 0.3 0.0

Unrealised losees and impairment losses: 135.7 31.1 988.3 79.1 -86.3
from investment property 1.8 1.8
from held-to-maturity investments 0.0 26.4
from loans and receivables 52.7 101.4
from available-for-sale financial assets 81.2 858.7

Total item 2.4 436.0 100.0 1,249.8 100.0 -65.1

The reduction in this item compared with 2009 was due to lower impairment losses on equities
classified as available-for-sale financial assets recognised in accordance with the Group’s
impairment policy, which amounted to €80.9m at 31 December 2010 (€798.1m in 2009, mainly
because of changes to the impairment policy applying to equities recognised as available-for-sale
financial assets following publication of the Joint Banca d’Italia, CONSOB and ISVAP Document on
3/3/2010).

Unrealised losses on loans and receivables included €52.7m relating to loans to bank customers
(€87.6m in 2009).

LOSSES ON OTHER
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Amounts in €m



Non-Life Life TotalOPERATING EXPENSES -
INSURANCE BUSINESS

Amounts in €m

OTHER 
COSTS

Amounts in €m

2.5 Operating expenses

These totalled €1,363.6m, €1,338.7m on the same basis of consolidation (€1,365.8m in 2009).
Operating expenses in the insurance business amounted to €1,079.2m, €1,049.2m on the same
basis of consolidation (€1,059.2m in 2009, +1.9% and -0.9% on the same basis of consolidation) and
were made up of:

Dec-10 Dec-09 var.% Dec-10 Dec-09 var.% Dec-10 Dec-09 var.%

Acquisition commissions 552.4 548.1 0.8 46.4 35.9 29.2 598.8 584.0 2.5
Other acquisition costs 149.0 150.0 -0.7 35.3 31.2 13.4 184.3 181.1 1.7
Changes in deferred acquisition costs 3.6 11.4 -68.8 1.6 3.1 -49.8 5.1 14.6 -64.7
Collection commissions 111.2 111.4 -0.1 9.2 9.9 -6.5 120.4 121.2 -0.7
Profit participation and other 
commissions from insurers -30.3 -17.7 71.4 -2.5 -3.2 -20.7 -32.8 -20.9 57.4
Investment management expenses 12.1 7.4 63.4 20.6 14.2 45.6 32.8 21.6 51.7
Other administrative expenses 127.8 121.2 5.4 42.8 36.3 17.9 170.6 157.5 8.3

Total 925.8 931.9 -0.7 153.4 127.3 20.5 1,079.2 1,059.2 1.9

Operating expenses relating to banking business amounted to €265.9m (€269.2m in 2009) and those
in the Holding and Services business amounted to €82.8m (€117.9m in 2009). Intersegment
eliminations amounted to €64.3m (€80.5m in 2009).

2.6 Other costs

These amounted to €210.3, €195.6m on the same basis of consolidation (€220.6m in 2009) and were
made up of:

31/12/2010 comp.% 31/12/2009 comp.% var.%

Other technical costs 107.0 50.9 91.2 41.4 17.3
Impairment losses on receivables 7.4 3.5 6.3 2.8
Other costs 96.0 45.6 123.1 55.8 -22.0

Total other costs 210.3 100.0 220.6 100.0 -4.6

Other costs include €31.1m of accruals to provisions (€28.7m in 2009), most of them accruals to
provisions for litigation, disputes with agencies and the reorganisation of the sales network, plus
€15.8m of amortisation/depreciation of tangible and intangible assets (€12.5m in 2009).
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3. Income tax

In accordance with the provisions of IAS 12 the following table shows, at consolidated level, the
deferred taxes utilised and accrued.

Ires Irap Total Ires Irap Total

Current taxes -195.4 11.4 -184.0 65.1 33.0 98.1

Deferred assets and liabilities 258.9 24.0 283.0 -265.2 -37.4 -302.7
Use of deferred tax assets 210.1 4.3 214.4 95.9 2.6 98.6
Use of deferred tax liabilities -12.3 -1.5 -13.8 -43.2 -13.7 -56.9
Use of accrued tax assets -116.1 -3.3 -119.4 -363.6 -33.3 -396.9
Use of accrued tax liabilities 177.3 24.6 201.9 45.7 6.9 52.6

Total 63.6 35.4 99.0 -200.1 -4.5 -204.6

Current taxation included charges of €9.8m because the amount of tax payable by UGF for previous
years was higher than the Revenue Agency had assessed. For further details you are referred to the
section on Relations with the Revenue Agency in the Management Report.

31/12/2010 31/12/2009
tax effect tax effect

Assets
Intangible assets and property, plant & equipment 24.0 20.7
Technical provisions - reinsurers' share 0.0 0.0
Investment property 36.2 36.3
Financial instruments 242.9 318.0
Sundry receivables and other assets 0.3 0.2
Provisions 40.4 39.9
Technical provisions 105.0 76.4
Payables and other liabilities 6.2 8.1
Other deferred tax assets 54.7 49.5

Total deferred tax assets 509.8 549.1

Liabilities
Intangible assets and property, plant & equipment 58.2 34.9
Investment property 2.7 5.3
Financial instruments 154.8 115.3
Sundry receivables and other liabilities 0.2 0.2
Provisions 2.6 2.3
Technical provisions 45.9 40.2
Financial liabilities 0.2 0.4
Loans and other liabilities 0.2 3.0
Other deferred tax liabilities 1.4 3.1

Total deferred tax liabilities 266.2 204.7

BREAKDOWN 
OF INCOME TAX

Amounts in €m

MAJOR DIFFERENCES 
FOR THE PURPOSES 
OF DEFERRED TAXES

Amounts in €m

31/12/2010 31/12/2009



EARNINGS 
PER SHARE

5. OTHER INFORMATION

5.1 Hedge Accounting

At 31 December 2010 fair value and cash flow hedges were being carried out.

Fair value hedges
Fair value hedges were transactions to hedge variations in fair value of several government debt
securities classified as available-for-sale assets, the aim being to cancel out the variations in fair
value of the securities as a result of the variation in the interest rate compared with the market rate
at the time the hedging transaction was launched. 
The financial instruments designated as hedging instruments were Interest Rate Swaps, the fair
value of which had fallen by €115m at 31 December 2010. The fair value of the hedged bonds is
€127.1m while the hedging was in force.
At 31 December 2010 hedging was effective since the ratios between the variations in fair value of
the hedged derivatives and the variation in fair value linked to the risk of the underlying assets
hedged were still within the range 80%-125%. 
The fair value of the IRS was negative by €33.7m during 2010 and that of the underlying assets was
positive by €35.8m, the net financial repercussion being positive to the tune of €2.1m.

Cash flow hedges
UGF Assicurazioni had a €400m cash flow hedge on perpetual hybrid loans, with variable half-yearly
coupon, issued in May 2009 and repayable in 2018. The aim of this transaction was to transform the
indexation of the loan from floating to fixed rate, thus stabilising future cash flows.  The cumulative
negative effect on Equity, in the reserve for gains or losses on cash flow hedges, was €25m at 
31 December 2010 (€16.9m net of tax).

UGF Banca had €224m of cash flow hedge types of cover on bond loans repayable in 2011, 2013 and
2017. The aim of this transaction was to transform the indexation of the loan from floating to fixed
rate, thus stabilising cash flows. 
The cumulative negative effect on Equity, in the reserve for gains or losses on cash flow hedges, was
€7.8m at 31 December 2010 (€5.3m net of tax).

5.2 Earnings per share

Basic and diluted

31/12/2010 31/12/2009

Earnings/(loss) allocated to ordinary shares (€m) 19.7 -477.7
Weighted average of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year (amounts in millions) 1,747.5 1,466.9

Basic earnings per share (EUR per share) 0.01 -0.33
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5.3 Dividends 

The dividends paid by the Parent UGF for 2009 were €100.4m. The dividend was €0.04 per ordinary
share and €0.0452 per preference share.

The financial statements of the Parent UGF at 31 December 2010, drawn up in accordance with the
Italian GAAP, show a loss of €63.7m. UGF’s Board of Directors is therefore not proposing a dividend
for 2010.

5.4 Non-current assets held for sale or disposal groups  

As already mentioned, in view of the forthcoming sale of the entire investment in BNL Vita (51% of
the share capital) the assets and liabilities concerned were reclassified as consolidated assets and
consolidated liabilities respectively, in both cases under item 6.1.

The following table shows the carrying amounts of the main classes of BNL Vita assets and liabilities
held for sale.

31/12/2010

Intangible assets 49.0

Property, plant and equipment 0.1

Technical provisions - reinsurers’ share 13.7

Investments 11,563.3
Loans and receivables 614.6
Available-for-sale financial assets 6,746.9
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4,201.9

Sundry receivables 162.7

Other assets 6.1

Cash and cash equivalents 16.9

Total non-current assets held for sale or disposal groups 11,811.9

31/12/2010

Provisions 0.4

Technical provisions 10,376.4

Financial liabilities 918.1
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 915.5
Other financial liabilities 2.6

Payables 23.8

Other liabilities 67.2

Total liabilities associated with disposal groups 11,385.9

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
HELD FOR SALE 
OR DISPOSAL GROUPS

Amounts in €m

LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED
WITH DISPOSAL GROUPS

Amounts in €m



5.5 Transactions with related parties

The services supplied by the Parent UGF that did not affect the competitiveness of the individual
operating companies, covered the following areas in particular:
- Communications and Training;
- Staffing and organisation (human resources);
- Planning and management accounts;
- Legislation (legal services);
- Governance (internal controls, risk management and compliance with relevant legislation);
- Commercial (strategic marketing, planning, commercial communication etc.).

UGF Assicurazioni provided services relating to the following areas:
- Non-Life and Life management accounts;
- Legal affairs and data protection;
- IT services;
- Health and safety at work;
- Technical training and Organisation:
- Sales network management and training;
- Administrative (accounting, tax, administrative and financial statements services);
- Property, purchasing and auxiliary services;
- Claims management and settlement;
- Complaints management;
- Marketing;
- Reinsurance;
- Finance.

UGF Assicurazioni also carried out with the companies in the Group:
- normal reinsurance and coinsurance transactions; 
- property leases;
- agency mandates.

Both UGF and UGF Assicurazioni seconded staff to the companies in the Group.

Fees paid to UGF and UGF Assicurazioni are based on external costs incurred, for example for
products and services acquired from their suppliers, and on the costs arising out of the activities of
the companies themselves, i.e. generated by their own staff, and taking account of:
- the performance objectives that provision of the service to the Company must achieve;
- the strategic investments to be implemented in order to ensure the levels of service agreed;
- the requirement for the service provided to be largely in line with market terms.
The following elements are specifically taken into consideration:
- staffing costs;
- operating costs (logistics etc.);
- general costs (IT, consultancy etc.).

For centralised services the operating companies are charged a mark-up to take account of the
allocated cost.

Unisalute handled Health claims on behalf of UGF Assicurazioni and Navale Assicurazioni.

Financial and commercial transactions between the companies in the Banking Group and the other
companies in the Group came under the usual business of a group split into different companies and
related to deposit, financing or finance lease services. Agreements were also entered into for the
sale and/or management of banking and financial products and/or services and for the provision of
auxiliary banking services in general. The financial effects of these transactions were governed by
the market terms applied to major customers.
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The above transactions are not atypical or unusual.

Finsoe SpA held 50.75% of UGF SpA’s ordinary share capital on 31 December 2010 whilst Holmo
SpA, UGF’s indirect holding company, held 76.50% of Finsoe SpA's share capital.
In accordance with Article 2497 et seq. of the Italian Civil Code, none of the shareholders of the
Parent UGF SpA manage or coordinate it. Finsoe SpA, which holds a controlling investment in UGF
SpA as defined in Article 2359, para. 1, 1, of the Italian Civil Code, does not manage or coordinate it
either in technical or financial terms.

As part of UGF’s share capital increase carried out in July 2010, in accordance with its commitment
made under the offer Finsoe paid a total of €143,232,143.33 for 321,865,485 new Unipol ordinary
shares, or 50.748% of the ordinary shares offered, and 6,675 new Unipol preference shares, or
0.002% of the preference shares offered.
Once the entire UGF share capital increase had been subscribed and the transaction completed,
Finsoe held 50.748% of UGF’s ordinary share capital, 0.002% of the preference share capital and
31.405% of the total share capital.

The holding company, Finsoe, was also the ultimate parent for tax purposes of UGF Assicurazioni,
Linear, Navale Assicurazioni, Navale Vita, Midi and Smallpart, which, in accordance with Article 117
et seq. of Presidential Decree 917/86 and the Ministerial Decree of 9/6/2004, have, as consolidated
companies, opted for the Group consolidated taxation system (for the purposes of IRES).
Receivables from the ultimate parent for tax purposes, Finsoe, amounted to €371.3m 
at 31 December 2010.

The following table shows transactions with related parties (parents, associates, related companies
and other companies) carried out during 2010, as laid down in IAS 24 and in CONSOB
Communication DEM/6064293/2006. The information relating to directors, statutory auditors,
general managers and key managers (recorded under Others) does not include remuneration and
fees for their appointments nor for the work they carried out, which are shown separately.

Transactions with subsidiaries have not been recognised since in drawing up the consolidated
financial statements transactions among consolidated Group companies have been eliminated as
part of the normal consolidation process.



Direct Indirect Associates Other Total Inc.% Inc.% 
Parent Parent (3) (1) (2)

4.2 Investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and interests in joint ventures 0.0 0.0 13.9 13.9 0.0 0.5

4.4 Loans and receivables 0.0 0.0 28.1 28.1 0.1 1.0

5.1 Receivables relating to direct insurance business 0.0 0.0 27.7 27.7 0.1 1.0

5.3 Other receivables 371.3 0.0 0.3 371.6 0.7 13.6

Total assets 371.3 0.0 70.0 0.0 441.3 0.9 16.2

4.2 Other financial liabilities 71.8 11.9 26.3 110.0 0.2 4.0

5.1 Payables relating to direct insurance business 0,0 0,0 0,9 0,9 0,0 0,0

5.3 Other payables 0,0 0,0 0,2 0,2 0,0 0,0

6.4 Other liabilities 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0

Total liabilities 71.8 11.9 27.5 0.0 111.3 0.2 4.1

1.5 Gains on other financial instruments 
and investment property 0.6 0.2 0.8 1.5 2.1 0.1

1.6 Other income 0,1 0,0 0,7 0,8 1,1 0,0

Total revenue and income 0.7 0.2 1.5 0.0 2.4 3.3 0.1

2.2 Commission expense 0,0 0,0 0,3 0,3 0,4 0,0

2.4 Gains/(losses) on other financial instruments 
and investment property 3.8 3.1 0.1 7.0 9.8 0.3

2.5 Operating expenses 0.0 0.0 54.0 54.0 75.9 2.0

Total costs and expenses 3.8 3.1 54.7 0.0 61.5 86.5 2.3

Remuneration payable for 2010 to the Parent's Directors, Statutory Auditors and Key Managers for
carrying out their duties in UGF and in other consolidated companies amounted to €9.3m, details 
of which are as follows (in €m):

- Directors and General Manager 5.4
- Statutory auditors 0.5
- Key managers 3.4 (*)

During 2010 the companies in the Group paid UGF the sum of €1m as remuneration for the posts
held in them by the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, the General Manager and the Key
Managers. 

During 2010 UGF repaid UGF Assicurazioni €37m for the two loans taken out during 2009 as a result
of the subsidiary UGF Assicurazioni taking over as issuer of the UGF 7% and UGF 5.66%
subordinated bond loans. At 31 December 2010 the balance of these loans amounted to €267.8m
(€305.8m at 31/12/2009).

During July 2010 Holmo sold its share (nominal amount  €68.6m) of the senior bond loan issued by
UGF during 2009 to third parties for a total nominal amount of €175m. Finsoe held €70m of this loan
at 31 December 2010.
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(1) Percentage based on total assets
in the consolidated statement of
financial position recognised under
equity and based on the
consolidated profit/(loss) for the
year under financial items.

(2) Percentage based on total net cash
flows from the operating activities
in the statement of cash flows.

(3) The column ‘Other’ includes
related companies and individuals
identified as related parties
(directors, statutory auditors,
general managers, key managers
and their family members).

(*) almost exclusively income 
from employment

RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Amounts in €m
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5.6 Non-recurring events and significant transactions

As already mentioned in the management report the following non-recurring significant transactions
were carried out during 2010:

UGF SpA’s share capital increase
On 17 June 2010, having obtained the required permits from the relevant authorities, under the powers
vested in it by the Shareholders’ Meeting of 29 April 2010 UGF SpA's Board of Directors approved the
definitive terms for the option offer to shareholders and listing on the Mercato Telematico Azionario,
the stock exchange organised and managed by Borsa Italiana SpA, of Unipol ordinary shares with free
‘Unipol 2010-2013 ordinary share warrants’ and Unipol preference shares with free ‘Unipol 2010-2013
preference share warrants’ at a ratio of one Unipol 2010-2013 Ordinary Share Warrant and one Unipol
2010-2013 Preference Share Warrant respectively for each ordinary share and each preference share
subscribed (the ‘Offer').
The Company’s Board of Directors voted, inter alia, to issue:
a) a maximum of 634,236,765 new ordinary shares to be offered as an option to ordinary

shareholders at a unit price of €0.445, at a ratio of 3 new ordinary shares for every 7 ordinary
shares owned, and a maximum of 97,574,886 ordinary conversion shares for the purpose of
exercising a maximum of 634,236,765 Unipol 2010-2013 Ordinary Share Warrants at a ratio of 2
ordinary conversion shares for every 13 Unipol 2010-2013 Ordinary Share Warrants exercised, at a
unit price of €0.720;  and

b) a maximum of 390,660,132 new preference shares to be offered as an option to preference
shareholders at a unit price of €0.300, at a ratio of 3 new preference shares for every 7 preference
shares owned, and a maximum of 60,101,558 preference conversion shares for the purpose of
exercising a maximum of 390,660,132 Unipol 2010-2013 Preference Share Warrants at a ratio of 2
preference conversion shares for every 13 Unipol 2010-2013 Preference Share Warrants
exercised, at a unit price of €0.480.

In determining the offer price for the ordinary and preference shares UGF's Board of Directors, took
account, inter alia, of the list prices of the Company's ordinary and preference shares, the market
terms and the market procedures for similar operations.

The share capital increase concluded in July with all 634,236,765 new Unipol ordinary shares and all
390,660,192 new Unipol preference shares, or approximately 30% of the new share capital, being
subscribed for a total of €399,433,400.03 (gross of gains and expenses worth €5.2m). Consequently the
intervention of the underwriting syndicate coordinated and directed by Mediobanca – Banca di Credito
Finanziario SpA in its capacity as single Global Coordinator and Bookrunner was not required.

Unipol Gruppo Finanziario’s post-increase share capital therefore amounts to €2,698,895,169.10 and
is represented by 3,416,322,997 shares with no nominal amount, 2,114,122,551 of which are Unipol
ordinary shares and 1,302,200,446 are Unipol preference shares. 
There are 634,236,765 Unipol 2010-2013 Ordinary Share Warrants and 390,660,132 Unipol 2010-2013
Preference Share Warrants outstanding.

Acquisition of 60% of the Arca Group 
On 22 June 2010 UGF SpA acquired 60% of Arca Vita SpA's share capital from companies in the
BPER Banking Group and from BPSO at a price of €269.8m and in turn Arca Vita acquired from the
BPER Group and BPSO, and from other shareholders who had exercised the right to withdraw, a
further 31.56% of Arca Assicurazioni SpA’s share capital, of which it already held 64.08%, for
€46.8m. 
For further information you are referred to the section Notes on acquisitions made during the year in
these Notes to the financial statements.

The market was notified of this transaction by means of press releases issued at the appropriate time. 



5.7 Atypical and/or unusual transactions

There were no atypical and/or unusual transactions that, because of their significance or
importance, the nature of the counterparties or the procedures for determining the price, because
they occurred close to the end of the year, could give rise to doubts relating to the accuracy and
completeness of the information in these consolidated financial statements, a conflict of interest, the
safeguarding of equity or the protection of non-controlling shareholders.

5.8 Criteria to determine the recoverable amount of goodwill with an indefinite 
life (impairment test)

As in previous years, in accordance with IAS 36.10, which provides for the impairment of intangible
assets that have an indefinite useful life, the impairment test was carried out on the goodwill
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The measurement criteria continued to be prudent in view of the continuing weaknesses and
contradictions in the financial markets, although there were signs of an upturn, in particular:
- the use of discounting rates;
- off-plan factors for growth that took account of recent macroeconomic and business forecasts.
Details of both these parameters are given below.

Appropriate Sensitivity Analyses were also developed to test the extent to which the recoverable
amounts of goodwill if the main parameters used, such as the rate of discounting and the long-term
growth rate (g factor), varied. 

The Cash Generating Units to which goodwill was allocated were not the same as the previous year
as a result of the following transactions:
- acquisition on 22 June 2010 of the Arca Vita Group 
- in view of the sale of UGF’s entire investment in BNL Vita scheduled for 2011, assets and liabilities

were reclassified under two separate items on the statement of financial position and the goodwill
was based, and checked, on the selling price, which had already been fixed.

In addition on 21 December 2010, once the formalities had been completed, Navale Assicurazioni’s
insurance business was contributed to UGF Assicurazioni and Navale Assicurazioni was
subsequently merged into UGF SpA, taking effect for legal, accounting and tax purposes as from 1
January 2011.

Thus the CGU consisted of the following at 31 December 2010:

• Non-Life CGU UGF Assicurazioni – Non-Life (including Navale Assicurazioni), 
Unisalute, Linear;

• Life CGU UGF Assicurazioni - Life, Arca Group;
• Banking CGU UGF Banca Group. 

The figures in the forecasts shown below were approved by the Boards of Directors of the individual
companies.
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Measurement In view of the latest guidelines, which, in the wake of the decision taken by IFRIC, allow the
method used DDM to be used for determining the value in use in the consolidated financial statements

provided that it is applied in accordance with IAS 36 and in particular using future cash flows
available for shareholders rather than cash flows relating to dividends, the DDMs, which had
already been used in previous years, were updated to take account of these indications.
The method used was therefore an excess capital type of DDM (Dividend Discount Model) 
and focused on the future cash flows theoretically available for shareholders, without drawing
on the assets needed to support the expected growth and in accordance with the capital
requirements imposed by the Supervisory Authority. 
According to this method the value of the economic capital is the sum of the current value 
of potential future cash flows and the current terminal value.

Net profits used Deemed to be the plan net profits

Projection period Five flows were discounted.

Rate of discounting A rate of discounting of 8.72% was used and can be broken down as follows:
- risk-free rate 4.03% 
- beta coefficient 0.94 
- risk premium 5% 
The average figure for the 10-year Long-Term Treasury Bond for the period July – December
2010 was used for the risk-free rate.  
The five-year adjusted Bloomberg beta coefficient was used as the beta coefficient for listed
companies operating in the Non-Life business to December. 
The premium at risk was deemed to be 5%, in accordance with common practice among
financial analysts and the profession in general.   

Long term growth rate Several significant growth indicators relating to the reference market and to the 
(g factor) macroeconomic situation were taken into account.

In particular, the annual average rate of growth of Non-Life premiums for 2011-2013 
was expected to be 3.7%.
The average variation in GDP is expected to be 3.7% in nominal terms.
The average consumer price index for 2011-2013 is expected to be approximately 1.7%. 
In view of this it was deemed appropriate to use a g factor of 2%, in line with the professional
practices used.

Goodwill recoverable The recoverable amount of UGF Assurazioni Vita's goodwill was based on discounting expected
amount cash flows, as derived from the in-house actuarial model.

In the case of the Arca Group, Arca Vita was measured using the Appraisal Value method 
and the DDM mentioned above was used for the subsidiary Arca Assicurazioni.
The Arca Group was considered as a whole since both companies use the same sales 
channel (banking). 

Measurement   The method used was based on discounting expected income flows.  
method used

Net profits used Deemed to be the plan net profits

Projection period Five flows were discounted.

NON-LIFE CGU 

LIFE CGU

BANKING 
CGU



UGF BANCA CGU 

Amounts in €m
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Rate of discounting The rate is deemed to be 8.16% and is broken down as follows:  
- risk-free rate 4.03%
- beta coefficient 0.82
- risk premium 5% 
The average figure for the 10-year Long-Term Treasury Bond for the period 
July – December 2010 was used for the risk-free rate.
The beta coefficient used was a 5-year adjusted beta coefficient recorded in December 
for a sample of listed Banks deemed to be comparable. 
The premium at risk was deemed to be 5%, in accordance with common practice among
financial analysts and the profession in general.

Long term growth rate For example in Banking Business the annual average growth rate is expected to be:
(g factor) - 4.8% for lending (for 2011-2013)

- 4.5% for funding (for 2011-2013)
- 5.4% for interest margin (for 2011-2013)
- 4.9% for gross income (for 2011-2013)
In view of this, it was deemed appropriate to use a g factor of 2%, in line with the professional
practices used.

In the case of the UGF Banca Banking Group, the goodwill recognised on acquisitions of bank
branches during the period 2001-2004 was tested for impairment.

Measurement   The method used was based on discounting expected income flows.  
method used

Rate of discounting The rate is deemed to be 8.16% and is broken down as follows:    
- risk-free rate 4.03%  
- beta coefficient 0.82
- risk premium 5% 
The average figure for the 10-year Long-Term Treasury Bond for the period 
July – December 2010 was used for the risk-free rate.
The beta coefficient used was a 5-year adjusted beta coefficient recorded in December 
for a sample of listed Banks deemed to be comparable. 
The premium at risk was deemed to be 5%, in accordance with common practice among
financial analysts and the profession in general

Long term growth rate For example in Banking Business the annual average growth rate is expected to be:
(g factor) - 4.8% for lending (for 2011-2013)

- 4.5% for funding (for 2011-2013)
- 5.4% for interest margin (for 2011-2013)
- 4.9% for gross income (for 2011-2013)
In view of this, it was deemed appropriate to use a g factor of 2%, in line with the professional
practices used.

Projection period Five expected flows were discounted.

On the basis of the simulations carried out, in accordance with the parameters described above, it
was not deemed necessary to adjust goodwill recognised at 31 December 2010. 
Below are the results of the impairment tests along with the relevant sensitivity analyses.

Allocation Recoverable Surplus
of goodwill amount 

Non-Life CGU 1,047.5 1,908.8 861.2 
Life CGU 348.8 482.6 133.9 
Banking business CGU 545.2 999.6 454.4 
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Parameters used Non-Life Bank 

Risk Free 4.03% 4.03%
Beta 0.94 0.82 
Risk premium 5% 5%

Short-term discounting rate 8.72% 8.16%
Range 7.72% - 9.72% 7.16% - 9.16%
Pass 0.5% 0.5%

g 2% 2%
Range 1% - 3% 1% - 3%
Pass 0.5% 0.5%

Delta of recoverable amount - goodwill = 0

Sensitivity Hp. 1 (rate g same as rate Hp. 2 (rate g equal to 0) 
(value range) used for impairment)

CGU Delta of Min Max g Short-term  g Short-term  
recoverable discounting rate discounting rate

amount - goodwill

Non-Life business
Non-Life UGF 682.9 270.7 1,426.6 2% 11.47% 0% 10.75%
Unisalute 75.9 52.8 117.9 2% 18.16% 0% 17.86%
Linear 102.4 71.2 159.2 2% 19.44% 0% 18.93%

Banking business 454.4 56.7 1,234.6 2% 10.25% 0% 8.76%

Parameters used Life

YIELD (average yield rates) 3.80%

RDR (risk discount rate) 6.25%

Delta sensitivity of recoverable  
amount - goodwill

CGU Delta of Yield - 50 bps        Yield + 50 bps         
recoverable RDR - 50 bps RDR + 50bps

amount - goodwill

UGF Vita 38.8 (3.8) 62.8 

Arca Vita sensitivity value

Company Value Yield - 50 bps        Yield + 50 bps         
RDR - 50 bps RDR + 50bps

Arca Vita 417.0 413.6 417.6 
Arca Assicurazioni 208.3 208.3 208.3 
Arca Vita+Arca Assicurazioni 619.0 615.7 619.7 

Arca Assicurazioni sensitivity value

Company Value Min Max

Arca Vita 417.0 417.0 417.0 
Arca Assicurazioni 208.3 168.4 281.0 
Arca Vita+Arca Assicurazioni 619.0 580.3 689.6 

SENSITIVITY ANALYSES

Amounts in €m
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5.9 Notes on Non-Life business

Procedural note on fixing the level of provisions and assumptions made for the liability adequacy
test (LAT)
The process that leads to making the assumptions is carried out in such a way as to make a neutral
valuation (i.e. neither optimistic nor prudent) of the liabilities with the intention of coming up with an
estimate that is as realistic as possible.
The source of the figures is internal and the trends are based on annual statistics and monitored
monthly throughout the year.
As far as possible assumptions are checked against market statistics.
If any information is missing, incomplete or unreliable the estimate of the final cost is based on
prudent assumptions.

The very nature of insurance business makes it very difficult to forecast the cost of settling a claim
with any certainty. The provision for each claim reported is set by an adjuster and is based on the
information in his possession and on experience gained in similar cases. The forecasts fed into the
system are periodically updated on the basis of new information about the claim. The final cost may
vary as the claim proceeds (for example deterioration in the condition in the event of injury) or in the
event of natural disasters. Estimating the final cost is very difficult and the various elements that
make it so complex vary depending on the class in question.
As the Group’s work is concentrated in Italy the major exposure to catastrophic risks is represented
by natural disasters such as earthquake and flood. 
Reinsurance cover is taken out to cover this type of risk, at different levels for each of the companies
in the Group. The thresholds have been judged sufficiently prudent, being calculated using statistical
models that simulate the company’s exposure in detail.

The claims’ provisions are estimated using the inventory method. In the case of third-party liability
classes the adjusters’ estimates are also combined with the results of statistical methods such as
the ‘chain ladder’ and the ‘Bornhuetter Ferguson’ and with valuations based on the average costs for
the year (for similar groups covering a sufficiently large number of claims).
The introduction of the direct indemnity scheme in the MV TPL class created a discontinuity in the
figures. Therefore the final cost for the most recent years (2007-2010) was based on average costs
calculated for similar groups with a sufficiently large number of claims and the results obtained
were compared with the loss ratios expected.
The chain ladder method is applied to the amount paid out, the loading and the amount paid out
adjusted for inflation. The method is based on historical analysis of the factors that affect the trend
in claims. The selection of these factors is based on the figures for the accumulated amounts paid
out, which produces an estimate of the final cost per year of occurrence if the claims for that year
have not been paid in full. 
The chain ladder method is suitable for sectors in which the figures are stable and is therefore not
suitable in cases in which there is no significantly stable previous periods.

The Bornhuetter Ferguson method uses a combination of a benchmark, or estimates of the ratio of
losses to a priori premium and an estimate based on claims incurred (chain ladder). 
The two estimates are combined using a formula that gives greater weight to experience. This
technique is used in situations in which the figures are not suitable for making projections (recent
years and new classes of risk).

These methods extrapolate the final cost according to the year in which the claim is incurred and
according to similar groups of risk on the basis of the trends in claims recorded by the Group in the
past. Should there be a reason for deeming the trends recorded to be invalid some of the factors are
modified and the projection is adapted to fit the information we currently hold.
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Some examples of what affects the trends could be:
- changes in the claims handling procedures involving different approaches to making allocations to

reserves
- market trends showing increases higher than inflation (may be linked to the business cycle or to

political, legal or social trends)
- random fluctuations including the impact of ‘major’ claims.

Claims incurred but not yet reported are estimated on the basis of the historical trends within the
company, with the number and the average costs of the claims being estimated separately.
As provided for in IFRS 4 the provisions were not discounted.

Change in the assumptions made and analysis of the sensitivity of the model
The estimated cost for 2001-2009 at 31 December 2010 is €26,992m, an increase compared with the
valuation carried out at 31 December 2009 for the same years (€26,896m). The new figure takes
account of the savings recorded on claims that have been settled and of the revaluations required on
claims that are still outstanding. 

The values determined by means of the Liability Adequacy Test (LAT) indicate that the provisions are
sufficient overall (0.6%) and assume that in the type of business concerned (third-party liability class)
inflation is 4.5%.
The risks arising from insurance policies are complex and subject to numerous variables that make
the task of quantifying the sensitivity of the model very complicated.
In order to assess the sensitivity of the models to the change in the assumptions the provisions on
the assumption of a 1% increase in the rate of adjustment of the average costs of claims in Motor
TPL were valued.

Prior to 1999 1999-2010 Total Delta %

Reserve requirements 246 5,652 5,898 

LAT 4.5% 246 5,616 5,862 -0.6%

LAT 5.5% 246 5,673 5,919 0.4%

The incidence of the amount of the 581 major claims (exceeding €800,000 in the case of Motor TPL,
€400,000 in the case of General TPL and €350,000 in the case of Fire) on the total provisions of the
three classes is 15.2%. A 10% increase in the number of major claims would have led to a fall in
provisions of €51.8m.
The incidence on total provisions of claims handled by others is 6.6%. If reinsurers had written up
these claims by 5% costs would have risen by €14.7m.

In assessing the results of these variations it must be borne in mind that these analyses are of the
deterministic type and no account is taken of any correlations.

Trend in claims 
The tables below, which illustrate the trend in claims, show the estimated first-year costs for each
year in which claims were incurred from 2001 until 2010 and the adjustments made in subsequent
years as a result of the claim being settled or the budget being adjusted as a result of fuller
information about the claim being received. 
The line showing the variation compared with the first-year provision must be considered separately
since subsequent adjustments may already have been incorporated into the figures for later years.
Maximum caution must be exercised when extrapolating from the figures in the following tables for
the purpose of ascertaining the adequacy or inadequacy of provisions.
The Group considers the provisions for claims reported or yet to be reported incurred by 
31 December 2010 to be adequate in the light of information currently available. Of course, as they
are estimates there is no absolute certainty that the provisions are in fact adequate.

INFLATION ASSUMED 
TO BE GREATER THAN 1%

Amounts in €m



TREND IN CLAIMS 
(ALL CLASSES EXCEPT
ASSISTANCE) 

Amounts in €m

Year incurred 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 TOTAL

Estimate of claims accumulated
- at the end of year incurred 2,599 2,696 2,779 2,853 2,879 3,004 3,155 3,480 3,661 3,381 30,487
- after one year 2,570 2,617 2,712 2,794 2,837 3,004 3,177 3,541 3,660
- after two years 2,556 2,611 2,714 2,796 2,813 2,994 3,234 3,635
- after three years 2,551 2,631 2,712 2,783 2,793 3,019 3,245
- after four years 2,562 2,636 2,690 2,769 2,797 3,020
- after five years 2,559 2,633 2,674 2,765 2,793
- after six years 2,556 2,635 2,677 2,771
- after seven years 2,551 2,642 2,666
- after eight years 2,559 2,645
- after nine years 2,557

Estimate of claims accumulated 2,557 2,645 2,666 2,771 2,793 3,020 3,245 3,635 3,660 3,381 30,373

Accumulated payments 2,445 2,488 2,494 2,538 2,528 2,684 2,797 2,947 2,651 1,334 24,906

Variation compared with the 
valuation in year 1 -43 -50 -114 -82 -86 16 90 155 0 0

Outstanding at 31/12/2010 111 158 171 233 265 336 448 688 1,009 2,047 5,467

Effects of discounting 0

Carrying amount 111 158 171 233 265 336 448 688 1,009 2,047 5,467

The breakdown of the IBNR estimate at 31 December 2009 showed a total shortfall in 2010 of
€64.7m or 12.3% of the estimate. Most of this difference was in the MV TPL class and was for ‘late
accounts’ arising out of new items on claims already opened in previous years or for various types of
claim that had been closed but reopened, most on group policies for fleets of company cars. 

5.10 Notes on Life business

Pricing, loadings, other charges and procedures for remunerating the network
In developing product-pricing policies the companies in the Group generally use the traditional
structures that provide for loadings on the premium paid and/or recurrent margins linked to keeping
the policy in force. These loadings, which are intended to cover policy acquisition and operating
costs, are normally quoted as a percentage (which varies according to the amount paid or the
accumulated premiums, the age of the policyholder and the term of the policy) and/or as a fixed
sum. 
During the life of the policy the companies’ recurrent margins normally take the form of partial
retrocessions of the gross returns on the separately managed businesses or on the securities
matching specific provisions and of a fixed minimum return retained by the companies. The
recurrent margins on unit-linked products take the form of commissions and may be floating or
fixed depending on the funds concerned. There are also charges for switching between different
funds and these are usually expressed as a fixed amount.
In the case of a proportion of single- or recurrent-premium policies there is a penalty, expressed as
a percentage of the sum assured and/or as a fixed sum, if they are surrendered (in whole or in part),
especially in the first few years the policy is in force. In the case of most policies on which an annual
premium is paid there is a penalty if they are surrendered in full, expressed as a reduction in the
benefit assured, the rate of which depends on the number of years remaining until the policy
matures. This rate is often dependent on how long the policy has been in force and varies according
to the guaranteed minimum rate.
If the policy provides for the payment of regular coupons there may be a charge for the payment of
these amounts. If the policyholder cancels the policy there are charges, expressed as a fixed sum,
intended to recover the expenses incurred in issuing the policy.
The remuneration of the sales network is governed by framework agreements, which are periodically
renewed. Remuneration of the network for marketing individual products is based on the price of the
products.
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Commissions (management fees) are normally paid for acquiring new policies and maintaining those
already in the portfolio. These generally translate into an acquisition commission in the case of new
policies and a renewal commission linked to the existence and level of the policy portfolio.
In particular, policies on which an annual premium is paid provide for acquisition commissions that
are paid in full when the first annual premium is received, though 30% of them are deemed to be due
only on receipt of the second annual premium. Such policies also provide for renewal commissions
to be paid as from receipt of the second annual premium. 
Once certain annual income targets have been reached the sales network is normally paid additional
commission or bonuses which are usually based on the acquisition commissions actually paid
during the period. 

Make-up of the insurance portfolio
UGF Assicurazioni obtains most of its premiums through the network of agencies and Head Office,
whilst BNL Vita and Arca Vita operate through banking outlets (the BNL-BNP Paribas branch
networks). Some 11.3% of UGF Assicurazioni’s Life income (around 9.2% in 2009) was also obtained
via banking channels, mainly branches of UGF Banca.

Consolidated direct Life premiums for 2010 can be broken down as follows:

UGF BNL Vita Navale Vita ARCA Total
Assicurazioni Group

Insurance premiums (IFRS4) 1,889.1 2,475.2 1.7 289.1 4,655.2
var % -12.9% -18.9% -5.0% 0.0% -10.8%

Investment products (IAS39) 18.0 0.0 0.0 60.4 78.4
var % -7.7% -28.6% 0.0% 0.0% 302.3%

Total Life premiums 1,907.1 2,475.2 1.7 349.5 4,733.5
var % -12.8% -18.9% -5.0% 0.0% -9.7%

Breakdown:
Insurance premiums (IFRS4) 99.1% 100.0% 100.0% 82.7% 98.3%

Investment products (IAS39) 0.9% 0.0% 0.0% 17.3% 1.7%

At 31 December 2010 UGF Group direct Life premiums amounted to €4,733.5m (insurance products
plus investment products), a decrease of 9.7% compared with the same period of the previous year.
The direct premium achieved by the composite company UGF Assicurazioni amounted to €1,907.1m
(40.3% of the consolidated total) whilst the direct premium achieved by the bancassurance channel
amounted to €2,824.7m (59.7% of the consolidated total). Premiums from Navale Vita totalled €1.7m.

Insurance premiums amounted to 98.3% of total premiums, a slight fall compared with 2009 (99.6%).

UGF Bnl Navale ARCA Total
Assicurazioni Vita Vita Group

Traditional premiums 1,490.4 2,096.2 1.7 289.0 3,877.3
Financial premiums 0.7 377.7 0.0 0.1 378.5
Pension funds 398.1 1.3 0.0 0.0 399.4

Insurance premiums (IFRS4) 1,889.1 2,475.2 1.7 289.1 4,655.2

including investment with DPF 1,084.4 2,064.1 0.0 270.8 3,419.3

57.4% 83.4% 0.0% 93.7% 73.5%

Most of the insurance premiums in 2010, totalling €3,877.3m, came from Class I and Class V policies
and accounted for 83.3% of total premiums. This had accounted for most of the premiums in 2009
too, though for a greater percentage (85.2%). 

CONSOLIDATED 
DIRECT LIFE PREMIUMS

Amounts in €m

DIRECT INSURANCE
PREMIUMS: TYPES 
OF PREMIUMS

Amounts in €m

The Arca Group figures relate 
to the period 1/7-31/12/2010

The Arca Group figures relate to the
period 1/7-31/12/2010



In 2010 the Group’s insurance premiums continued to be strongly characterised by a large number
of single premiums, which accounted for 93% of the consolidated total premiums whilst the
remaining 7% was made up of annual or recurrent premiums mainly from traditional Class I
policies.

5.11 Risk Report

Il Risk Report intende fornire le informazioni integrative e di supporto per permettere agli
stakeholders di effettuare una valutazione della situazione patrimoniale e finanziaria del Gruppo 
in un’ottica di un Risk Management che opera nella logica di Solvency II.

Internal Control System
The UGF Group’s Risk Management system is part of the wider internal control system, which operates
on several levels:
• line controls: they are carried out by whoever carries out a particular transaction or by whoever is

responsible for supervising it, generally within the same organisational unit. They are the checks
carried out by the same departments or incorporated into the automated procedures, or carried
out as part of back office work. They are an essential part of the Internal Control System and
require an ‘ethos of control’ to be developed and assimilated, since it alone can guarantee that
company objectives will be achieved. These checks are described in the relevant procedures and
are recorded when the processes are assessed. They are referred to as first-level controls.

• risk management: specific activities entrusted to departments other than those carrying out the
transactions in question, the departments that carry out second-level controls help determine the
procedures for calculating risks, to check that the limits placed on the various operational
functions are observed, to identify possible corrective and/or risk mitigation actions and to monitor
whether transactions are in line with the objectives and the levels of risk laid down by the relevant
company bodies. In particular, they form part of this level of controls on underwriting risks, credit
risks, equity and investment risks, operational risks, risks to our reputation and risks of non-
compliance with regulations. Included in this category is the work carried out by Risk
Management, Compliance, Manager in charge of financial reporting, etc. They are referred to as
second-level controls. 

• internal audit: checks the completeness, functionality and adequacy of the Internal Control System
(including the first- and second-level control). This work is referred to as third-level control. 

UNIPOL GRUPPO FINANZIARIO

2010 CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

115

SHARE-
HOLDERS

BOARD 
OF STATUTORY

AUDITORS
INTERNAL CONTROL

COOMMITEE

TOP MANAGEMENT

INTERNAL AUDIT

RISK MANAGEMENT COMPLIANCE

MANAGER IN CHARGE OF FINANCIAL REPORTING (LAW 262) 

BUSINESS LINES
SERVICE LINES

Level of control

1° 2° 3°Good governance

Directors’ legal liability 
(law compliance)

Social responsibility, Ethics

Responsibility for the internal
Control System

Checking efficiency 
and effectiveness 
of the internal Control System

Monitoring and checking the
quantifiable risks (Solvency II - Basel 2)
Compliance-risk management 
(ex ante) 
Monitoring accounting figures 
and financial communication

Acquisition of information from
business lines  and the Group
and reorganising it logically 
for governance purposes

Operational controls over 
individual transactions



UNIPOL GRUPPO FINANZIARIO

2010 CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

116

Within UGF S.p.A.:

• The Board of Directors is responsible for approving the Risk Management Policy, which contains
guidelines and policies for identifying, calculating, checking and mitigating the principal risks in
line with the company’s risk appetite; it is also responsible for determining the risk appetite; the
Board of Directors delegates risk management to the Risk Management Department, which is
responsible for evaluating the combination of the various risks (Enterprise Risk Management –
ERM) at Group level.

• The Top Management is responsible for implementing the risk management policies laid down by
the Board of Directors by following the guidelines and procedures approved by the Board; they
work with the Risk Management Department to establish the operational limits and keep a
constant check on whether they are being observed; they ensure that the Risk Management
System remains fully functional and fit for purpose.

• The Risk Management Department (referred to below as Risk Management) is responsible for
evaluating the combination of the various risks (Enterprise Risk Management – ERM) at Group
level and the structure and efficacy of the Risk Management System and reports its conclusions to
Top Management and the Board of Directors, highlighting any deficiencies and suggesting ways of
resolving them. Risk Management carries out this work as part of the process of Own Risk
Solvency Assessment for insurance business and the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment
Process for banking business, ensuring that the work carried out by the various company
departments dealing with risk management is coordinated and in line with best practices in the
market and in accordance with the regulations imposed by the Supervisory Bodies. This does not
exempt the individual operational departments from their specific responsibilities for managing
the risks relating to their own work since the departments themselves must have the necessary
tools and expertise. Risk Management helps the various companies in the Group to analyse the
impact on the risk profile of the strategic choices relating to evaluating, in advance and in
retrospect, the impact on the risk profile of strategic business choices, specific operations
analysed, products and tariffs; it also monitors exposure to risks and ensures that risk appetite is
not exceeded.

Against this background, Risk Management works with the other monitoring units to help to make
Group employees aware of risk and of the role assigned to the individual company units within the
internal control system and encourage them to be fully involved.
At organisational level the UGF Group has decided to adopt a 'centralised' model of Risk
Management, with the primary objective of ensuring that the ways in which risk management and
monitoring policies, procedures and methods are adopted are the same throughout the company.
The way in which this model is developed differs depending on the type of company concerned
(insurance and investment management companies or companies in the Banking Group) and two
organisational approaches are used:
- outsourcing, particularly in the case of the insurance companies in the Group (excluding BNL Vita

and Arca Vita and its subsidiaries) under specific agreements concluded in accordance with the
requirements of the relevant supervisory regulations;

- taking control of the Risk Management departments of Arca Vita and UGF Banca and the resultant
work of managing, guiding and supervising them.



Organisational monitoring: Committees

The Committees set up within the Parent or the individual operating companies help to strengthen
the Group Risk Management system.
The following Committees are in operation: Executive Committee, Group Finance Committee, Group
Credit Risk Committee, Life Products Committee, Non-Life Technical Committee, Investments
Committee and Group ALM Coordination Committee.

Risk management system

Risk management policy
The aim of the risk management policy is to introduce specific guidelines for managing risks arising
out of business activities carried out by the companies, delineating strategies and objectives, roles
and responsibilities of the company departments involved and procedures for analysing, checking
and calculating risks.

The policy therefore has the following general objectives: 
- helping Group top management to make strategic choices; 
- improving the process of managing risks; 
- introducing an effective procedure for analysing and calculating risks at Group level;
- increasing the level of knowledge and awareness within the Group of the various types of risk; 
- promoting the ethos of risk management within the Group.

Within the Group, risk management is carried out by means of the following stages: 
- identifying;
- calculating;
- checking;
- mitigating;
- reporting.

Specific policies containing guidelines for underwriting and managing risks have been issued for
major risks. These policies contain definitions of the risk, calculation methods, any limits, the
monitoring system and whatever else is required for the risk to be properly managed.
Significant risks, or those risks the consequences of which can undermine Group solvency or
constitute a serious obstacle to achieving its objectives, are identified by means of a procedure that
takes account of both Group structure and the specific nature of the types of business managed by
the various Companies. The categories of risk identified are as follows: 
- Core insurance risks (Non-Life and Life); 
- Financial risk (market and ALM); 
- Credit risk; 
- Operational risk; 
- Emerging risks; 
- Other risks. 

The risks are calculated by means of a combination of several procedures:

Solvency I - a commonly used method that has introduced the minimum capital requirements
(minimum solvency margin) and relates it to indicators such as premiums and claims, mathematical
provisions and capital at risk. With this method, the current scheme records obvious loopholes, such
as the absence of risk sensitivity and of incentives to implement adequate risk management, and
does not promote optimum allocation of capital.
Stress testing - used for internal risk management, stress tests are quantitative techniques by
means of which undertakings assess their vulnerability to extreme but plausible events. Stress tests
evaluate the effects on the economic/equity/financial situation of specific events or of changes in a
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set of economic-financial variables in the event of adverse scenarios. These techniques thus enable
additional information on the actual exposure to various risk factors to be obtained, providing a
better evaluation of the adequacy of capital and suggesting strategies and procedures for responding
to these extreme events. Risk Management carries out the stress tests for all the operating
companies in the Group, according to the type of risk deemed to be most relevant to the company’s
business operations. On conclusion of the stress tests, in order to communicate the outcomes of the
analyses and inform the individual companies of the risks assessed the Risk Management
Department reports to the senior executives and the various Boards of Directors.

Solvency II:  Standard formula and Internal Model for calculating the Solvency Capital Requirement
Solvency II radically reforms not only the procedures for calculating capital requirements but the
entire system of prudent supervision and substantially reviews the way in which the principal
business units operate. The Group has therefore begun to adapt its risk management procedures to
comply with Solvency II, including developing and using an internal model which uses sophisticated
financial and actuarial analysis tools to evaluate and calculate the risks identified. Combining these
risks in the internal model provides a holistic evaluation of the business risks. These calculations
use both the Standard formula, based on the findings of the most recent quantitative impact study,
and the latest internal models, with a reliability level of 99.5%, and, at the operational level, the latest
procedures with a reliability threshold linked to the rating objective (e.g. for the A rating the reliability
level is 99.95%).

Basel II for calculating capital requirements - the UGF Banca Group comes under the category of
class 2 banks ('Banking groups and banks that use standardised procedures, with consolidated or
individual assets exceeding €3.5bn'). The Banking Group deemed it appropriate to comply with the
guidelines issued in Banca d’Italia Circular 263 of 27 December 2006 and subsequent supplements,
adopting the procedural solutions for calculating capital requirements available to intermediaries in
its class and adhering to regulatory procedures, in such a way as to encourage maximum dialogue
with the Supervisory Board.

Monitoring is split into the individual tasks of: 
- Reporting 
- Proposing corrective action.

Reporting 
The Risk Management Department is finalising an integrated system of reporting risks. 
The Department draws up two types of report on exposures to major risks: a departmental report
and an operational report for the relevant company departments, at intervals that take account 
of the level of monitoring required.
Under this system reports are structured i) according to level of responsibility, ii) according to type 
of risk, iii) according to frequency.

Proposing corrective action  
Should the specified operational limits be exceeded, Risk Management liaises with the Department
concerned to establish steps to be taken to get back within them within an appropriate timescale
and notifies the relevant personnel.

Mitigation consists in identifying and proposing measures required and/or useful for limiting current
or forecast levels of risk that are not in line with the risk objectives laid down for the business. 
The types of limitation most used are:
- financial hedges;
- reinsurance; 
- management actions;
- guarantees held as a hedge against credit risks.



Financial hedges: these measures may take the form of hedges on the market using financial
derivatives.

Reinsurance transfers the underwriting risk outside the Group, providing more possibility for
business growth, both by proportionally reducing the amounts at risk (e.g. proportional treaties) 
and by limiting even further the amounts of major claims (e.g. non-proportional treaties).

Management action: corrective actions specified at corporate governance level, such as
restructuring assets and/or liabilities under management or selling assets and/or liabilities 
(closing items), to be taken if certain events occur.

Guarantees held as a hedge against credit risks: The main type of guarantee available on exposures
to reinsurers is represented by deposits with the Group for the risks ceded and retroceded that are
generally moved (placed and repaid) annually or half-yearly. Their durations largely depend on the
specific nature of the underlying insurance benefits and on the actual duration of the reinsurance
agreements, which are renegotiated at the end of each year. For exposures to reinsurers the group
also makes use of a limited number of guarantees consisting mainly of letters of credit and
securities. Collateral deposited by the counterparties for operating in derivatives under CSA-type
agreements is also used as guarantees on credit risks. If the internal models for calculating risks
include mitigation techniques, steps should be taken to ensure that they are compatible with and
constantly updated in line with performance.

The various mitigation techniques are documented in policies drawn up for the purpose or within
existing policies.

Internal Model

Insurance business
The logic underlying the Internal Model for calculating UGF’s Internal Capital Requirement has been
developed in line with the new Solvency II standards and so far has been linked to the quantitative
impact study (QIS 5), which was concluded in mid-November 2010. To be specific, in line with the
provisions of CEIOPS (now EIOPA), UGF has decided on its own categories of risk:
- Core insurance risks (Non-Life and Life);
- Financial risks (Market, ALM and Liquidity);
- Credit risks;
- Operational and other risks.

Categories of risk are identified and constantly updated by means of the continuous and meticulous
study of legislation, consideration of the opinions of professional bodies and senior executives within
the sector and contributions from meetings, fora, studies and specialists.

Under the Internal Model each risk is calculated using suitable measurements and appropriate
instruments and combining them by means of a correlation matrix. The matrix used up to now has
been derived by personalising the one in QIS 5. 
Below is a summary of how each risk is calculated, whilst the subsequent paragraphs provide
additional information on the calculation procedure and the principal results for each risk.

The Non-Life underwriting and provisions risk is measured using an internal model, which is still
being developed to meet the requirements of Solvency II legislation, with stochastic methods being
used to evaluate the underwriting risk (premium and provisions).
In addition to the use of the internal model stress testing was carried out with different specific
assumptions being made in the case of the classes deemed to be the most significant. These tests
have also provided information useful for developing the internal model.
The Life underwriting and provisions risk is calculated using a stochastic internal model in line with
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the new standards laid down in Solvency II, which entail estimating the fair value of all asset and
liability items in view of how they relate to one another in various scenarios. As in the Non-Life class,
stress testing has been carried out here too, using quantitative prospective analyses obtained by
varying the sources of risk that are more significant than the basic values.
The market risk calculated using an internal model. A Value at Risk Historical Simulation was
carried out during 2010. This procedure is based on distributions of empirical probabilities for each
risk factor, extrapolated from observations of historical market scenarios. To be specific it is based
on historical periods of 750 days, holding periods of 252 days and a reliability level of 99.5%.
In accordance with IFRS the table in the following section analyses the main sensitivities.
The credit risk and the operational risk are calculated using the standard QIS 5 formula. The project
to develop an internal model for both risks is at an advanced stage.

Banking business
For Pillar 1 risk factors, the Banking Group adopted the standardised procedures provided for in
Banca d’Italia (Circular 263 of 27 December 2006 and subsequent supplements) and used in the
supervisory reporting at 31 December 2010.

Financial risks

Market risks are the risk of losses depending on variations in interest rates, share prices, exchange
rates, credit spread and property prices.
Therefore they are divided into the following categories:
- Interest rate risk, or the risk of a possible variation in the value of a financial asset in the portfolio

as a consequence of unfavourable movements in interest rates;
- Share price risk, or the risk linked to losses due to unfavourable movements in share prices;
- Currency risk, or the risk of possible losses on currency items in the portfolio as a result of an

unfavourable trend in exchange rates;
- Credit spread risk, or the risk that the value of the portfolio that is sensitive to credit may fall

owing to the deterioration of the issuer’s credit quality;
- Property price risk, or the risk linked to losses due to unfavourable movements in property prices.

The level of sensitivity of the UGF Group’s portfolios of financial assets to market risk factors is
shown below. The sensitivity is calculated as a variation in the market value of the assets following a:
- simultaneous variation in the interest rate curve of +10 bps; 
- variation of -20% in share prices;
- variation of +10 bps in the credit spread;
- variation of -10% in real estate prices. 

31/12/2010 Holding Insurance business Banking business Total group

Financial Impact Financial Impact Financial Impact Financial Impact
impact on equity impact on equity impact on equity impact on equity

Interest rate risk -0.01 -2.20 13.26 -86.65 -0.06 -0.83 13.19 -89.68 
Credit spread risk -0.02 -3.08 -2.11 -95.15 -0.09 -1.94 -2.22 -100.17 
Share risk 0.00 -5.78 -12.36 -289.28 -0.00 -5.13 -12.36 -300.18 
Real estate risk 0.00 0.00 -4.48 -83.33 0.00 0.00 -4.48 -83.33 

The values include the hedging derivatives.

The UGF Group’s exposure to the currency risk is not significant.

The interest rate risk for ALM purposes is quantified in terms of duration mismatch. The duration
mismatches at 31 December 2010 of the UGF Group insurance companies, the UGF Banca Group
and the holding company, UGF, are shown below. Asset items include the securities portfolios and



liquid assets (excluding investments and property, with Non-Life business also excluding
receivables); liability items include financial liabilities and technical provisions; unrecognised items
are then taken into account for calculating the gap.

By liquidity risk is meant the risk to which the UGF Group may be exposed when dealing with cash
commitments (whether expected or unexpected) at a reasonable cost and within a reasonable time
by selling less liquid assets on unfavourable terms, thus affecting its solvency. The Group’s liquid
resources derive from the normal business operations in Life and Non-Life insurance, from banking
business and from funding carried out by issuing bond loans placed with the Group’s customers or
with institutional investors. The main principles on which the liquidity risk management model is
based may be summarised as follows:
- centralising the Liquidity Management Functions at Group level;
- managing structural liquidity by keeping a balance between liabilities and investments in medium-

to long-term assets in order to avoid pressure on the short-term liquidity situation;
- managing short-term liquidity in order to have sufficient liquidity to fulfil short-term commitments,

both foreseeable and unforeseeable, by keeping a suitable balance between flows in and out;
- retaining a high level of assets on deposit and in Eurozone government securities that can be

swiftly turned into cash.

The liquidity gap situation, both structural and tactical, will be analysed weekly with the use of the
maturity ladder as a tool. The net liquidity requirement is then compared with the reserves of assets
that are liquid or can be easily made liquid and with credit margins available with the ECB and with
lenders of lines of credit.

The Investment policy is updated annually. The policy includes the criteria on which the investment
policy is based, the types of asset in which it is deemed appropriate to invest, the composition of the
portfolio of medium-to-long-term investments and limits to investments in terms of asset allocation
and financial risk.

Generally by credit risk is meant:
1. the risk that a debtor or a guarantor under an enforcement order may wholly or partially fail to

honour its commitment to the Group (customer or borrower risk); 
2. the risk of deterioration of the creditworthiness of an issuer of financial instruments (issuer risk).

Within Unipol Gruppo Finanziario the credit risk is mainly in the following areas: banking, insurance
and outward reinsurance.
The Credit Policy was approved by UGF’s Board of Directors and extended to all the companies in the
Group during 2009: this document governs the work of underwriting and monitoring the credit risk in
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such a way as to ascertain total exposure to the individual counterparty, in line with the risk appetite
expressed in the Group’s strategic objectives, thus ensuring sufficient portfolio diversification.
This policy supplements the current system of internal rules, particularly provisions relating to
corporate governance, transactions within the Group and with related parties, the internal control
system, outsourcing work and the Investment Policy, and is applied in line and in accordance with
this system.
This policy is designed to record exposures that are of such a size as to represent a potential risk:
the objective is achieved by adopting appropriate risk management and internal control
mechanisms, enabling exposure to the various counterparties to be ascertained and monitored.

Lending to customers of the Banking Group
The trend in the credit risk is currently monitored using traditional indicators. Models for calculating
the credit risk in the corporate segment have been developed internally whilst models provided by
the IT outsourcer, Cedacri, are used for other areas of business. The models used to calculate the
probability of default (PD) are currently being tested and fine-tuned with the help of the Institute’s
credit department in order to make them fully operational. As a precaution the rating model is to be
incorporated into lending procedures gradually, initially into the systems for recording anomalies
and subsequently into other areas of the lending regulations

Around 63% of UGF Banca’s portfolio of loans to customers currently consists of loans.

Bond classes of the insurance companies in the Group
This risk is calculated as a technical insurance risk (see relevant section) but monitored by the Group
Credit Risk Committee

Outwards reinsurance
Here the exposure according to credit risk is divided into:
- liquid receivables already due arising out of the current account statement sent to the reinsurer

listing the balances on each policy during the period and those still outstanding;
- potential estimated receivables (which will become due at the time of the payment to the

Policyholder and for the relative amounts) for the provisions for outstanding claims borne by the
reinsurer. The exposure for provisions is always deemed to be net of any deposits retained or other
collateral (e.g. Banking LOC and reinsurers’ parent’s commitment…)

Non-performing assets   5.1%

Current accounts   11.6%

Other   20.6%

Loans   62.7%

BREAKDOWN OF 
BANKING GROUP LENDING



The table showing the distribution of receivables (in €m) for the UGF Group from reinsurers and of
the provisions for outstanding claims borne by them (gross of any deposits or guarantees) broken
down according to rating class is shown below: 

Debt security Issuer Risk:
The table showing the distribution of the UGF Group’s debt securities, insurance business and
holding business broken down according to rating class is shown below:

Concentration risks 
The concentration risk is calculated by identifying total exposure to the same counterparty issuer of
financial instruments.
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Technical insurance risks

Risks relating to Life portfolios  
In order to evaluate Life risks a stochastic internal model has been adopted in line with the new
standards laid down in Solvency II which entail estimating the ‘fair value’ of all asset and liability
items in view of how they relate to one another in various scenarios. In particular the internal model
evaluates the impact, in terms of capital absorption (Internal Capital Requirement), of the following
risk factors:
- mortality/longevity risk, understood as the increase (mortality risk) or decrease (longevity risk) in

death rates compared with those expected;
- lapse risk, understood as the increase or decrease in lapses compared with those expected;
- interest-rate risk, understood as the risk of a possible variation in assets and liabilities because of

variations in the long-term structure and/or volatility of interest rates;
- share risk, i.e. the risk of a possible variation in assets and liabilities because of variations in

market prices and/or the volatility of equity instruments;
- currency risk, understood as the risk of possible variations in the value of assets and liabilities

because of variations in the value or the volatility of exchange rates;
- risk spread, understood as the risk of variation in value of recognised assets and liabilities (debt

securities and other fixed-income instruments, credit derivatives and other investment
instruments subject to the credit risk) because of variations in credit spreads compared with the
risk-free curve.

Life insurance risks have also been evaluated by means of a stress test approach, using quantitative
prospective analyses obtained by varying the sources of risk that are more significant than the values
in the basic scenario. 

Mortality risk
The UGF Group operates a different policy for underwriting risks according to sales channel and type
of tariff. Particular attention is paid to underwriting term death benefit policies where the procedures
provide for limits both on the sum assured and on the age of the policyholder. Before this category of
policy can be issued a questionnaire must be completed giving details of health, occupation and
sporting activities, and, depending on the replies provided, the policy may be issued by the
intermediary directly or only after Head Office has added exceptions and possibly applied additional
premiums relating to health, occupation or sporting activities. If sums assured or age exceed the
underwriting limits assigned to the sales network, Head Office is asked to assess the risk by
examining the health facts in the particular case with the help of its medical consultant. If sums
assured exceed certain amounts, the risk is assessed in collaboration with the reinsurer.
Only Head Office may issue group death benefits policies, if necessary in collaboration with the
reinsurer, the questions relating to health being laid out in a grid based on brackets of sum assured
and agreed with the reinsurer. 
The quality of the underwriting carried out by the companies in the Group is illustrated by comparing
the actual death rate in the portfolio with the theoretical death rate in the same portfolio.
This comparison showed an actual death rate significantly lower than the theoretical death rate.
As regards the amounts of death benefits, as already indicated, the Group has recourse to risk-
premium types of reinsurance cover that are in line both with the nature of the products sold and
with the retention levels that are appropriate for the equity structure of the individual companies. 
The Group’s principal Life reinsurers are financially very sound.

Annuity option
Some Life policies offer the customer the possibility of opting for a benefit that can be paid in the
form of an annuity instead of a capital on maturity. The trend for people to live longer means that
these policies expose the Group to a longevity risk. For some years now this risk has been limited in
the case of new policies by postponing the moment when the annuity coefficient is calculated and
the minimum guaranteed rate is fixed to the time when the benefit is paid. The mathematical
provisions are increased in the case of contracts already in the portfolio, for which the annuity rate is
guaranteed and based on demographic trends that have not been updated.



Deferment option
The companies in the Group offer customers with some types of policy the possibility of deferring the
capital assured on maturity in whole or in part for a number of years decided by the policyholder. If
the policyholder dies during the deferment period the designated beneficiaries receive the capital
revalued as at the date of death. At the specific request of the policyholder the policy may be
surrendered in whole or in part at any time. In the event of partial surrender the remaining capital
will continue to be subject to revaluation until the policy matures in accordance with the terms in
force at the time the option is exercised.
The deferment option does not lead to additional risks in terms of guaranteed minimum, apart from
the company’s commitment. Therefore since 1998 the deferment option in the policy terms has
stipulated that the option is based on the terms in force at the time it is exercised.
The propensity to exercise this option is assessed by analysing the forfeitures applied to the portfolio
in order to monitor the liabilities underwritten, with particular reference to the levels of financial
guarantee and to the trends in the adjustments made to the benefits provided for under the policies.

Guaranteed minimum rate option
The companies in the Group market a lot of products that have returns linked to the results obtained
from separately managed businesses. In most cases these products offer guaranteed minimum
revaluation rates and therefore the companies in the Group are exposed to the risk that returns on
the assets invested will fall short of those paid to policyholders. In view of the trend in market
interest rates and in compliance with provisions issued by the Supervisory Body, the guaranteed
minimum rate offered when these products are marketed has been gradually reduced over the last
few years and is now down to 2.5%.
Therefore the portfolio now contains policies issued in previous years that provide for guaranteed
minimum rates that are higher than those now being marketed. Consequently the average
guaranteed minimum rate on the existing portfolio is less than that recorded in the previous year.
The risk involved in these options is monitored and assessed using methods and instruments that
allow the risks underwritten by the Group to be managed quantitatively, thus helping to bring about a
reduction in profit volatility and enabling financial resources to be allocated in the best possible way.

The mathematical provisions of the companies in the Group have been combined in order to cope with the
risk of a possible discrepancy between the expected rates of return on the assets matching the technical
provisions linked to separately managed accounts and the liabilities underwritten and in order to comply
with the provisions of ISVAP Ruling 21 of 28 March 2008 (in accordance with Ruling 1801G of 2001). 
The IAS/IFRS also stipulate that a Liability Adequacy Test must be carried out in order to check that
the technical provisions of policies are sufficient to cover the financial benefits offered.
In carrying out the test on the principal segregated accounts the companies in the UGF Group have
used the tools already provided for carrying out analyses in accordance with Ruling 1801G and
extended the valuations to a duration of 25 years. 

Risks relating to Non-Life portfolios
During 2010 the Non-Life technical-insurance risks were calculated using the Non-Life Internal
Model, which is currently being adapted to comply with Solvency II. Specialist software, developed in
accordance with professional standards, was purchased for valuing the following at both company
and consolidated level:
- current and potential economic capital (solvency capital requirement) for the underwriting risk,

subdivided into premium risk and reserve risk ascertained according to the 99.5% percentile;
- risk margin ascertained using the cost-of-capital method.

In order to evaluate the premium risk, the stochastic model estimates capital absorption based on
the volatility of the historic loss ratios in each line of business (LoB). In the case of the reserve risk
the stochastic model estimates capital absorption by simulating future payments for claims already
incurred and ascertaining how they vary.

In 2010 the catastrophe risk was evaluated using the standardised-scenario method recommended
by Quantitative Impact Study 5 (QIS 5).
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This method makes it possible to determine the probable maximum loss (PML) that may affect the
portfolio once every 200 years (return time) in the event of the following:
- natural disasters such as earthquake, flood and hail;
- man-made disasters such as large-scale fires and acts of terrorism;
- ‘health’ risks, such as the risk of a pandemic.

The procedures described above were also used for stress-testing each individual company’s most
significant lines of business.

The Risk-Management Department works with the various lines of business to draw up tariffs in order
to introduce risk benchmarks into pricing models. A risk-adjusted technical pricing model enables the
expected costs of the various benefits provided to be properly covered and the return on the capital
absorbed by these benefits to be in line with the risk profile and the Group’s performance objectives.
A prototype pricing model has been developed in collaboration with the Non-Life Business Unit,
which considers, when calculating a product’s tariff premium or a specific quote, whether the capital
allocated for the risk underwritten is adequately remunerated.

Capital allocation policies 

Risk appetite
The risk appetite is defined as the amount of capital at risk1 that the Board of Directors specifies as
the maximum acceptable loss without the Group’s business continuity being jeopardised. The risk
appetite is specified as the maximum sustainable loss at a specific reliability level over a year. The
risk appetite is specified according to risk factor and business unit.

The risk appetite was based on the consolidated budget figures and on those of the individual
companies expected to be in the UGF Group at the end of 2011: UGF, UGF Assicurazioni (including
Navale Assicurazioni), Linear, Unisalute, Arca Vita, Arca Assicurazioni and the UGF Banca Group.
Calculations are based on the expected levels of growth shown in the business plan or the budget,
using the reliability level of 99.50% laid down by the Solvency II Directive. The Group also monitors
the 99.95% reliability level required for an A rating.

The other elements UGF takes into account when ascertaining risk appetite can be divided into three
types (rating, risk/profitability and solvency):

i) Rating:
a) ROE;
b) Combined Ratio;
c) Leverage Ratio;
d) Interest Coverage Ratio.

ii) Risk/profitability:
a) RORAC (return on risk-adjusted capital);;
b) WACC (CAPM method).

iii) Solvency index:
a) Solvency I;
b) Solvency II.

The UGF Group determines risk appetite on the basis of total economic capital ascertained by
applying internal models, the Standard formula and the procedures for combining the various major
risks mentioned in Pillar I2 provided for by Solvency II. 
The UGF Group’s risk appetite is the sum of the total economic capital of the Banking Group,
ascertained in accordance with Basel II, and the total economic capital of insurance business.

(1) By capital at risk, or economic
capital, is meant the capital
requirement for a specific risk
where it is thought necessary to
cover losses above a given
expected level. (This definition
assumes that the expected loss is
met from the technical provisions.)
The economic capital for all the
major risks underwritten by the
company is defined as total
economic capital.

(2) The types of risk used for
calculating the Risk Appetite 2011
are laid down in the QIS5 Technical
Specifications: Non-Life and Life
technical insurance risk (premium
and reserve), financial risk, credit
risk and operational risk.



Pillar I3 consists only of the Banking Group’s risk appetite, based on potential growth, contained in
the business plan or the budget, in line with the calculations for insurance business. Subsequently,
under ICAAP4, the Banking Group also uses the Pillar II risks and the further requirements revealed
by stress testing to assess its potential capital adequacy.

ORSA and ICAAP 

Under their own risk management system the companies that fall within the scope of the policy use,
as instruments for evaluating the efficacy of the risk management system
• Own Risk Solvency Assessment - ORSA, in the case of insurance companies;
• the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process - ICAAP, in the case of banking companies.

Risk Management coordinates the ORSA and ICAAP work and notifies Top Management and the
Boards of Directors of the outcomes.

The primary objective of the two tools is to ensure that the company evaluates all the risks inherent
in its work and determines the corresponding capital requirement. This evaluation covers at least the
overall solvency requirement and takes account of the specific risk profile, the approved risk-
appetite limits and the undertaking’s operating strategy. These two tools analyse both current and
potential risks.
For this purpose the company establishes and carries out procedures that are commensurate with
the nature, scope and complexity of its work and enable it to identify and evaluate accurately the
risks to which it is or could be exposed in the short and long term.

The ORSA and ICAAP report explain, at least: i) the legislative framework; ii) the economic
background; iii) the scope of analysis; iv) the roles and responsibilities of the Bodies and
Departments involved in the process; v) the procedures for identifying, assessing and mitigating the
risk; vi) the links between assessing the risk and the procedure for allocating the capital, and the
discrepancies in the risk appetite over the period concerned laid down in the Business Plan; vii) the
procedures for obtaining any additional funds; viii) the management actions used to evaluate and
describe their impact; ix) the in-house report and the report to the Supervisory Authorities.

Bologna, 24 March 2011

The Board of Directors
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(3) The Pillar I risks provided for in
Basel II are the credit and
counterparty risk, the market risk
and the operational risk.

(4) The banking groups send Banca
d’Italia the ICAAP report at  31
December of the previous year by
the end of April of the following year.
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31/12/2010 31/12/2009

1 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 200.4 199.9

2 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 601.1 550.6

3 TECHNICAL PROVISIONS - REINSURERS' SHARE 344.7 332.6

4 INVESTMENTS 6,965.8 6,701.8
4.1 Investment property 198.7 198.7
4.2 Investments in subsidiaries and associates and interests in joint ventures 357.1 493.5
4.3 Held-to-maturity investments 837.3 690.0
4.4 Loans and receivables 1,605.3 1,523.5
4.5 Available-for-sale financial assets 3,887.4 3,706.8
4.6 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 80.0 89.4

5 OTHER RECEIVABLES 1,240.1 1,325.2

6 OTHER ASSETS 357.4 397.7
6.1 Deferred acquisition costs 5.8 9.4
6.2 Other assets 351.6 388.3

7 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 296.3 345.8

TOTAL ASSETS 10,005.7 9,853.6

1 EQUITY

2 PROVISIONS 71.3 70.8

3 TECHNICAL PROVISIONS 7,575.1 7,517.9

4 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 722.2 711.6
4.1 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 15.5 5.7
4.2 Other financial liabilities 706.7 705.9

5 PAYABLES 275.0 233.6

6 OTHER LIABILITIES 323.7 328.1

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Non-Life Business

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
BY BUSINESS SEGMENT

Amounts in €m
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31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009

145.6 138.0 457.4 457.6 5.4 1.6 1,249.1 1,119.5 2,057.8 1,916.6

9.8 0.4 23.0 25.0 21.6 20.3 4.7 -0.5 660.2 595.8

115.7 124.5 460.4 457.1

16,343.7 23,504.6 11,115.5 10,393.4 5,596.9 5,059.0 -6,206.6 -5,893.8 33,815.3 39,765.0
0.1 0.1 0.0 -2.0 -2.0 196.8 196.8

288.4 73.4 8.8 6.0 4,880.1 4,376.7 -5,487.9 -4,905.8 46.5 43.8
1,369.9 1,414.5 -384.2 -324.8 1,823.0 1,779.7
2,761.3 3,175.8 10,525.6 10,258.3 183.3 484.2 -320.9 -656.1 14,754.6 14,785.8
8,088.8 11,294.7 531.0 123.2 527.9 194.3 -11.6 -5.1 13,023.6 15,313.8
3,835.1 7,546.1 50.1 5.9 5.6 3.8 3,970.7 7,645.1

451.5 298.5 112.4 102.4 111.6 93.8 -21.1 -16.7 1,894.5 1,803.2

12,117.4 264.1 238.5 218.0 19.0 26.9 -98.0 -5.0 12,634.4 901.7
13.3 14.3 1.9 2.5 21.1 26.3

12,104.1 249.8 238.5 218.0 19.0 26.9 -99.9 -7.5 12,613.2 875.4

459.0 537.4 111.0 117.1 327.4 535.1 -961.7 -1,313.9 231.8 221.5

29,642.6 24,867.5 12,057.7 11,313.6 6,081.9 5,736.6 -6,033.6 -6,110.4 51,754.4 45,660.8

4,020.8 3,826.2

3.1 1.9 3.8 19.4 6.8 9.1 85.0 101.1

14,670.8 20,768.5 22,245.9 28,286.4

1,942.2 2,591.9 10,575.0 9,965.8 1,232.3 1,229.2 -1,818.4 -2,300.1 12,653.3 12,198.4
1,448.5 2,094.0 8.5 3.8 0.0 1.0 1,472.6 2,104.5

493.6 497.9 10,566.5 9,962.0 1,232.3 1,228.2 -1,818.4 -2,300.1 11,180.8 10,093.9

69.9 66.8 105.5 96.2 22.4 34.7 -21.2 -16.1 451.5 415.2

11,586.5 273.0 341.5 199.8 38.4 40.8 7.7 -8.2 12,297.8 833.4

3 51,754.4 45,660.8

Life Business Banks Holding and Services Intersegment eliminations TOTAL
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31/12/2010 31/12/2009

1.1 Net premiums 4,157.8 4,213.1
1.1.1 Gross premiums 4,281.0 4,319.4
1.1.2 Ceded premiums -123.2 -106.2

1.2 Commission income 7.3 6.0

1.3 Gains and losses on remeasurement of financial instruments 
at fair value through profit or loss -48.8 -38.2

1.4 Gains on investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures 1.3 0.5

1.5 Gains on other financial instruments and investment property 324.3 262.9

1.6 Other income 63.8 58.7

TOTAL REVENUE AND INCOME 4,505.6 4,503.0

2.1 Net charges relating to claims 3,379.2 3,670.6
2.1.1 Amounts paid and changes in technical provisions 3,421.1 3,720.6
2.1.2 Reinsurers' share -41.9 -50.0

2.2 Commission expense 7.3 6.0

2.3 Losses on investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures 0.9

2.4 Losses on other financial instruments and investment property 105.0 590.8

2.5 Operating expenses 925.8 931.9

2.6 Other costs 108.1 119.1

2 TOTAL COSTS AND EXPENSES 4,526.3 5,318.3

PRE-TAX PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR -20.7 -815.3

Non-Life Business

INCOME STATEMENT  
BY BUSINESS SEGMENT

Amounts in €m
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31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009

4,640.3 5,207.3 8,798.1 9,420.4
4,658.3 5,224.6 8,939.3 9,543.9

-18.0 -17.3 -141.2 -123.5

23.9 14.3 133.6 114.7 -39.8 -28.0 125.0 106.9

-1.6 367.6 1.4 2.9 -2.4 -3.5 -51.4 328.9

0.1 0.5 0.1 140.1 14.2 -140.1 -14.7 1.4 0.5

980.8 709.8 364.1 408.6 49.1 35.4 -38.2 -48.3 1,680.1 1,368.5

57.3 53.7 10.0 14.7 41.2 81.2 -43.3 -68.6 128.9 139.7

5,700.8 6,353.2 509.1 540.9 228.0 127.3 -261.4 -159.7 10,682.1 11,364.8

5,093.4 5,803.5 8,472.7 9,474.1
5,107.3 5,816.5 8,528.3 9,537.1

-13.8 -13.0 -55.7 -63.1

15.6 13.2 14.2 13.2 -8.8 -4.7 28.3 27.6

0.0 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.1 1.1 0.2

107.9 377.7 199.1 260.6 54.4 63.7 -30.4 -42.9 436.0 1,249.8

153.4 127.3 265.9 269.2 82.8 117.9 -64.3 -80.5 1,363.6 1,365.8

102.2 82.9 8.9 13.7 6.0 21.4 -14.9 -16.6 210.3 220.6

5,472.6 6,404.6 488.2 556.7 143.4 203.1 -118.4 -144.8 10,512.0 12,338.0

228.2 -51.4 20.9 -15.8 84.7 -75.8 -143.0 -14.9 170.1 -973.2

Life Business Banks Holding and Services Intersegment eliminations TOTAL
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Name State Registered Method (1) Activity (2)

office

Unipol Gruppo Finanziario Spa 086 Italy Bologna G 4

Compagnia Assicuratrice Linear Spa 086 Italy Bologna G 1

Unisalute Spa 086 Italy Bologna G 1

Midi Srl 086 Italy Bologna G 10

Unifimm Srl 086 Italy Bologna G 10

UGF Banca Spa 086 Italy Bologna G 7

Unipol SGR Spa 086 Italy Bologna G 8

UGF Merchant - Banca per le Imprese Spa 086 Italy Bologna G 7

Unicard Spa 086 Italy Milan G 11

Unipol Fondi Ltd 040 Ireland Dublin G 11

Navale Assicurazioni Spa 086 Italy S. Donato M. (Mi) G 1

Bnl Vita Spa 086 Italy Milan G 1

Smallpart Spa 086 Italy Bologna G 9

Grecale Abs Srl (*) 086 Italy Bologna G 11

Nettuno Fiduciaria Srl 086 Italy Bologna G 11

Navale Vita Spa 086 Italy Rome G 1

UGF Assicurazioni Spa 086 Italy Bologna G 1

Castoro Rmbs Srl (*) 086 Italy Milan G 11

Atlante Finance Srl (*) 086 Italy Milan G 11

UGF Leasing Spa 086 Italy Bologna G 11

UGF Private Equity SGR Spa 086 Italy Bologna G 8

Ambra Property Srl 086 Italy Bologna G 11

Arca Vita Spa 086 Italy Verona G 1

Arca Assicurazioni Spa 086 Italy Verona G 1

Arca Vita International Ltd 040 Ireland Dublin G 2

Arca Direct Assicurazioni Srl 086 Italy Verona G 11

Arca Inlinea Scarl 086 Italy Verona G 11

Isi Insurance Spa** 086 Italy Verona G 1

Arca Sistemi Scarl 086 Italy Verona G 11

SCOPE 
OF CONSOLIDATION

(1) Consolidation method:  
G=on a line-by-line basis,
P=proportional, 
U=on a line-by-line basis 
as per coordinated management 

(2) 1=Italian insurers; 2=EU insurers;
3=non-EU insurers; 4=insurance
holdings; 5=EU reinsurers;
6=non-EU reinsurers; 7=banks;
8=asset management companies;
9=sundry holdings; 10=property
companies; 11=other

(3) is the product of the percentage
holdings relating to all the
companies that may come
somewhere along the chain
between the company that draws
up the consolidated financial
statements and the company in
question. If the latter is a direct
participating interest of several
subsidiaries the individual
products must be added up.

(4) Total percentage of votes
available at ordinary General
Meetings if different from the
direct or indirect holding. 

(*) Special purpose vehicles (SPVs)
used for securitisation schemes.
Although they are not
subsidiaries, SPVs are
consolidated as basically all their
risks and benefits are retained.

(**) The company is consolidated on a
line-by-line basis both in view of
the fact that 1% of the shares in
the share package that it does not
own have limited voting rights and
in view of Arca Vita Spa's power to
appoint and terminate the
majority of the members of the
executive body
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% direct holding % Indirect holding % total participating % votes available at % consolidation
interest (3) ordinary General Meetings (4)

100.00%

100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

98.53% 98.53% 100.00%

100.00% UGF Assicurazioni Spa 100.00% 100.00%

100.00% UGF Assicurazioni Spa 100.00% 100.00%

67.74% 32.26% UGF Assicurazioni Spa 100.00% 100.00%

100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

86.18% UGF Banca Spa 86.18% 100.00%

53.39% UGF Banca Spa 53.39% 100.00%

100.00% UGF Banca Spa 100.00% 100.00%

99.83% 99.83% 100.00%

51.00% 51.00% 100.00%

100.00% UGF Assicurazioni Spa 100.00% 100.00%

10.00% Smallpart Spa 10.00% 100.00%
UGF Banca Spa

100.00% UGF Banca Spa 100.00% 100.00%

100.00% Navale Assicurazioni Spa 99.83% 100.00%

100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

UGF Banca Spa 100.00%

UGF Banca Spa 100.00%

100.00% UGF Banca Spa 100.00% 100.00%

100.00% UGF Banca Spa 100.00% 100.00%

100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

60.00% 60.00% 100.00%

96.99% Arca Vita Spa 58.19% 100.00%

100.00% Arca Vita Spa 60.00% 100.00%

100.00% Arca Vita Spa 60.00% 100.00%

60.22% Arca Vita Spa 59.28% 100.00%

39.78% Arca Assicurazioni Spa

50.00% Arca Vita Spa 30.00% 100.00%

82.03% Arca Vita Spa 59.69% 100.00%

16.97% Arca Assicurazioni Spa

1.00% Arca Inlinea Scarl
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Name State Registered Activity (1) Type of (2)

office business

Hotel Villaggio Città del Mare Spa 
(in liquidation since 24-1-2011) 086 Italy Terrasini (Pa) 11 b

Euresa Holding SA 092 Luxembourg Luxembourg City 4 b

A.P.A. Spa 086 Italy Parma 11 b

Assicoop Ferrara Spa 086 Italy Ferrara 11 b

Assicoop Modena Spa 086 Italy Modena 11 b

Assicoop Ravenna Spa 086 Italy Ravenna 11 b

Assicoop Sicura Spa 086 Italy Bologna 11 b

Assicoop Siena Spa 086 Italy Siena 11 b

Assicura Spa 086 Italy Reggio Emilia 11 b

Fondazione Unipolis 086 Italy Bologna 11 a

ZIS Fiera 2 - Consorzio 086 Italy Bologna 11 b

Assicoop Imola Spa 086 Italy Imola (Bo) 11 b

UGF Assistance Srl 086 Italy Bologna 11 a

Assicoop Romagna Spa 086 Italy Forlì 11 b

Assicoop Firenze Spa 086 Italy Florence 11 b

Pegaso Finanziaria Spa 086 Italy Bologna 9 b

SCS Azioninnova Spa 086 Italy Bologna 11 b

Promorest Srl 086 Italy Castenaso (Bo) 11 b

EuroMilano Spa 086 Italy Milan 10 b

Isi Insurance Direct Srl 086 Italy Rome 11 a

B&A Broker Spa 086 Italy Milan 11 b

OMEGA 2004 Spa (in liquidation) 086 Italy Verona 11 a

Campuscertosa Srl 086 Italy Milan 11 b

Holcoa Spa (*) 086 Italy Rome 11 b

DETAILS OF UNCONSOLIDATED 
SHAREHOLDINGS

(1) 1=Italian insurers; 2=EU insurers;
3=non-EU insurers; 4=insurance
holdings; 5=EU reinsurers;
6=non-EU reinsurers; 7=banks;
8=asset management companies;
9=sundry holdings; 10=property
companies; 11=other

(2) a=subsidiaries (IAS27) ;
b=associates (IAS28); c=joint
ventures (IAS 31); please mark
with (*) the companies available
for sale in accordance with IFRS 5
and write the legend at the foot 
of the statement.

(3) is the product of the percentage
holdings relating to all the
companies that may lie
somewhere along the chain
between the company that draws
up the consolidated financial
statements and the company 
in question.
If the latter is a direct
participating interest of several
subsidiaries the individual
products must be added up.

(4) Total percentage of votes
available at ordinary General
Meetings if different from the
direct or indirect holding.

(*) The company is inactive



UNIPOL GRUPPO FINANZIARIO

2010 CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TABLES APPENDED TO THE NOTES
TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

137

% direct holding % indirect holding % total participating % votes available at Carrying amount
interest (3) ordinary General Meetings (4) (€m)

49.00% UGF Assicurazioni Spa 49.00% 0.0

25.00% UGF Assicurazioni Spa 25.00% 3.3

46.50% Smallpart Spa 46.50% 0.7

47.40% Smallpart Spa 47.40% 0.6

43.32% Smallpart Spa 43.32% 3.9

49.00% Smallpart Spa 49.00% 2.4

40.21% Smallpart Spa 40.21% 2.4

49.00% Smallpart Spa 49.00% 0.2

35.00% Smallpart Spa 35.00% 1.0

100.00% UGF Assicurazioni Spa 100.00% 0.3

31.72% Midi Srl 31.72% 0.3

47.33% Smallpart Spa 47.33% 1.9

100.00% Unisalute Spa 98.53% 0.2

49.00% Smallpart Spa 49.00% 0.9

44.00% Smallpart Spa 44.00% 0.6

45.00% Smallpart Spa 45.00% 4.1

40.00% UGF Merchant - 
Banca per le Imprese Spa 34.47% 1.1

48.92% UGF Merchant - 
Banca per le Imprese Spa 42.16% 5.0

20.00% UGF Assicurazioni Spa 20.00% 14.5

100.00% Isi Insurance Spa 30.00% 0.0

28.57% Arca Vita Spa 17.14% 0.6

90.00% Arca Vita Spa 54.00% 0,0

49.02% UGF Banca Spa 49.02% 2.5

20.00% UGF Merchant - 
Banca per le Imprese Spa 17.24% 0.2
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DETAILS OF PROPERTY, PLANT 
& EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At cost Restated Total carryng
or at fair value amount

Investment property 196.8 196.8

Other property 607.4 607.4

Other property, plant and equipment 52.8 52.8

Other intangible assets 115.9 115.9

Amounts in €m

Amounts in €m

31/12/2010 31/12/2009

Equity securities and derivatives at cost

Equity securities at fair value
listed securities

Debt securities 1,823.0 1,779.7
listed securities 1,152.2 1,077.9

OEIC units

Loans and receivables from bank customers

Interbank loans and receivables

Deposits with ceding companies

Financial items receivable on insurance contracts

Other loans and receivables

Non-hedging derivatives

Hedging derivatives

Other financial investments

Total 1.823,0 1.779,7

Held-to-maturity investments

DETAILS OF 
FINANCIAL ASSETS
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31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009

210.4 197.5 210.4 197.5

1,053.6 1,838.0 16.6 0.2 50.1 24.5 1,120.2 1,862.8
1,051.0 1,837.0 16.6 0.2 50.1 24.5 1,117.6 1,861.8

4,063.8 4,443.0 11,490.3 13,082.7 413.2 364.6 2,246.1 5,867.7 20,036.3 25,537.7
38.8 23.0 10,334.8 12,118.8 212.4 194.2 1,765.3 1,627.5 13,503.5 15,041.5

269.4 195.6 93.8 90.3 948.9 1,204.0 1,312.1 1,489.9

10,311.3 9,785.8 10,311.3 9,785.8

133.8 371.4 133.8 371.4

19.4 21.5 19.4 21.5

109.1 41.2 109.1 41.2

225.2 163.5 225.2 163.5

60.5 9.7 26.8 0.0 87.3 9.7

5.7 0.0 0.0 42.8 5.7 42.8

1.2 0.5 0.0 0.0 1.2 0.5

14.754,6 14.785,8 13.023,6 15.313,8 589,7 464,9 3.381,0 7.180,3 33.572,0 39.524,4

Loans and receivables Available-for-sale Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss Total carrying amount
financial assets Financial assets held Financial assets at fair value 

for trading through profit or loss
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DETAILS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES RELATING TO CONTRACTS 
ISSUED BY COMPANIES WHERE THE INVESTMENT RISK IS BORNE BY
POLICYHOLDERS AND ARISING FROM PENSION FUND MANAGEMENT

Benefits linked to Benefits linked
investment funds to pension Total

and market indices fund management

31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009

Recognised assets 1,797.8 5,896.2 1,582.8 1,272.5 3,380.6 7,168.7
Intragroup assets* 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Total assets 1,797.8 5,896.2 1,582.8 1,272.5 3,380.6 7,168.7

Recognised financial liabilities 1,171.2 1,875.3 87.1 75.2 1,258.3 1,950.5
Recognised technical provisions 626.6 4,020.9 1,495.8 1,197.2 2,122.3 5,218.1
Intragroup liabilities * 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0

Total liabilities 1,797.8 5,896.2 1,582.8 1,272.5 3,380.6 7,168.7

Amounts in €m

* Assets and liabilities eliminated 
on consolidation
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DETAILS OF TECHNICAL PROVISIONS 
REINSURERS’ SHARE

Direct business Indirect business Total carrying amount

31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009

Non-Life provisions 341.5 329.5 3.2 3.1 344.7 332.6
Provision for premiums 63.2 52.5 0.0 0.0 63.2 52.5
Provision for claims 278.3 277.0 3.2 3.1 281.5 280.1
Other provisions 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Life provisions 115.0 123.8 0.6 0.7 115.7 124.5
Provision for payable amounts 5.5 4.7 0.0 0.0 5.5 4.7
Mathematical provisions 109.3 118.1 0.6 0.7 109.9 118.8
Technical provisions where 
the investment risk is borne by 
policyholders and provisions arising 
from pension fund management 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Other provisions 0.2 1.1 0.0 0.0 0.2 1.1

Total reinsurers’ share 
of technical provisions 456.5 453.4 3.8 3.8 460.4 457.1

DETAILS OF 
TECHNICAL PROVISIONS

Direct business Indirect business Total carrying amount

31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009

Non-Life provisions 7,539.7 7,478.3 35.5 39.6 7,575.1 7,517.9
Provision for premiums 1,618.0 1,529.2 4.4 5.3 1,622.4 1,534.5
Provision for claims 5,906.3 5,923.6 31.0 34.4 5,937.3 5,957.9
Other provisions 15.3 25.5 0.0 0.0 15.4 25.5

including provisions allocated 
as a result of the liability adequacy test    0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Life provisions 14,656.8 20,691.6 13.9 76.8 14,670.8 20,768.5
Provision for payable amounts 121.7 113.6 2.1 2.4 123.8 116.0
Mathematical provisions 12,722.2 15,618.9 11.9 12.7 12,734.0 15,631.6
Technical provisions where 
the investment risk is borne by  
policyholders and provisions arising 
from pension fund management 2,122.3 5,227.5 0.0 0.0 2,122.3 5,227.5
Other provisions -309.4 -268.3 0.0 61.7 -309.4 -206.6

including provisions allocated 
as a result of the liability adequacy test     0.0 0.0
including deferred liabilities to 
policyholders -377,7 -323,2 -377,7 -323,2

Total technical provisions 22,196.5 28,169.9 49.4 116.5 22,245.9 28,286.4

Amounts in €m

Amounts in €m
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Participating financial instruments

Subordinate liabilities

Liabilities arising from financial contracts issued by insurance companies
arising from contracts where the investment risk is borne by policyholders
arising from pension fund management
arising from other contracts

Deposits received from reinsurers

Financial items payable on insurance contracts

Debt securities issued

Payables to bank customers

Interbank payables

Other borrowings

Non-hedging derivatives

Hedging derivatives

Other financial liabilities

Total

DETAILS OF 
TECHNICAL INSURANCE ITEMS

NON-LIFE BUSINESS

Net premiums
a Premiums 
b Change in provision for premiums

Net charges relating to claims
a Amounts paid
b Change in provision for claims
c Change in recoveries
d Change in other technical provisions

LIFE BUSINESS

Net premiums

Net charges relating to claims
a Amounts paid
b Change in provision for payable amounts
c Change in mathematical provisions
d Change in technical provisions where the investment risk 

is borne by policyholders and provisions arising from pension fund management
e Change in other technical provisions

DETAILS OF 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Amounts in €m
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Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss Other financial liabilities Total carrying amount

Financial liabilities held Financial liabilities
for trading at fair value through profit or loss

31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009

1,580.1 1,612.5 1,580.1 1,612.5

1,271.8 1,987.3 43.2 52.3 1,315.0 2,039.6
1,184.8 1,912.1 1,184.8 1,912.1

87.1 75.2 87.1 75.2
43.2 52.3 43.2 52.3

179.0 178.3 179.0 178.3

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

2,665.8 2,707.6 2,665.8 2,707.6

5,443.8 5,121.7 5,443.8 5,121.7

1,268.8 421.6 1,268.8 421.6

71.0 34.3 71.0 34.3

129.8 82.8 129.8 82.8

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

200.7 117.2 1,271.8 1,987.3 11,180.8 10,093.9 12,653.3 12,198.4

31/12/2010 31/12/2009

Gross Reinsurers’ Net Gross Reinsurers’ Net 
amount share amount amount share amount

4,281.0 -123.2 4,157.8 4,319.4 -106.2 4,213.1
4,267.3 -128.1 4,139.2 4,285.4 -106.4 4,179.0

13.7 5.0 18.6 34.0 0.2 34.2

3,421.1 -41.9 3,379.2 3,720.6 -50.0 3,670.6
3,719.6 -69.2 3,650.4 3,641.3 -115.7 3,525.6
-243.7 26.1 -217.6 159.9 62.9 222.8

-54.5 1.2 -53.3 -81.9 2.8 -79.1
-0.2 0.0 -0.2 1.3 0.0 1.3

4,658.3 -18.0 4,640.3 5,224.6 -17.3 5,207.3

5,107.3 -13.8 5,093.4 5,816.5 -13.0 5,803.5
3,008.8 -20.3 2,988.5 3,259.0 -21.0 3,238.0

45.3 -1.0 44.3 -22.2 -0.4 -22.6
1,911.9 7.2 1,919.1 2,480.2 6.5 2,486.7

139.6 0.0 139.6 160.0 0.0 160.0
1.7 0.3 2.0 -60.6 1.9 -58.7
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Balance on investments 1,355.7 132.3 -76.5
a Arising from investment property 10.4 -3.0
b Arising from subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures 1.4 -0.4
c Arising from held-to-maturity investments 91.2
d Arising from loans and receivables 507.4 0.2
e Arising from available-for-sale financial assets 593.8 87.3 -6.1
f Arising from financial assets held for trading 21.4 16.2 -44.5
g Arising from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 142.0 16.9 -22.6

Balance on sundry receivables 1.8

Balance on cash and cash equivalents 0.5

Balance on financial liabilities -217.9 0.0 -57.6
a Arising from financial liabilities held for trading
b Arising from financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss -55.7
c Arising from financial liabilities -217.9 -1.8

Balance on payables -0.7

Total 1,139.4 132.4 -134.1

INVESTMENT INCOME 
AND CHARGES

Amounts in €m Interest Other Other
gains losses
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427.3 -150.8 1,688.0 226.3 0.0 -239.6 -81.6 -94.9 1,593.2 957.0
2.0 9.4 -1.8 -1.8 7.6 17.1

1.0 -0.8 -0.8 0.3 0.3
91.2 91.2 48.4

17.9 525.4 -52.7 -52.7 472.7 480.9
326.5 -70.5 930.9 41.3 -0.3 -80.9 -39.9 891.0 -257.1

32.4 -56.1 -30.6 13.1 -87.4 -74.3 -104.9 30.5
48.6 -24.1 160.7 172.0 -97.4 74.5 235.3 636.9

1.8 1.8 4.0

0.5 0.5 1.3

0.0 -1.8 -277.3 0.1 0.0 -124.5 0.0 -124.5 -401.8 -513.3
-1.5 -1.6 0.1 0.1 -1.5 -2.8

-55.7 -124.5 -124.5 -180.3 -335.7
-0.3 -220.0 -220.0 -174.8

-0.7 -0.7 -1.1

427.3 -152.6 1,412.4 226.4 0.0 -364.1 -81.6 -219.4 1,193.0 447.8

Realised Realised Total realised Unrealised gains Unrealised losses Total Total gains Total gains 
gains losses gains and Unrealised Reversal of Unrealised Impairment unrealised and losses and losses

losses capital gains impairment capital losses losses gains 31/12/2010 31/12/2009

losses and losses

DETAILS OF INSURANCE 
BUSINESS EXPENSES

Non-Life Business Life Business

31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009

Gross commissions and other acquisitions costs 816.2 820.9 92.5 80.0
a Acquisition commissions 552.4 548.1 46.4 35.9
b Other acquisition expenses 149.0 150.0 35.3 31.2
c Change in deferred acquisition expenses 3.6 11.4 1.6 3.1
d Renewal commissions 111.2 111.4 9.2 9.9

Commissions and profit-sharing 
received from reinsurers -30.3 -17.7 -2.5 -3.2

Investment management expenses 12.1 7.4 20.6 14.2

Other administrative expenses 127.8 121.2 42.8 36.3

Total 925.8 931.9 153.4 127.3

Amounts in €m
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31/12/2010 31/12/2009

Translation reserve

Gains or losses on available-for-sale financial assets -203.8 617.7

Gains or losses on cash flow hedges -12.7 -10.6

Gains or losses on hedges of net investment in foreign operations

Variation in equity of investees

Variation in intangible assets

Variation in property, plant and equipment

Gains or losses on non-current assets held for sale or disposal groups

Actuarial gains and losses and adjustments relating to defined benefit plans

Other items

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) -216.5 607.1

DETAILS OF OTHER CONSOLIDATED 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Amounts in €m Amounts allocated
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31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009

-74.1 683.6 7.3 -303.8 -270.5 997.5 129.0 -348.2 -666.4 -395.9

0.4 -12.3 -10.6 5.8 5.0 -22.2 -10.0

20.7 20.7

-73.7 683.6 7.3 -303.8 -282.8 986.9 134.9 -343.1 -668.0 -385.2

Transfers to the Other changes Total changes Taxation At
Income Statement
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Categories of financial assets Type of activity Number of Carrying amount
subject to reclassification reclassified assets at 31/12/2010

in 2010 at the on reclassified assets
reclassification date

From To Reclassified Reclassified
assets assetsup to 

in 2010 the end of 2010

Fin. assets 
at FV through P or L Loans and receivables debt securities 759.9

Fin. assets other financial 
at FV through P or L Loans and receivables instruments

Available for sale Loans and receivables debt securities 1,453.8

Available for sale Loans and receivables other financial
instruments

Fin. assets 
at FV through P or L Available for sale equity securities 2.7

Fin. assets 
at FV through P or L Available for sale debt securities 5.6

Fin. assets other financial 
at FV through P or L Available for sale instruments

Fin. assets Investments held 
at FV through P or L to maturity debt securities

Fin. assets Investments held other financial 
at FV through P or L to maturity instruments

Available for sale Investments held 
to maturity debt securities

Available for sale Investments held other financial 
to maturity instruments

Total 2,222.0

DETAILS OF RECLASSIFIED FINANCIAL ASSETS AND THEIR EFFECTS 
ON THE INCOME STATEMENT AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Amounts in €m



UNIPOL GRUPPO FINANZIARIO

2010 CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TABLES APPENDED TO THE NOTES
TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

149

Fair value Reclassified assets Reclassified assets up Reclassified assets Reclassified assets up 
at 31/12/2010 in 2010 to the end of 2010 in 2010 to the end of 2010

on reclassified assets

Reclassified Reclassified Profit or loss Profit or loss in Profit or loss Profit or loss in Profit or loss Profit or loss Profit or loss Profit or loss
assets assetsup to in income  comprehensive in income comprehensive that would that would that would  that would 

in 2010 the end of 2010 statement income statement income have been have been have been have been
recognised in recognised in recognised in recognised in 
profit or loss comprehensive profit or loss comprehensive

if there income if there if there income if there
had been no had been no had been no had been no

reclassification reclassification reclassification reclassification

690.9 0.3 -50.6

1,390.3 -75.4

2.7

5.8 -1.3 0.2

2,089.8 -1.0 -50.5 -75.4



UNIPOL GRUPPO FINANZIARIO

2010 CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TABLES APPENDED TO THE NOTES
TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

150

DETAILS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 
AND LIABILITIES BY LEVEL

Amounts in €m Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2010 31/12/2009

Available-for-sale financial assets 11,538.5 13,752.0 548.9 551.8 936.2 1,010.0 13,023.6 15,313.8

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

Financial assets held for trading 203.1 96.1 232.0 182.2 154.7 186.6 589.7 464.9

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 2,648.1 1,539.4 578.1 564.6 154.8 5,076.3 3,381.0 7,180.3 

Total 14,389.7 15,387.6 1,358.9 1,298.5 1,245.7 6,272.8 16,994.3 22,958.9

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss

Financial liabilities held for trading 8.7 172.0 100.4 20.1 16.7 200.7 117.2

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss 1,271.8 1,987.3 1,271.8 1,987.3

Total 8.7 0.0 172.0 100.4 1,291.9 2,004.0 1,472.6 2,104.5
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DETAILS OF CHANGES IN ASSETS 
AND LIABILITIES AT LEVEL 3

Financial assets

Available-for-sale  Financial assets Financial liabilities 
financial assets at fair value at fair value 

through profit or loss through profit or loss

Financial Financial Financial Financial
assets held assets liabilities held liabilities held 
for trading at fair value for trading at fair value 

through profit through profit
or loss or loss

Opening balance 1,010.0 186.6 5,076.3 16.7 1,987.3

Acquistions/Issues 74.9 24.4 25.9 1,022.2

Disposals/Repurchases -73.5 -3.7 -28.1 -87.4

Repayments -15.8 -3.2 -66.4

Profit or loss recognised in profit or loss 28.8 -17.7

Profit or loss recognised 
in other comprehensive income 

Transfers to level 3 31.1 0.0

Transfers to other levels -111.8 -31.4 -84.5

Other variations -7.5 -0.3 -4,768.3 3.3 -1,650.3

Closing balance 936.2 154.7 154.8 20.1 1,271.8

Amounts in €m
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STATEMENT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 IN ACCORDANCE WITH ARTICLE 81-ter OF CONSOB REGULATION 11971 OF 14 

MAY 1999 AND SUBSEQUENT AMENDMENTS AND ADDITIONS 

 

1. The undersigned Carlo Cimbri, in his capacity as Chief Executive Officer, and Maurizio Castellina, 

in his capacity as Manager in charge of financial reporting of Unipol Gruppo Finanziario S.p.A., 

hereby declare that, under the provisions of Article 154-bis, paras 3 and 4, of Legislative Decree 

58 of 24 February 1998, the administrative and accounting procedures applied in drawing up 

the 2010 consolidated financial statements 

• were appropriate for the type of business concerned and 

• were properly applied. 

2. The suitability of the administrative and accounting procedures for drawing up the consolidated 

financial statements at 31 December 2010 was assessed using a process laid down by Unipol 

Gruppo Finanziario S.p.A. that is based on the COSO Framework (Internal Control – Integrated 

Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Tradeway 

Commission), which is unanimously recognised as the standard for the implementation and 

assessment of internal control systems. 

3. They also represent that:  

3.1. the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2010: 

 are drawn up in accordance with IFRS endorsed by the European Union in accordance 

with EC Regulation 1606/2002 and with Legislative Decree 38/2005, Legislative Decree 

209/2005 and the relevant ISVAP rulings, regulations and circulars; 

 correspond to the information recorded in the books and accounting records; 

 give a true and fair view of the financial position and results of operations of the issuer 

and the consolidated companies; 

3.2. the management report includes a reliable analysis of the performance, the results and 

the situation of the issuer and all the consolidated companies, together with a description 

of the main risks and uncertainties to which they are exposed.   

 

Bologna, 24 March 2011 

 

The Chief Executive Officer 

        Carlo Cimbri 

(signed on the original) 

 

The Manager in charge of financial reporting 

Maurizio Castellina 

(signed on the original) 
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SUMMARY OF FEES FOR THE YEAR FOR SERVICES PROVIDED 
BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Type of services Provider Recipient Fees
of the service 

Legally required audit KPMG SpA UGF S.p.A. 157
Attestation services KPMG SpA UGF S.p.A. 3
Other services: limited review 
and issuing confort letter KPMG SpA UGF S.p.A. 1,101
Other services: advisory KPMG Advisory SpA UGF S.p.A. 23
Other services: advisory Nolan, Norton Italia Srl UGF S.p.A. 305

Total Unipol Gruppo Finanziario 1,589

Legally required audit KPMG SpA Subsidiaries 1,197
Attestation services KPMG SpA Subsidiaries 308
Other services: advisory KPMG Advisory SpA Subsidiaries 103

Total subsidiaries 1,608

Overall total 3,197

(ART. 149 DUODECIES 
OF THE CONSOB 
ISSUERS REGULATION)

Amounts in €K

The fees shown do not include
expenses charged by the company
providing the services nor any 
non-deducible VAT    
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STATUTORY 
AUDITORS’ REPORT 
ON THE 2010 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Dear Shareholders,

The Board of Statutory Auditors reports as follows on the Consolidated Financial Statements of
Unipol Gruppo Finanziario S.p.A. (UGF S.p.A.) as at and for the year ended 31 December 2010.

1. Basis of preparation
We have checked that the Consolidated Financial Statements have been drawn up in accordance
with Article 154-ter of Legislative Decree 58/1998 and of ISVAP Ruling 7 of 13 July 2007, as
amended by ISVAP Ruling 2784 of 8 March 2010, and they conform to the IFRS issued by the
IASB and endorsed by the European Union, along with the interpretations issued by IFRIC, in
accordance with the provisions of EC Regulation 1606/2002 in force on the date the financial
statements ended. The layout (statement of financial position, income statement, statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and other
tables) conforms to the provisions of ISVAP Ruling 7 of 13 July 2007, Part III, and subsequent
amendments, relating to the layout of the consolidated financial statements of insurance and
reinsurance companies that must adopt IFRS. The information requested in CONSOB
Communication DEM/6064293 of 28 July 2006 has also been provided.

The Board reports that, as a result of the scheduled sale by UGF of 51% of BNL Vita, the
consolidated figures are set out in accordance with IFRS 5, with no effect on consolidated equity
nor on the consolidated result. In particular, on the consolidated statement of financial position
the assets of the company to be sold are reclassified under a single item known as 'Non-current
assets held for sale or disposal groups’ (item 6.1 of the Assets) whilst the corresponding
liabilities are similarly reclassified under a single item known as 'Liabilities associated with
disposal groups’ (item 6.1 of the Liabilities). Both items are net of transactions within the group.
As the sale of BNL Vita did not come under ‘discontinued operations', since the UGF Group
continued to operate in bancassurance with the companies in the Arca Group, the income
statement items are set out in accordance with the normal rules of consolidation on a line-by-
line basis.

2. Scope of consolidation.
The variations in the scope of consolidation that took place during 2010 are shown below.
• On 22 June 2010 the Parent, UGF S.p.A., purchased 9,000,000 shares in Arca Vita SpA,

representing 60% of its share capital, for €269.8m, through the following transactions:
− acquisition from Banca Popolare di Sondrio of 3,750,000 shares in Arca Vita SpA or 25% of

the share capital for €93.3m; 
− acquisition from EM.RO Popolare SpA of 4,320,550 shares in Arca Vita SpA or 28.8% of the

share capital for €145.3m; 
− acquisition from Meliorbanca SpA of 929,450 shares in Arca Vita SpA or 6.2% of the share

capital for €31.2m. 
Also on 22 June 2010 Arca Vita SpA acquired from companies in the Banca Popolare dell’Emilia
Romagna Banking Group (BPER) and from Banca Popolare di Sondrio (BPSO), and on 30 June
2010 from other shareholders who had exercised their right to withdraw (Banca Popolare di
Marostica, Credito Siciliano and Banca Popolare di Sant’Angelo), a total of 2,295,918 shares in
the subsidiary Arca Assicurazioni SpA, or 31.56% of its share capital, for €46.8m. 



On 28 December 2010 Arca Vita purchased Banca Popolare del Lazio’s entire investment in Arca
Assicurazioni, 1.35% of its share capital, for €1.8m.
Therefore after the latter acquisition Arca Vita held 7,056,080 shares, or 96.99% of Arca
Assicurazioni’s share capital.
• On 4 August 2010 UGF Banca purchased 49.02% of the share capital of CampusCertosa Srl for

€2.5m. The company is registered in Milan, is a business consultancy dealing with
administration, management and corporate planning and has quota capital of €5,100,000.

• The meeting to incorporate Holcoa SpA was held on 30 July 2010. The aims and objectives of
the company, which is registered in Rome, are the construction of roads, motorways and
airport runways. It has share capital of €1,000,000, €250,000 of which is paid up. UGF
Merchant subscribed to 20% of the shares, totalling €0.2m, paying €50,000 when the company
was incorporated. The company had not started operating on 31 December 2010.

3. We have ascertained that the accounting policies and the measurement criteria were applied
correctly. In particular the consolidation policies and the rules on determining the scope of
consolidation and the date to which the figures apply were observed. 

4. We have ascertained that the Parent’s organisational and procedural structure was suitable for
managing the flows of information and the operations arising from consolidation.

5. We have ascertained that the Parent fulfilled CONSOB’s requirements relating to accounting
information on the performance of the various categories of business and the outlook. In
accordance with the provisions of Article 14 of Legislative Decree 39 of 27 January 2010 it is the
responsibility of the Independent Auditors to decide whether the Management Report is
consistent with the Consolidated Financial Statements. In this respect, we note that, in their
Report, the Independent Auditors confirmed the consistency of the Report with the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

6. The Parent UGF S.p.A. adhered to the Code of Conduct issued by Borsa Italiana S.p.A. and drew
up the ‘Annual report on the corporate governance and ownership structure'. The Board of
Statutory Auditors evaluated this Report to the best of its ability and had no observations to
make. Therefore we must point out that the new wording of Article 123-bis of Legislative Decree
58 of 24 February 1998 introduced by Legislative Decree 173 of 3 November 2008 provides that
the Independent Auditors express their opinion on whether some information in the ‘Report on
the corporate governance and ownership structure’ is consistent with the Financial Statements
and the Consolidated Financial Statements. This information, relating to corporate governance,
ownership and risk-management and control, may be included in the management report or be
the subject of a separate report to be published at the same time. The Parent UGF S.p.A.
decided to record this information in the ‘Annual report on the corporate governance and
ownership structure', which was approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2011. The
Board of Statutory Auditors reports that the Independent Auditors’ Report contained no
comments on the matter mentioned above. 

7. Your Directors report on the criteria for (and the results of) determining the recoverable amount
of goodwill with an indefinite useful life recognised in the Consolidated Financial Statements for
the insurance and banking companies (impairment test). Paragraph 5.8 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements shows the criteria used for the tests, and the results, which
revealed that there was no need to write down the goodwill recorded in the UGF Group’s CGUs at
31 December 2010. On the basis of the findings that the Board of Statutory Auditors has, to the
best of its ability, made on the above, both direct and by exchanging information with the
Independent Auditors, we have no observations to make in this Report.
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8. The Independent Auditors’ Reports on the subsidiaries’ financial statements comply with the
provisions of Legislative Decree 39 of 27 January 2010.

9. The Independent Auditors’ Report on the legally required audit of these Consolidated Financial
Statements, issued in accordance with Article 14 and Article 16 of Legislative Decree 39 of 
27 January 2010, is unqualified.

10. In accordance with Article 2497 et seq. of the Italian Civil Code none of the shareholders carries
out any management and coordination of the Parent, UGF S.p.A..

Bologna,  4 April 2011

For the Board of Statutory Auditors

CHAIRMAN
Roberto Chiusoli
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